This electronic thesis or dissertation has been downloaded from the King's Research Portal at https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/



Control of expression of glycosyltransferases involved in O-linked glycosylation in breast cancer.

Sproviero, Daisy

Awarding institution: King's College London

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

END USER LICENCE AGREEMENT



Unless another licence is stated on the immediately following page this work is licensed

under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International

licence. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

You are free to copy, distribute and transmit the work

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution: You must attribute the work in the manner specified by the author (but not in any way that suggests that they endorse you or your use of the work).
- Non Commercial: You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
- No Derivative Works You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you receive permission from the author. Your fair dealings and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact <u>librarypure@kcl.ac.uk</u> providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

This electronic theses or dissertation has been downloaded from the King's Research Portal at https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/ KING'S College LONDON

Title: Control of expression of glycosyltransferases involved in Olinked glycosylation in breast cancer.

Author: Daisy Sproviero

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or

information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

END USER LICENSE AGREEMENT

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Unported License. http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/

You are free to:

• Share: to copy, distribute and transmit the work

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution: You must attribute the work in the manner specified by the author (but not in any way that suggests that they endorse you or your use of the work).
- Non Commercial: You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
- No Derivative Works You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you receive permission from the author. Your fair dealings and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact <u>librarypure@kcl.ac.uk</u> providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Control of expression of glycosyltransferases involved in Olinked glycosylation in breast cancer.

PhD in Cancer Studies, 2013, Daisy Sproviero. King's College London

AIM

The aim of this PhD project was to investigate the control of expression of ST3Gal-I (and C2GnT1) in breast cancer and to determine the involvement of COX-2 in the control of their expression.

Abstract.

Aberrant glycosylation is a common phenotypic change observed in malignancy. Changes in mucin-type O-glycosylation in breast cancer can result in the expression of truncated core 1-based sialylated glycans rather than core 2-based glycans found in the normal gland. This is partly due to changes in the expression of glycosyltransferases. C2GnT1 expression, the glycosyltransferase that initiates branching in normal mammary epithelial cells, can be decreased in tumour cells while, in contrast, the expression of the sialyltransferase ST3Gal-I, which causes chain termination, increases in breast cancer.

When dendritic cells mature, prior to migration to lymph nodes, their O-glycosylation changes by decreasing C2GnT1 expression and increasing ST3Gal-I expression. This can be controlled by PGE2, the major product of COX-2. The project described in this thesis investigated the control by PGE2/COX-2 of ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 expression in breast carcinomas. Importantly, COX-2 is normally only expressed during inflammation but is found to be upregulated by many carcinomas including those of the breast.

In the breast cancer line T47D, mRNA expression of ST3Gal-I was induced by PGE2, resulting in increased sialyltransferase activity. Induction of COX-2 in the MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell line also resulted in increased expression of ST3Gal-I and increased sialylation of the ST3Gal-I substrate. This effect on sialylation could be reversed by the selective COX-2 inhibitor celecoxib. The use of siRNA to knock-down COX-2 and the over-expression of COX-2 in MDA-MD-231 confirmed the involvement of COX-2 in the upregulation of ST3Gal-I. Moreover, analysis of the expression of ST3Gal-I and COX-2 in 78 primary breast cancers showed a significant correlation between the two enzymes.

COX-2 expression in breast cancer has been associated with poor prognosis. Thus these results suggest the intriguing possibility that some of the malignant characteristics associated with COX-2 may be via the influence that COX-2 exerts on the glycosylation of tumour cells.

Abbreviations

Arg: Arginin

- Asn: Asparagine
- ALG: asparagine-linked glycosylation
- BSA: Bovine serum albumin
- CFG: Consortium of Functional Glycomics
- CHO: Chinese hamster ovary cell line
- CHO K1: Chinese hamster ovary cell line (parental line)
- CK5/6: cytokeratins 5/6.
- COX: cyclooxygenase
- DCs: dendritic cells
- DCIS: Ductal Carcinoma In Situ
- α -DG: α -dystroglycan
- DP: double positive-immature T cells
- EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
- EGF: epidermal growth factor
- ER α : estrogen receptor α
- ER: endoplasmatic reticulum
- Fuc: Fucose
- GAGs: glycosaminoglycans
- Gal: galactose
- GalCer: Galactosylceramide
- GalNac: N-acetylgalactosamine
- GI:gastrointestinal tract
- Glc:glucose
- GlcCer: Glucosylceramide
- GIcNAc: N-acetylglucosamine
- GPI: glycophosphatidylinositol
- HER-2: human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
- HIV-1: human-immunodeficiency-virus-l
- HMFG1: anti-MUC1 antibody
- HMFG2: anti-MUC1 antibody
- ICAM-1: intercellular adhesion molecule-1
- IgG:immunoglobulins G
- IL: interleukine
- LacCer: lactosylceramide

- LPS: Lipopolysaccharide
- MAA: Maackia amurensis lectin
- mAb:monoclonal antibody
- Man: mannose
- MCF7: Breast cancer cell line
- MHC: Major histocompatability complex
- MUC1: Mucin 1
- Neu5Ac: Sialic acid
- PF: paraformaldehyde
- PGE2:Prostaglandin E2
- Phe: Phenylalanine
- ppGalNAcT-peptidylGalNActransferase
- PNA: Peanut agglutinin lectin
- PMTs-O-mannosyltransferases
- PTM: posttranslational modifications
- OGT: O-GlcNAc transferase
- O-Ser/Thr: Serine/Threonine
- OST: oligosaccharyltransferase
- NSAIDs: non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
- Ser/Thr: Serine/Threonine
- SLex :SialylLewis x
- SM3: anti-MUC1 antibody
- SP: single positive-mature T cells
- T47D: Breast cancer cell line
- TAA: Tumour associated antigen
- TCR: T cell receptor
- Th1: Differentiated CD4 cell associated with acute inflammation and a CTL response
- Th17: Differentiated CD4 cell associated with chronic inflammation
- Th2: Differentiated CD4 cell associated with a humoral response.
- TNF- α : tumour necrosis factor- α ,
- TPA:12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate
- TSP-1: Thrombospondin-1
- TSS:transcription start site
- Xyl: xylose
- Val:Valine
- VEGF-C: vascular endothelial growth factor

Acknowledgement

This work is the result of a three year journey and there are a number of people I would like to thank for making it possible.

My very best thanks and gratitude go to my supervisor Dr Joy Burchell for believing in me, for giving me the great opportunity to work in her lab and for supporting me with enthusiasm and patience throughout it. I would like to thank Prof. Ann Ridley and Prof. Joyce Taylor Papadimitriou for the advice and ideas they always offered me.

Next on my list is Dr Sylvain Julien, who has giving me step by step guidance at the beginning of my project and who has shown interest in my progress from afar.

I would like to express my appreciation to Gianfranco Picco, Dr. Richard Beatson and Steven Catchpole for being great laboratory companions.

My thanks go also to a list of people who have helped me in the lab throughout my working period: Gursharn Hutchins Deanna Bueti Debbie Hall

Dr Rosalind Graham

Dr John Maher. Dr Scott Wilkie. Laura Chiapero-Stanke Dr Ana Parente Pereira Sjoukje Van Der Stegen

Dr. Emanuele de Rinaldis Dr. Brian Burford Dr. Elodie Noel Prof. Peter Parker Dr.Mark Harries Jill Williamson Dr Sandrine Sellam (R and D) Dr. Juan Hidalgo de Quintana (Qiagen) My sponsor, the "Breast Cancer Campaign" for having made this project possible with their economical support.

King's College London for hosting me and my dreams for the past three years.

My big thanks go to my family for always being there, for their love, support and for believing in me and in my dreams. A big thank you goes to my fiancé Emanuele for all his love, patience and sacrifices he made for me. My great appreciation and thanks go to my friend Eleni, who has been at my side, supporting me whenever I needed her. I would like to thank Sara for helping me and giving me moral support.

Last but not the least I would like to thank my two grandmothers who were the inspirational lines of my dedication to cancer research.

For everything I would like to thank God whose presence shed light to the darkest and hopeless moments of this journey and for always being there.

Contents

Table of contents

AIM	2
Abstract	2
Abbreviations	3
Acknowledgement	5
Contents	7
Chapter 1. Thesis introduction	12
1.1 Introduction	12
1.2 Breast Cancer	12
1.2.1 The epidemiology of breast cancer.	12
1.2.2 Histopathology of breast cancer and classification.	13
1.2.3 Molecular classification of breast cancer	15
1.3 Glycobiology in breast cancer	17
1.3.1 Glycolipids	19
1.3.2 N-glycosylation	21
1.3.3 O-glycosylation	24
a) O-linked GlcNAc	24
b) O-linked mannose	25
c) O-linked fucose.	27
d) O-linked glucose	29
e) O-linked galactose	30
1.4 Mucin type O-glycosylation	. 30
1.4.1 Initiation of mucin type O-glycosylation by peptidyl-GalNAc transferases.	31
1.4.2 Core structures	32
1.4.3 Elongation of the glycan chain.	34
1.4.4 Termination.	35
1.5 Change of mucin type O-glycosylation in breast cancer	38
1.5.1 Premature O-linked glycan chains observed in breast cancer.	39
1.5.2 Abnormal glycosylation on peripheral antigens	40
1.6 ST3Gal-I	41

1.6.1 Sialic acids and sialyltransferases	. 42
1.6.2 ST3Gal enzymes	. 43
1.6.3 ST3Gal-I gene and peptide structure	. 44
1.6.4 Promoter studies of ST3Gal-I	. 46
1.6.5 ST3Gal-I and SialyIT antigen in the immune system.	. 46
1.6.6 ST3Gal-I in different diseases	. 47
1.6.7 ST3Gal-I in breast cancer	. 48
1.7 One O-linked glycosylation mucin, MUC1, and antibodies to its glycosylated	
form	.49
1.8 Lectins	. 49
1.8.1 Lectins binding Core1/sialylated-Core1 and Neuraminidase.	. 51
1.8.2 Selectins	. 52
1.9 Principles of inflammation and role in cancer.	. 52
1.9.1 Cyclooxygenase and inflammation	. 54
1.9.2 COX-1 and COX-2: similarities and differences.	. 55
1.9.3 Prostaglandins and Cyclooxygenase	. 59
1.9.4 Prostanoid receptors	. 60
1.9.5 Synthetic Cyclooxygenase Inhibitors-Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory	. 62
1.9.6 Inducers of COX-2 expression.	. 65
1.9.7 TPA induction of COX-2.	. 66
1.10 COX-2 in breast cancer.	. 67
1.10.1 NSAIDs and breast cancer	. 69
1.11 Glycosylation and inflammation.	.71
1.12 PGE2 change the expression of C2GnT1 and ST3Gal-I.	.72
Chapter 2 Materials and Methods.	74
2.1 Material	.74
a) Cell culture.	.74
b) Tissue samples.	. 74
c) Antibodies	.75
d) Reagents	.75
e) Inhibitors	.75
2.2 Incubation of chemicals on cell lines culture	.75
2.3 Molecular Biology techniques: RNA	.75
2.3.1 Extraction of total RNA from cell lines.	.75
2.3.2 Extraction of total RNA from human tissue samples	. 76
2.3.3 Quality of RNA and measurement of nucleic acid concentration.	. 76

2.3.4 Reverse Transcription of RNA in cDNA	77
2.3.5 Amplification of ST3Gal-I, C2GnT1 and COX-2 sequence by Real Time	
quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction.	77
2.4.1 Western blotting	79
a) Preparation of lysate from cell culture	79
b) Casting the gel	80
c) SDS-electrophoresis.	80
d) Western blotting	80
e) Probing of Western blot membranes	81
2.4.2 Stripping for reprobing protocol.	82
2.4.3 Mouse Kidney Sample Preparation (as Positive Control for EP Receptor	
Antibodies).	82
2.4.4 Human Phospho-Kinase Array Protocol	83
2.4.5 Immunocytochemistry protocol	83
2.4.6 Flow Cytometric Analysis (FACs).	83
2.4.7 Propidium iodide treatment in FACs analysis.	84
2.4.8 Intracellular FACS staining.	84
2.4.9 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for PGE2 measurement	84
2.5 Molecular Biology techniques: DNA	85
2.5.1 Transformation of competent bacteria	85
2.5.2 Large scale preparation of DNA-Maxiprep.	86
2.5.3 Agarose gel electrophoresis	86
2.5.4 Restriction digest of DNA.	87
2.5.5 Transfection of COX-2 in MDA-MB-231	87
2.5.6 siRNA transfection protocol	88
2.6 ChIP Chromatin Immunoprecipitation.	89
2.6.1 ChIP qPCR	90
2.7 Statistical analysis	91
Appendix	92
Chapter 3. Breast cancer cell lines: Characterization for the expression	of
COX-2 and PGE2 receptors, and PGE2 secretion	. 95
3.1 Introduction.	95
3.2 Objectives	95
3.3 Results	96
3.3.1 Profile of mucin O-glycosylation core types on the six breast cancer cell lir	nes.
	96

3.3.2 COX-2 expression by the six breast cancer cell lines	97
3.3.3 Secretion of PGE2 by the breast cancer cell lines.	. 100
3.3.4 PGE2 receptor expression in breast cancer cells	. 100
3.4 Discussion	. 104
Chapter 4. PGE2 and TPA can trigger ST3Gal-I expression	106
4.1 Introduction	. 106
4.2 Objectives.	. 106
4.3 Results.	. 107
4.3.1 Choice of a gene for normalization of real-time RT-PCR data for the brea	st
cancer cell lines	. 107
4.3.2 Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) enhances ST3Gal-I expression and its product	
lpha2,3 sialyl-Core1 in T47D cell line	. 107
4.3.3 TPA enhances ST3Gal-I expression and its product a2,3 sialyl-Core1 in	
MDA-MB-231 cell line	. 111
4.4 Discussion	. 116
Chapter 5. Induction of ST3Gal-I in MDA-MB-231 depends on COX-2	. 118
5.1 Introduction	. 118
5.2 Objectives.	. 118
5.3 Results.	. 119
5.3.1 Role of COX-2 inhibitors after TPA induction of ST3Gal-I in	
MDA-MB-231	.119
5.3.2 The effect of Celecoxib on the product of ST3Gal-I.	. 122
5.3.3 Knock down of COX-2 in MDA-MB-231 and determination of ST3Gal-I ml	RNA
expression	. 123
a) Characterization of the COX-2 antibody.	. 123
b) Assessment of COX-2 mRNA knock down in MDA-MB-231	. 124
c) Investigation of ST3Gal-I mRNA after COX-2 knock down in MDA-MB-231	. 126
5.3.4 Transfection of COX-2 in MDA-MB-231 and determination of ST3Gal-I m	RNA
expression	. 127
a)Determination of COX-2 plasmid authenticity.	. 127
b) Transfection of COX-2 for 72 hours induced ST3Gal-I expression in	
MDA-MB-231	. 128
5.3.5 Correlation of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I in vivo in breast cancers	. 128
5.4 Discussion	. 131
Chapter 6. PKC can control ST3Gal-I expression	136
6.1 Introduction	. 136

List of publications
Chapter 8. Bibliography152
Chapter 7. Summary of results and conclusion
6.4 Discussion14
after TPA treatment14
6.3.5 Histone marks H3K4Me3 and H3K4Me2 change on ST3Gal-I promoter regio
6.3.4 Involvement of PKC in ST3Gal-I expression14
6.3.3 CREB involvement on ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 activation of transcription 14
6.3.2 ERK is not involved in ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 activation of transcription13
6.3.1 Phosphorylation assay after TPA treatment in MDA-MB-231
6.3 Results
6.2 Objectives

Chapter 1. Thesis introduction

1.1 Introduction.

ST3Gal-I is a glycosyltransferase overexpressed in breast cancer that is involved in tumorigenesis (Burchell et al.1999, Picco et al. 2010). This chapter will firstly describe breast cancer and the role of glycosylation in this disease, in which the different classes of glycans will be discussed with a particular focus on O-glycans and ST3Gal-I structure and function.

COX-2 is the target of NSAIDs (anti-inflammatory non steroidal drugs) (Minghetti, 2004) and its mechanism and regulation in inflammation and cancer will be discussed. The final section will show glycosylation involvement in inflammation and possible interactions between ST3Gal-I and COX-2.

1.2 Breast Cancer.

1.2.1 The epidemiology of breast cancer.

Breast cancer is the most common form of malignant disease among women in Western countries, and it is second to lung cancer as the cause of cancer death. The frequency of this disease varies widely between countries and is about five times higher in North America than in Japan. Wide risk variations occur also within some countries. For example, within Italy the risk in the North is twice than the South and in Israel, Jews have a risk of breast cancer about four times higher than non-Jews. The increasing rates of disease in "low risk countries" (especially in Asia and in Africa) and the changing rates of disease for migrants indicate that environmental factors, such as diets with a high intake of meat, cheese and milk, lack of physical activity, exposure to mutagens (radiations) and obesity, have a strong influence on the aetiology of breast cancer. Other factors that influence the risk of breast cancer include age at menarche and menopause, age at first live birth, and other variables related to pregnancy and lactation. These risk factors suggest that hormones play an important role in the aetiology of breast cancer. This hypothesis can be demonstrated by studies on hormone levels and on the modest increase of breast cancer risk associated with longterm use of hormone replacement therapy (Beral, 2003).

According to a report published in the BMJ, breast cancer mortality has dropped over the past two decades in many European countries. This study was carried out on breast cancer mortality for all women and by age group (<50, 50-69, and \geq 70 years) and it was found that England and Wales had the second greatest reduction in mortality. However in central European countries mortality has not declined but showed an increase during the same period (Autier et al. 2010).

1.2.2 Histopathology of breast cancer and classification.

The two major classifications of breast cancer are ductal and lobular carcinoma. Traditionally it was thought that ductal carcinoma starts in the ducts, that move milk from the lobules to the nipple, and lobular carcinoma starts in lobules, that produce milk (Pubmed Health- http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/PMH0001911/).

Breast cancer can also be classified as carcinoma in situ and invasive cancer. Carcinoma in situ is defined as being confined within an intact basement membrane in which the lumen can become filled with cancer cells. Carcinoma in situ may become invasive, but the transition between these two stages is not well understood (Cichon et al. 2010). An extensive effort is being placed on defining markers that could identify carcinoma in situ that develops into invasive carcinoma.

In invasive ductal carcinoma the basement membrane is ruptured and the tumour cells invade the stroma. In advanced breast carcinoma, cancer cells invade the dense and fibrous stroma and the sorrounding area (see figure 1.1) (Kalluri et al. 2006). Malignant cells can metastasize initially through the lymph nodes or directly via the bloodstream. Metastatic breast cancer may affect almost any organ in the body, especially lungs, liver, bone, brain, and skin. There are about 20 histological examples of invasive breast carcinoma (including medullary type, mucinous carcinoma, papillary carcinoma, tubular carcinoma, adenoid cystic carcinoma, secretory carcinoma, inflammatory carcinoma), but invasive ductal (IDCs) and invasive lobular carcinomas (ILCs) account for 90% of all breast tumours (Bertucci et al. 2009).

Breast cancer is also classified by stage and grade. Staging refers to the severity of the cancer, basing this evaluation on three parameters: the extent of the tumor (T), the extent of spread to the lymph nodes (N), and the presence of distant metastasis (M). This system is called TNM, acronym for tumour, nodes and metastasis. A number is added to each letter to indicate the size or extent of the primary tumor and the extent of

cancer spread. Most tumors can be described as stage 0, stage I, stage II, stage III, or stage IV. This system has been accepted by the International Union Against Cancer (UICC) and the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC). For example, breast cancer classified as T3 N2 M0 refers to a large tumor that has spread outside the breast to nearby lymph nodes but not to other parts of the body.



Figure 1.1 Different stages of mammary ductal carcinoma progression (Kalluri et al. 2006 Nature Reviews Cancer 6, 392-401).

Tumor grade is a system to classify cancer cells in terms of differentiation and how abnormal appearance of the cells. This evaluation can be done at the microscope by a pathologist. There are four degrees of severity: Grades 1 (well differentiated), 2 (moderately differentiated), 3, and 4 (undifferentiated tend to grow rapidly and spread faster). The Grading system is different for each type of cancer (American Joint Committee on Cancer, 2002).

Breast cancers can also be classified by their estrogen receptor status (ER α) as being ER negative or ER positive.

1.2.3 Molecular classification of breast cancer.

In 2001 Sorlie & Perou reported a study of gene expression on dissected human breast cancers. This study provided a new classification of tumours based on their gene expression which was also associated with prognosis. A total of 85 cDNA microarray experiments, representing 78 cancers, 3 fibroadenomas, and 4 normal breast tissues, were analyzed by hierarchical clustering using a 476 cDNA intrinsic clone set. From this paper and a subsequent paper from the same group (Sorlie et al. 2003), five main subgroups of breast cancer were identified (see figure 1.2). These consist of:

- 1. Luminal A (ER+ve and PR+ve, HER-2-ve, low Ki67)
- 2. Lumimal B (ER+ve, some can be HER-2 positive, high Ki67)
- 3. HER-2 positive (ER-ve, PR-ve HER-2+ve)
- 4. Basal
- 5. Normal like



Figure 1.2 Gene expression patterns of 85 experimental samples analyzed by hierarchical clustering. The tumour specimens were divided into five subtypes based on differences in gene expression (dark blue: luminal subtype A, light blue: luminal subtype B, purple: ERBB2, red: basal-like, green: normal breast like) (Sorlie et al. 2003, Proc Natl Acad Sci USA;100(14):8418-23.)

The five molecular subsets of breast cancer defined by gene expression profiling are shown in figure 1.2 (Sorlie et al 2003).

Surrogate immunohistochemical markers such as the expression of estrogen receptor α (ER α), progesterone receptor (PR), HER2, EGFR and cytokeratins 5/6 (CK5/6), can be used to classify tumours (Blows et al. 2010, Ali et al. 2011). Using these markers, breast cancers have been classified into molecular subtypes and defined as luminal A (ER or PgR positive, HER2 negative, EGFR negative, cytokeratins 5/6 negative); luminal B (ER positive or PR positive, HER2 negative or positive, CK5/6 positive or

EGFR positive), basal phenotype (ER negative and PR negative, HER2 negative, CK5/6 positive or EGFR positive) or triple negative (ER negative, PgR negative, HER2 negative).

These subtypes have distinctive behavioural characteristics and responses to therapy. Thus, the molecular classifications of breast cancer can be used for prognostic and predictive evaluation. Statistically, patients with the ER positive phenotype receiving endocrine therapy have the best survival, although resistance to therapy develops in many patients. Triple negative breast cancer patients (ER negative, PR negative, HER-2 negative) have a poor prognosis and specific targeted therapy is not available. Triple negative tumours may or may not also be basal.



Figure 1.3 Kaplan–Meier plot of disease-specific survival (truncated at 15 years) for ten subgroups in the discovery cohort. Each cluster is indicated with a different colour. The number of samples at risk is indicated as well as the total number of deaths (in brackets). The two groups with worst disease specific survival probability are marked with an arrow (Curtis et al. 2012, *Nature*; **486**, 346–352).

Recently, within this broader classification of subtypes, other molecular features, which relate to prognosis, have been identified (Curtis et al. 2012). Using a large cohort of 2,000 breast tumours, ten subgroups were identified with distinct clinical outcomes (see figure 1.3). Importantly within this study a cohort of ER positive luminal epithelial cancers have been identified (on the basis of acquired somatic copy number aberrations and gene expression profiling) as having a very bad outcome (Curtis et al. 2012) unexpected for ER positive breast cancer patients. This group is represented by the green line (Intclust 2) in figure 1.3. From figure 1.3 Intclust 5 (brown line) seems to have a worse disease specific survival probability compared to intclust2 (green line). Intclust 5 is composed of ERBB2 enriched and luminal cases. These patients were

enrolled before the general availability of Trastuzumab and when treated with this drug the disease survival increased.

1.3 Glycobiology in breast cancer.

Breast cancer can be affected by changes in posttranslational modifications (PTM) of proteins that occur during neoplastic transformation. As well as being important for biomarker detection, understanding PTM changes that drive or contribute to oncogenic progression will allow development of agents that inhibit these specific PTMs (Krueger et al. 2006).

Glycosylation is one of the most common and important modification of proteins and lipids. It is defined as the reaction during which saccharide units are covalently attached to the target structures (proteins or lipids) and then, sequentially elongated and branched. Changes in the composition of glycans, added to glycoproteins and glycolipids, are common events in malignancy (Hakomori et al. 2002) and these changes can affect the course of the disease (see figure 1.4). The change in glycosylation can affect cell-cell interaction and signaling, adhesion properties (important for invasion of the tumour and metastasis) and, very importantly, tumour interaction with the immune system (Ohtsubo et al. 2006). These changes have been reported in numerous studies (Burchell et al. 2001; Hakomori et al. 2002; Ohtsubo et al. 2006;). The changes of glycosylation in malignancy can result in a) the appearance of novel structures, b) the persistence of incomplete or truncated structures, c) the accumulation of precursors, and d) loss of expression or excessive expression of certain structures. Changes in the first few branches in the normal biosynthesis can affect the relative amount of one class of structures, causing the dominance of another. According to Potapenko et al., glycans are classified in four main groups that differ in their target attachment and the type of saccharides comprising the mature structure: Nlinked O-linked glycans, glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) (including glycans, glycosphingolipids (GSLs) and glycophosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchors) and polysaccharides (glycans without lipid or protein backbone) (Potapenko et al. 2010). The N-linked, O-linked glycans and GAGs, are attached to polypeptide chains (but also to lipids). The N-linked glycans are considered to be a co-translational modification. Glycosphingolipids are considered the majority of glycolipids. Glycosylation pathways have been better defined in the last decades, partly due to the cloning of the enzymes involved (glycosyltransferases) (Furukawa et al. 2001; Marth, 1996). These enzymes

are type II transmembrane proteins with a short cytoplasmic tail, a transmembrane domain and a catalytic domain facing into the Golgi lumen. There are more than 100 glycosyltransferases involved in all processes and they are grouped into families, based on the type of sugar they transfer (galactosyltransferases, sialyltransferases, fucosyltransferases, N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase) (Paulson et al. 1989). The number in the nomenclature of the glycosyltransferases represents the linkage, the named sugar represents the acceptor substrate sugar.



Figure 1.4 Glycosylation mechanism in carcinogenesis. This figure illustrates six important processes of glycosylation that influence the metastasis of carcinoma cells (Potapenko et al. 2010)

This thesis focuses on the change of expression of glycosyltransferases in O-linked glycosylation seen in breast cancer. The following sections will explain briefly glycosphingolipids, N-glycans and O-glycans in physiological conditions. Then mucin type O-linked glycosylation and its changes in cancer will be described in more detail. The Consortium for Functional Glycomics (CFG) has established a symbol system with coloured geometric shape, for each sugar, illustrated in figure 1.5. In the next figures these symbols will be used.



Figure 1.5 Monosaccharide symbols (Varki et al. 2009, Proteomics 2009, 9, 5398–5399) and examples of how the monosaccharides are assembled together in N- and O-linked glycosylation.

1.3.1 Glycolipids.

A glycolipid consists of one or more monosaccharide residues covalently linked to a hydrophobic moiety, such as an acylglycerol, a sphingoid or a prenyl phosphate. In mammals the majority of glycolipids are glycosphingolipids (GSLs), a large and widely varying family of amphipathic lipids, based on the ceramide N-acylsphingoid lipid moiety (Kolter et al. 2002). Glycosphingolipids are present in cellular membranes (typically in the plasma membrane) and they play a role in organizing role in the cell membrane, in cell–cell recognition, cell–matrix interactions, and cell surface receptor and messaging, in the association with certain cell membrane receptors (eg. the tyrosine phosphorylation of the EGF receptor is specifically down-regulated by adding the ganglioside GM3) (Varki et al. 2009).

Glycosphingolipid synthesis starts on the cytosolic face of the ER with the formation of ceramide (that consists of sphingosine-2-amino-4-octadecene-1,3-diol- and a fatty acid). Ceramide then crosses the endoplasmatic reticulum (ER) membrane and causes two possible reactions that lead to the formation of the core of all mammalian GSLs: Galactosylceramide (GalCer) and Glucosylceramide (GlcCer). The enzymes involved in these reactions are ceramide glucosyltransferases (Merrill et al. 2002). The GalCer undergoes few reactions (like sulphation that generates sulphatides) and its extention is limited. Since GalCer is expressed in specific cell types, like oligodendrocytes, Schwann cells, epithelial cells of renal tubules and the gastrointestinal tract, it has been used as a marker for oligodendrocyte differentiation (Satoh et al. 1996).

Table 1.1 Nomenclature for classification of glycosphingolipids based on Glc-Cer. The abbreviations and the partial structure with the sugar position is illustrated in the table (Merrill and Sandhoff, 2002).

Nomenclature for classification of glycosphingolipids			
Root name	Abbreviation	Structure	
Ganglio	Gg	Gal BI-3GalNac BI-4Gal BI-4Glc BI-1'Cer	
Lacto	Lc	Gal	
Neolacto	nLc	Galβ1-4GlcNacβ1-3Galβ1-4Glcβ1-1'Cer	
Globo	Gb	GalNacβ1-3Galα1-4Galβ1-4Glcβ1-1'Cer	
T	:01	CalNea01 2Calut 2C-101 4Cl-01 1/C	

On the other hand, the next step for GlcCer is the formation of lactosylceramide (LacCer) by adding a β 4-linked galactose residue. Unlike GalCer-derived GSLs, hundreds of structures can be generated from the GlcCer core including: 1) neolactoseries and lactoseries, that begin with the addition of a β 1,3-GlcNAc or β 1,4-GlcNAc respectively 2) globoseries that are distinguished by the addition of an α 1,4-Gal; 3) gangliosides, glycolipids that are characterized by one (GM1, GM2, GM3), two (GD1a, GD1b, GD2, GD3), three (GT1b) or four (GQ1) sialic acid residues (Yu et al. 2011) (figure 1.6).

The class of gangliosides is the most common among glycosphingolipids. The name ganglioside was first applied by Ernst Klenk in 1942 to lipids isolated from ganglion cells of brain (Yamakawa et al.1996) and gangliosides are indeed mainly present in the central nervous system. All gangliosides (with an exception for GM4) are synthesized from LacCer and continue down through two pathways: the asialo pathway (also called the o-pathway) through the addition of a GalNAc residue, or the "ganglioside proper" pathway (a-, b-, and c- pathways as shown in figure 1.6) through the addition of one or more sialic acid residues (Maccioni et al. 1999). The addition of the sialic acids is performed by sialyltransferases. The first sialyltransferase that synthesizes the GM3 structure is the ST3GAL5, by addition of a α 3-sialic acid to LacCer. The sialvltransferase ST8SIA1 can add one or two sialic acid to form GD3 and GT3. Further. an addition of a GalNAc to LacCer, GM3, GD3 and GT3 results in the formation of a GA2, GM2, GD2 or GT2 structures. The transferase catalyzing this step is coded by B4GALNT1 ((1) in figure 1.6). Then a Galactose is added by B3GALT4 creating GA1, GM1, GD1b and GT1c. The terminal galactose residues of GA1, GM1, GD1b and GT1c can be sialylated by transferases ST3GAL1/-2 (number 3 in figure 1.6) (resulting in cisGM1, GD1a and GT1b structures) and ST6GALNAC6 (creating GD1a, GT1a and GQ1ba) in all but the c-series.

Other sialyltransferases are involved in the formation of cis-GD1 like ST6GALNAC3 and ST6GALNAC5, but they are less specific (Varki et al. 2009). ST6GALNAC5 has been associated with brain metastasis in breast cancer patients as the product of this sialyltransferase enhances the adhesion of cancer cells to brain endothelial cells and their passage through the blood–brain barrier (Bos et al. 2009).

Alterations of gangliosides structures have been found in different diseases like Alzheimer's disease, Guillain-Barre syndrome but also in aggressive angiogenesis to support cancer growth. This suggests that gangliosides are important targets for prevention and cure of some diseases (Yu et al. 2011).



Figure 1.6 Ganglio-series glycosphingolipid synthesis pathway. The sialylltranferases involved in the pathway are indicated with numbers, because the same enzymes catalyze several steps of the pathway (modified from Varki et al. 2009, Essentials of Glycobiology-Potapenko et al. 2010).

1.3.2 N-Glycosylation.

N-glycans are a class of glycans covalently attached to asparagine with the consensus sequence of Asn-X-Ser/Thr by the N-glycosidic bond, GlcNAc β 1-Asn. The N-glycans

are classified in three subfamilies that share the main core sugar sequence, as shown in figure 1.5, but differ in the chain elongation: (1) oligomannose type, in which only mannose residues are attached to the core; (2) complex type, in which "antennae", initiated by N-acetylglucosaminyltransferases (GlcNAcTs), are attached to the core; and (3) hybrid type, in which, on one side, mannose residues are attached to the Man α 1–6 arm of the core and, on the other side, one or two antennae are on the Man α 1–3 arm (Varki et al. 2009).

N-Glycans are involved in the proper folding of newly synthesized polypeptides in the ER and in the maintenance of protein solubility and conformation. If some proteins are incorrectly glycosylated, they fail to fold properly and they are consigned to degradation in proteasomes (Varki et al. 2009).

The biosynthesis of N-glycans precursor is initiated by a family of transferases, encoded by the ALG (asparagine-linked glycosylation) gene family. The biosynthesis of N-glycans begins in the ER with the transfer of GlcNAc-P from UDP-GlcNAc by the enzyme GlcNAc-1-phosphotransferase to the lipid-like precursor dolichol phosphate (Dol-P). This reaction generates dolichol pyrophosphate N-acetylglucosamine (Dol-P-P-GlcNAc). A second N-acetylglucosamine is added and the enzyme responsible for transferring the second GlcNAc saccharide to the GlcNAc-P-P-Dol is ALG14. Consequentially, five mannose saccharides, four mannoses and three glucoses are added to create the mature N-glycan precursor in the cytosol. Each step is catalyzed by a different ALG (asparagine-linked glycosylation): for instance ALG3 is a transferase that attaches the second α 1,3 mannose to the glycan, and ALG8 and ALG10 add two terminal glucose residues to the precursor, prior to its attachment to a polypeptide. The precursor translocates across the ER membrane bilayer, so that the glycan becomes exposed to the lumen of the ER. At this stage, the precursor is transferred to a protein. The complex that transfers the 14-sugar glycan is called oligosaccharyltransferase (OST). At this point a sequential removal of glucose and mannose by ER glucosidase and mannosidase trims the glycan to Man5GlcNAc2 that can be branched by the Mgat family of GlcNAc-transferases. Up to four branches can be added to this glycan by Mgat1, -2, -4 and 5. Cores of N-glycans may be modified with other sugar moieties along their passage through the Golgi. The main core modification of the N-glycan in mammals is the α 1,6 fucosylation of the GlcNAc residue bound to asparagine (Varki et al. 2009).

N-glycosylation changes occur in cancer. One of the most common interesting changes in malignancy affects Mgat5, mannosyl (α -1,6-glycoprotein- β -1,6-N-acetylglucosaminyl-transferase). The growth of mammary tumours and metastases in mice, deficient in Mgat5, crossed with polyomavirus middle T oncogene, were considerably less in the $Mgat5^{-/-}$ mice than in the controls expressing Mgat5 (Granovsky et al. 2000). The β 1,6 branch, initiated by the Mgat5 transferase, may be elongated by a polylactosamine chain. Increase of expression of Mgat5 causes accumulation of polylactosamine chains (potentially recognized by galectins-see section 1.8) with consequential polyfucosylation and sialyl Lewis^x production (potentially recognized by the selectins-see section 1.8.2 selectins). Galectins are a family of lectins that bind β galactosides and affect a variety of physiological and pathological processes, including cancer (Yang et al. 2008). The *β*1,6 branching by Mgat5 creates a different conformation from the normal outer antennae of N-glycans and can cause changes in the adhesive property and in the motility of a cancer cell (Saito et al. 1994). For instance, it was shown that exogenous galectin-3, added to Mgat5^{+/+} epithelial mammary tumor cells, isolated from Mgat5-deficient mice crossed with mice expressing the PyMT oncogene cells, recruits conformationally active a5_β1-integrin to fibrillar adhesions, increases F-actin turnover and activates FAK and PI3K (Lagana et al. 2006).

Epidermal growth factor (EGFR) and transforming growth factor-b (TbR) receptors present β 1,6 branching by Mgat5, which, in concert with the galectin family does not allow the endocytosis of these receptors and thus facilitate their retention at the cell surface (Partridge et al., 2004). So, Mgat5 can control cytokine signaling involving these receptors, which are key factors in epithelial–mesenchymal transition (Partridge et al., 2004).

The change in expression of the glycosyltransferase GlcNAcT-III has been reported in certain tumors. GlcNAcT-III (coded by MGAT3 gene) is responsible for addition of a bisecting branch that competitively inhibits Mgat5 (Gu et al. 2004). Homotypic cadherin adhesion is influenced by Mgat3 glycosylation (lijima et al. 2006). The glycosylated E-cadherin enhanced cell-cell aggregation and, in this way, it suppresses metastasis into melanoma cells (Yoshimura et al. 1996). Mgat3 transferase, in most cases, is correlated to inhibition of motility and reduction in malignancy (Bhaumik et al., 1998). The bisecting branch, created by Mgat5 and Mgat3, is involved in a more elaborate network of interactions that is still not fully understood.Potapenko et al. showed through expression data that the expression of other enzymes, like MGAT2, MGAT4A, B4GALT3 involved in the anabolic steps and MAN2A1 (involved in the catabolic steps), is changed in breast cancer.

1.3.3 O-glycosylation.

In contrast to the N-glycans, which are synthesized by en-bloc transfer of a highmannose-type oligosaccharide to the asparagines residues within the polypeptide, Oglycans are linked to the hydroxyl groups of serines and threonines of a protein and the sugars are added individually and sequentially. Other than in O-GlcNAc and O-Man type O-linked glycosylation, the addition of each sugar is catalyzed by the action of specific resident Golgi glycosyltransferases (Burchell et al. 2001). The various type of O-glycosylation are listed in table 1.2.

<i>O-</i> Glycan Type	Structure of Linkage	Glycoprotein Type
O-linked GlcNAc	GlcNAc-β1–Ser/Thr	nuclear and cytoplasmic
O-linked mannose	Neu5Ac- α 2–3Gal- β 1–4GlcNAc- β 1–2Man- α 1–Ser/Thr	α-dystroglycan
O-linked fucose	Neu5Ac-α2–6Gal-β1–4GlcNAc-β1–3±Fuc-α1- Ser/Thr	EGF domains; this particular O-fucosylation is critical in the function of the receptor protein Notch
O-linked glucose	Xyl-α1–3Xyl-α1–3±Glc-β1–Ser	EGF domains
O-linked galactose	Glc-α1–2±Gal-β1-O–Lys	collagens
mucin- type	(R)-GalNAc-α1–Ser/Thr	plasma membrane and secreted

Table 1.2 List of O-glycans. Sugar composition and examples of O-glycosylated proteins (http://themedicalbiochemistrypage.org/glycoproteins.php#oglycans).

a) O-linked GlcNAc.

O-GlcNAcylation is an abundant posttranslational modification and consists of the incorporation of an O-linked β -N-acetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc) linked to the hydroxyl group of a serine or threonine residue. O-GlcNAcylation is found on numerous cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins and in contrast to other O-glycosylation, the modification consists of a single O-linked-N-acetylglucosamine (Holt et al. 1986). The enzyme involved in the addition of O-GlcNAc is an O-GlcNAc transferase (OGT), while the enzyme that catalizes its removal is called D-N-acetylglucosaminidase (O-GlcNAcase). O-GlcNAc is dynamic and its half life is very short. It has been observed that O-GlcNAc-containing proteins are phosphoproteins (Wells et al. 2001) and mass spectrometry experiments by Hu et al. have revealed that O-GlcNAc sites can interact

with phosphorylation-mediated signalling (Hu et al. 2010). The difference is that phosphorylation is catalyzed by hundreds of distinct kinases (Venter et al. 2001), while there is only one transferase (OGT) and the beta-D-N-acetylglucosaminidase (OGA) encoded by single highly conserved genes (Shafi et al. 2000). Wells et al. supported the idea that O-GlcNAc transferase and the serine/threonine phosphatases PP1 β and PP1 γ , enzymes that remove phosphate from proteins, form stable and active complexes (Wells et al. 2001).

GlcNAcylation is not only found in normal biological function, but also in some diseases like neurologic disorders and diabetes. In diabetes many proteins involved in the phosphoinositide-3-kinase/AKT signaling cascade, are GlcNAcylated and the modification induces insulin resistance (Issad et al. 2010). A decrease in O-GlcNAcylation and consequent hyperphosphorylation of tau at the majority of the phosphorylation sites has been observed In patients with Alzheimer's disease. This causes tau to aggregate into the paired helical filaments that constitute the visible neurofibrillary tangles, characteristic of the disease. In an animal model of starved mice with Alzheimer's disease, it was seen that the decrease of tau O-GlcNAcylation was probably induced by deficient brain glucose uptake metabolism (Liu et al. 2004).

GlcNAcylated proteins are also involved in cancer. Tumor-associated proteins, like c-Myc, are GlcNAcylated on Thr58, which competitively inhibits phosphorylation. This event suppresses the proteasome-mediated degradation of c-Myc (Chou et al. 1995). The p53 protein (tumor suppressor protein important for the prevention of cancer formation) is GlcNAcylated at Ser149 and this blocks ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis and stabilizes p53 (Yang et al. 2006). A report from Gu et al. showed that GlcNAcylation was significantly enhanced in metastatic lymph nodes of breast cancer compared to their corresponding primary tumor tissues. These results also suggest that GlcNAcylation might be a potential target for the diagnosis and therapy of breast cancer (Gu et al. 2010).

b) O-linked mannose.

The incorporation of mannose to Ser and/or Thr of a protein is known as O-mannosylat ion. O- α -Man was identified in yeast in the 1960s. Today it is known that most of the proteins in yeasts and fungi are substantially O- mannosylated (de Groot et al. 2005; Strahl-Bolsinger et al. 1999). Furthermore in mammals, O-mannosylation is found on proteins like α -dystroglycan (α -DG) from nerves and muscles (see figure 1.7) (Chiba et al. 1997; Sasaki et al. 1998), chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (Finne et al.1979), and, most recently, on neuron-specific protein tyrosine phosphatase, receptor type, zeta 1 (PTPRZ1, also known as RPTPβ) (Abbott et al. 2008). A GDP-Mannose is transferred to dolichol-phosphate forming Dol-P-Man (Sharma et al. 1974) by a family of Omannosyltransferases (PMTs). An α -D-mannosidic linkage is formed through invertion of the anomeric configuration of the mannose through a putative flippase machinery. The PMT family is formed by three subfamilies PMT1, PMT2, and PMT4 (Girrbach et al. 2000). Coexpression of the POMT1 and POMT2 proteins and the formation of their complex are crucial for mannosyltransferase activity (Manya et al. 2004). Differently from most other O-glycosylation reactions (that take place exclusively in the Golgi apparatus), O-mannosylation occurs in the ER (Haselbeck et al. 1983). After mannosylation of the target protein, further extension of the O-linked mannose residue takes place in the Golgi apparatus. The vast majority of mammalian O-mannosyl glycans represent variations of the tetrasaccharide Neu5Ac α 2–3Gal β 1–4GlcNAc β 1– 2Manα1–Ser/Thr with different lengths (e.g., asialo) and variable fucose (α1,3-linked to GlcNAc) contents. The presence of mannose in the muscles and nerves and its role in α -dystroglycanopathies are not known. Tran et al. published a few months ago that the presence and specific location of O-Man can determine the site of O-GalNAc addition on α -DG, so the absence of proper O-mannosylation can alter the O-GalNAc addition. This plays a central role in the α -dystroglycanopathies (Tran et al. 2012).



Figure 1.7 Glycosylation of α -dystroglycan. Sequential O-glycosylation pathway of α -dystroglycan within the cellular organelles.

The most-studied O-mannosylated protein in humans is α -DG, that is an essential component of the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex (DGC) in skeletal muscles. Most

defects in α -DG are associated with impaired O-mannosylation. Mutations in six glycosyltransferase genes, including the human POMT1, POMT2, and POMGnT1, have been identified to cause various α -dystroglycanopathies. Mutations in either POMT1 or POMT2 occur in about 20% of all cases of α -dystroglycanopathy patients. These diseases are called autosomal recessive muscular dystrophies or congenital muscular dystrophies (CMD), and have variable brain and ocular abnormalities (Martin et al. 2007;Yoshida et al. 2001).

c) O- linked fucose.

O-fucose (O-Fuc) is found on the EGF domains of different proteins and thrombospondin type 1 repeats (TSR). O-fucose is attached to the serine or threonine of the sequence -Cys-Xaa-Xaa-Gly-Gly-Thr/ Ser-Cys- on the EGF domain of human urokinase and in other clotting proteins, such as tissue plasminogen activator (t-PA) and clotting factor like factor VII (Bjoern et al.1991), factor XII (Harris et al.1993), and factor IX (Nishimura et al. 1992). The fucosyltransferase cDNA, responsible for the initiation of this modification, has been cloned and studied by Wang (Wang et al. 1996). In factor VII and IX, the O-fucose is extended with three additional sugars to form Neu5Aca2–6Gal β 1–4GlcNAc β 1–3Fuca- and this particular tetrasaccharide is also present on many serum glycoproteins of N-glycans (Nishimura et al. 1992). The addition of sialic acid and galactose can be catalyzed by sialyltransferases and galactosyltransferases respectively, employed by other pathways.

The function of these particular O-linked glycoproteins are not totally understood. In the case of t-PA, the O-linked fucose is essential for the binding and degradation of t-PA by HepG2 cells (a hepatoma cell line). The glycosylation confers a particular function to glycoproteins in hepatic clearance. However, it has been seen that, mutating the O-Fuc attachment site, had no effect on its binding to the mannose receptor. O-fucose on urinary-type plasminogen activator (uPA) is important to activate the uPA receptor (Rabbani et al. 1992). One important contribution of O-Fuc is on the protein receptor Notch, involved in cell-fate determination.

Notch-1 has a series of 36 tandem EGF-like modules, and 12 of them have the consensus sequence for O-fucosylation. Addition of fucose residues to the hydroxyl group of serine and threonine occurs in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and is catalyzed by "protein O-fucosyltransferase" or Pofut1 (Stanley et al. 2007). The O-linked fucose can be elongated by sequential addition of three other sugar residues: N-

acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc), galactose (Gal) and sialic acid (SA).

Fringe is a glycosyltransferase that modifies Notch (Moloney et al. 2000). This enzyme, called Fringe in Drosophila and Lunatic, Manic and Radical Fringe in mammals, transfers GlcNAc on the added O-linked fucose (see figure 1.8) (Bruckner et al. 2000). Fringe mutations only alter some aspects of Notch signalling, in contrast the addition of O-fucose by POFUT1 is absolutely necessary for notch function (Yao et al. 2011), so POFUT1 mutants can result in loss of Notch signaling (Okajima et al. 2002). O-fucosylation occurs also on TSP-1 (Thrombospondin-1) repeats. Specifically the O-linked disaccharide Glc-Fuc-O-Ser/Thr is found in the motif CSX(S/T)CG of TSP-1 (Hofsteenge et al. 2001). Apart from this protein the vast majority of fucosylation is found on EGF domains.



Figure 1.8 Canonical Notch signal transduction pathway and glycans of mammalian Notch1 on EGF repeats. The EGF repeats of both Notch receptors and ligands contain consensus sites for the addition of O-fucose and O-glucose glycans and AsnXSer/Thr consensus sequens for the addition of N-glycans. The glycosylation of Notch determine the interaction between receptor and ligand. In the canonical Notch signaling pathway the Notch ligands Delta-like or Jagged (in mammals) bind to the extracellular domain of Notch receptors (NECD) on apposing cells and two sequential proteolytic cleavages ensue. When ligand binds, the dimeric Notch1 receptor is cleaved by an ADAM protease. The released ECD is endocytosed by the ligand-expressing cell, and there it is cleaved by a complex with γ -secretase activity. The released NICD forms a complex with the transcriptional repressor CSL/Rbp-Jk and activators (master-mind like; MAML) and induces the expression of target genes such as Hes genes (Lu et al. 2006).

d) O- linked glucose.

Like the O-Fuc, the O-Glc pathway is an unusual form of posttranslational modification. While O-fucosylation occurs on TSP-1 repeats and EGF-like domains, O-glucosylation and O-fucosylation together occur only on EGF domains. Several serum proteins (factor VII, factor IX, protein Z) contain O-Glc on their epidermal growth factor-like repeats. The consensus sequence on the EGF domain by O-Fuc and O-Glc is different and the presence of both glycan types on a single EGF domain has been shown only for factor VII (Bjoern et al. 1991) and δ -like protein 1 (Krogh et al. 1997). A trisaccharide form of Oglucose (Xyl- α 1,3-Xyl- α 1,3-Glc- β 1-O-Ser) was found on bovine and human factor IX, human factor VII and protein Z (Nishimura et al.1989). Each of the xylose and the glucose residues is added sequentially by a separate glycosyltransferase: Oglucosyltransferase (Poglut) for transferring the glucose on proteins such as Notch, coagulation factors VII and IX, protein Z, Delta-like protein, and thrombospondin (Shao et al. 2002), β -D-glucoside α -1,3-D-xylosyltransferase is responsible for adding the α 1,3-Xyl onto O-glucose (Omichi et al. 1997), the α -D-xyloside α 1,3 xylosyltransferase for adding the α 1,3-Xyl onto Xyl (Minamida et al.1996). A consensus sequence for the addition of glucose has been recognized on these proteins: a C¹-X-S-X-P-C², where C1 and C2 are the first and the second cystein of the EGF domain (Harris et al. 1993).

The Notch-1 protein also has O-glucosylation sites in human and in Drosophila. In Drosophila eighteen of the 36 EGF repeats on the Notch receptor contain the consensus O-glucosylation motif. Leonardi et al. showed that all the glycosylated sites, not just a single one, contributes to maintain robust signalling of Notch, especially at higher temperatures (Leonardi et al. 2011). The O-glucosyltransferase that regulates Notch signaling is called Rumi (Lee et al. 2010). Rumi enzymes can have also a significant protein O-xylosyltransferase activity and the donor substrate (UDP-glucose or UDP-Xyl) used depends on the amino acid sequences of the recipient EGF repeat (Leonardi et al. 2011).

In humoral defence the first step is the binding of C1q to the antibody IgG. Immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies are composed of two heavy chains (HC) and two light chains (LC) that form the Fab (fragment antigen binding) and Fc regions of the antibody. Within the Fc portion of the antibody, C1q binds to the CH₂ domain (Yasmeen et al. 1976). Duncan and Winter localized the binding sites of C1q to three side chains, Glu 318, Lys 320 and Lys 322 in the mouse IgG2b isotype (Duncan & Winter, 1998).

IgG is glycosylated in the Fc region at asparagine (Asn) residue 297 and the N- glycan

occuring has a biantennary complex structure with the following glycan sequence of GlcNAc2-Man3-GlcNAc2-Gal2 (Dwek et al. 1995). Significant reduction in Clq and Fc receptor binding was observed, when the quantity of galactose was decreased (Tsuchiya et al. 1989). Mimura, Church et al. reported that glycosylation in the Fc region gives CH2 domain stability, while stepwise truncation of the N-glycan sugar moieties causes decrease in thermal stability and biological function (Mimura,Church et al. 2000).

e) O-linked galactose.

O-galactosylation is a special type of O-linked glycosylation and consists of a galactose on hydroxylysines of few proteins like collagen, surfactant proteins (Larsen et al. 1999), complement factor I (Clq) and mannan-binding proteins (lobst and Drickamer 1994) in the sequence -Gly-Xaa-Hyl-Gly- (Michaelsson et al. 1994).

Selected hydroxylysines of the collagen can be modified by adding galactose in the endoplasmic reticulum and the reaction is mediated by two β(1-O) galactosyltransferases: GLT25D1 and GLT25D2 proteins. The GLT25D1 gene is constitutively expressed in all human tissues, whereas the GLT25D2 gene is expressed only at low levels in the human nervous system. Aberrant modification of O-linked galactose on collagen can be involved in the etiology of connective tissue disorders (Schegg et al. 2009)

Complement Factor I (fI) is a protein of the complement system, part of the immune system. Galactose depleted IgG reduced Clq binding and Fc receptor binding, which imply an important biological function to the glyconutrient moiety of IgG (Tsuchiya et al. 1989).

1.4 Mucin type O-glycosylation.

Mucin type O-glycosylation is the main subject of this study and it will be described more extensively in the next paragraphs."Mucin-type" O-glycosylation is characterized by a GalNAc attached to the hydroxyl group of serine/threonine(Ser/Thr) (Hang et al. 2005). Mucin type O-linked glycosylation is the most common O-linked glycosylation and its name derives from the fact that this glycosylation is commonly found in many

secreted and membrane-bound mucins (Julenius et al. 2005). Mucin O-glycosylation involves the transfer of single sugars or monosaccarides from their nucleotide donors in an individual and sequential manner and can be characterized by the following steps:

a. Initiation by peptidylGalNActransferase (ppGalNAcT).

b. Elongation reactions to form core structures.

c. Termination reactions by the addition of sialic acid (SA), fucose (Fuc), galactose (Gal) or sulphate groups (Hanisch, 2001).

The cellular repertoir of glycosyltransferases with their distinct donor and acceptor sugar specificities, their sequential action and their localisation in subcompartments of the Golgi, all determine the cell specific O-glycosylation profile.

1.4.1 Initiation of mucin type O-glycosylation by peptidyl-GalNAc transferases.

Mucin-type O-glycosylation is initiated by a family of enzymes called peptidyl Nacetylgalactosaminyltransferases (ppGalNAcTs), that transfer GalNAc (derived from the donor substrate UDP-GalNAc) to serine and threonine residues on polypeptides (Clausen et al. 1996).

The first ppGalNAcT gene, to be cloned and characterised, was from bovine tissue (Hagen et al. 1993). This enzyme was found to have a human equivalent with a highly homologous nucleotide sequence that had 79 nucleotide substitutions, encoding only 6 amino acid differences (Clausen et al. 1996), and is a type II transmembrane protein with a small cytoplasmatic-oriented segment (Hennet et al. 1995).

Subsequent studies have revealed that 24 unique homologous polypeptide GalNAcT genes are present in humans (Hogenesch et al. 2001). In isozyme comparisons among human sequences, the catalytic domain of ppGalNacT2 and ppGalNacT3 exhibits 60% and 67% amino acid identity to the catalytic domain of ppGalNAcT1 (Paulson et al.1989).

Physicochemical parameters like volume, charge, hydrophobicity of the protein backbone around the glycosylation site can be crucial for the protein conformation and for the recognition by ppGalNAcTs (Kinarsky et al. 2003). This suggests that there are unique active site conformations for different ppGalNAcTs. ppGalNAcT1 and -T3 utilize only UDP-GalNAc, while GalNAc-T2 also utilizes UDP-Gal with one peptide acceptor substrate (Wandall et al. 1997). ppGalNAcT4, ppGalNAcT7 and ppGalNAcT10 seem to

require the prior addition of GalNAc to a synthetic peptide before they can catalyze sugar transfer to their substrate (Ten Hagen et al. 2003). Expression of ppGalNAcT1 RNA is ubiquitous in mammalian cells, whereas others are expressed in a cell and tissue specific manner (see table 1.3). This may reflect individual roles in cell type specific glycosylation of one or more glycoproteins (Ten Hagen et al. 2003).

ppGaNTase isoform ^a	Strongest signal for transcript expression in adult tissues ^b
ppGaNTase-T1	ubiquitous
ppGaNTase-T2	Liver; skeletal muscle
ppGaNTase-T3	Pancreas, testis
ppGaNTase-T4	sm. intestine; stomach
ppGaNTase-T6	Placenta; trachea
ppGaNTase-T7	Spinal cord; trachea
ppGaNTase-T9	Brain
ppGaNTase-T11	Kidney
ppGaNTase-T12	Stomach; sm. intestine ^t
ppGaNTase-T13	Brain

Table 1.3 Some ppGaNTases and transcript expression in adult tissues (Ten Hagen et al.2003).

1.4.2 Core structures.

Following the addition of GalNAc to Ser or Thr, eight possible core structures can be formed by adding Gal, GlcNAc or GalNAc (Figure 1.9). In humans, core 1 - 4 are the most common structures produced in vivo. The core 1 subtype structure is formed by the addition of Gal in a β 1-3 linkage to the GalNAc. Core 1 is also called T antigen (from Thomsen-Friedenreich antigen). The glycosyltransferase responsible for the formation of Core 1 (T) is known as the Core 1 β 1-3 galactosyltransferase (Core 1 GalT).

C2GnT can generate core2 from core1 by the addition of GlcNAc to the GalNAc in a β 1-6 linkage. Core 2 O-glycan may become elongated into a mono- or biantennary form with the presence of multiple lactosamine structures (Gal β 1-4GlcNAc) that can be terminated with fucose and sialic acid. There are three functional forms of C2GnT that have been characterized (Stone et al. 2009).



Figure 1.9: Core O-glycan structures and biosynthetic pathways for the core structures. Cancer-associated antigens are shown in parentheses (Ten Hagen et al. 2003).

C2GnT1 is the main functional form found in breast epithelial cells. Mucin O-linked glycosylation in the epithelial cells of resting, pregnant and lactating breast is Core 2 based (Dalziel et al. 2001). The C2GnT-3 enzyme is expressed in the thymus and is found in the breast but at very low levels (Schwientek et al. 2000). The C2GnT-2 enzyme can also synthesize the Core 4 structure from core 3 (see figure 1.10) but the presence of core 3 is restricted to GI tract tissues. The core 3 (GlcNAc β 1-3GalNAc α 1-Ser/Thr) structure of the O-glycan, is synthesized by core 3 ß3-N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc)-transferase (core 3 GlcNAcT) and coded for the β 3GNT6 gene. B3GNT6 gene expression is restricted to mucus-secretory tissues. The core 3 structure is expressed on mucins by the stomach, small intestine, and colon, but downregulated in colon cancer. Core 3GlcNAcT is not expressed in the breast where only core 1 and 2 structures have been observed (Brockhausen et al. 2006, Iwai et al. 2002). However, Blixt et al. found a high level of autoantibodies reactive with core 3 MUC1 (MUC1 is a glycoprotein overexpressed in 90% of breast and other type of cancers- see section 1.7) in some sera from a cohort of 395 breast cancer patients compared to the healthy controls. In the same patients, it was also found a significant correlation with reduced incidence and increased time to metastasis. However, as the RT-qPCR performed in this study confirmed the lack of expression of B3GnT6 gene, the epitope recognized by these autoantibodies needs to be elucidated (Blixt et al. 2011). The above mentioned reactions and enzymes are summarized in the figure 1.10.



Figure 1.10 Biosynthesis of the Core structure. GalNAc (Tn antigen) can be converted to core 1 (T antigen) by core 1 GalT or to core 3 structures by core 3 GlcNAcT, which can be branched by C2GnT2 to form core 4. Core 1 can also be elongated by a β 3-GlcNAcT or can be branched by C2GnT to form core 2. All core structures can be further extended to form complex *O*-glycans (Brockhausen 2006).

1.4.3 Elongation of the glycan chain.

Addition of Gal in a β 1,4 or β 1,3 linkage to the GlcNAc of core 2 results in the formation of a type 2 chain. Addition of Gal in a β 1,4 linkage determine the formation of a precursor of Lewis^x and SialylLewis^x (Le^x and SLe^x) and addition of Gal in a β 1,3 linkage determine Lewis^a and SialylLewis^a (Le^a and SLe^a) formation.

The Gal β 1,4 GlcNAc disaccharide is known as lactosamine and is catalysed by β 4galactosyltransferase (β 4GalT), as seen in figure 1.11. Six β 4-galactosyltransferase genes (B4GALT is the gene name) have been cloned from mammalian sources. Each encodes a galactosyltransferase that utilizes the donor substrate UDP-Gal and transfers Gal in α 1,4-linkage to GlcNAc or Glc (Lo et al. 1998). It was reported that β 4GalT-4 is more efficient in galactosylating mucin-type, core 2 branch oligosaccharides. It was also suggested that β 4GalT-5 may function best in transferring Gal to O-glycans (Ujita et al.1998, Ujita et al.1999). Glycoproteins often bear glycans that include linear polymers of type 2 lactosamine units (polylactosamine).


Figure 1.11 Elongation and assembly of Lewis antigens. In the first case, SialylLewis^x structure is synthesized by the addition of a β 4Gal to GlcNAc (type 2 chain) by a β 4-Gal-transferase (β 4-GalT), an α 3-Fuc to GlcNAc by an α 3-Fuc-transferase (α 3-FucT), followed by the addition of an α 3-sialic acid to Gal by an α 3-sialyltransferase (ST3Gal) to form sLe^x. SialylLewis^a antigen chains are synthesized by β 3-Gal-transferase (β 3-GalT), α 4-Fuc-transferase (α 4-FucT) and ST3Gal.

Addition of GlcNAc to the inner galactose of the backbone is mediated by several transferases, for example those encoded by the B3GNT1, -2, -3 and -5 genes. GlcNAc residues constitute the basis for the attachment of Lewis antigens as seen in paragraph 1.4.4 (see figure 1.13) (Potapenko et al. 2010).

In the case of Le^a and SLe^a, the GlcNAc sugar is modified by Gal in a β 1,3 linkage by the action of β 3GalT resulting in a type 1 chain. Furthermore, branching of the polylactosamine backbone can occur.

1.4.4 Termination.

The addition of sialic acid, Gal, sulfate and GalNAc in an α linkage can all result in the termination of chain extension. One of the most common termination reactions is the addition of the sialic acid N-acetyl-Neuraminic acid (Neu5Ac) to Gal by the action of sialyltransferases ST3Gal-I (figure 1.14). ST3Gal-I is a transferase that catalyzes the addition of sialic acid in an α 2,3 linkage to Gal β 1–3 GalNAc, and thus terminates chain extension by inhibiting core 2 formation. The only additional sugar that can be added is

sialic acid in the α 2,6 position to GalNAc catalyzed by ST6GalNAcII, generating disialyIT (Burchell et al. 1999). As ST3Gal-I uses the same substrate (core 1) as C2GnT1 there is competition between the two enzymes for their common substrate (Gal β 1-3 GalNAc) (Dalziel et al. 2001). ST3Gal-I and its product SialyIT (ST) are very important in the immune system. T cell maturation is accompanied by regulation of the sialyItransferase ST3Gal-I (Priatel et al. 2000). This subject will be discussed more in details in section 1.6.5.



Figure 1.12 General pathways of O-linked glycosylation in normal mammary gland. In the normal mammary gland Core1 is converted to Core2.

Terminal GlcNAc residues, and especially those of core 2 structures, can be used as the basis for the attachment of Lewis antigens. These are antigens expressed on the surface of erythrocytes and a variety of cell types, including some epithelia (Narita et al. 1993). These antigens are common to many types of glycans, including N- and O-linked glycans as well as glycosphingolipids. Structurally these epitopes are composed of fucosylated three lactosamine units (Gal-GlcNAc) that can be either linked in a β 1-3 or β 1-4 (Figure 1.11).

β-1,3-Galactosyltransferases (B3GALT1, -2 and -5 genes) catalize the formation of the structure to be a type 1 Lewis epitope (Le^a, SLe^a and Le^b structures) as shown in figure 1.11. On the other hand, β-1,4-galactosyltransferases 1, 2, 3 and 4 (B4GALT1, -2, -3, -4) will synthesize type 2 Lewis antigens (for example Le^x and Le^y) by transferring a galactose to the GlcNAc saccharide in a β-1,4-linkage. This galactose may be fucosylated or sialylated. Fucosyltransferase 3 (FUT3) transfers a fucose in an α1,4 residue on the GlcNAc to give Le^a or Le^b structures. Fucosyltransferase 3, 7 and 9 (FUT3, FUT-7 and FUT9) transfer a fucose in an α1,3 linkage on type 2 antigens to give Le^x and Le^y. FUT3, 5 and 6 can also add a fucose on the Gal of short glycolipids. ST3GAL3 and -4 yield SLe^a by a transfer of a sialic acid in α1,3, `and ST3GAL6 activity results in sLe^x. The addition of fucose forms Le^b and Le^y epitopes, which are both

synthesized by fucosyltransferases 1 and 2 (FUT1 and FUT2) (Julien, Ivetic , Grigoriadis , QiZe , Burford , Sproviero et al. 2011;Potapenko et al. 2010). The enzymes involved in the synthesis of sLe^x on glycoproteins are in figure 1.13.



Figure 1.13 Synthesis of sLex on lactosamine chain backbone (Julien, et al. 2011).

1.5 Change of mucin type O-glycosylation in breast cancer.

The epitopes found in cancer includes 1) β 6GlcNAc branching in *N-linked* structure; 2) GM2, GD3 in lipid-linked structure, 3) sialyl-Tn, Tn in *O-linked* structure; 4) sialyl-Lex, sialyl-Lea, and Ley in either *N-linked*, *O-linked*, or lipid-linked structure and 5) T and ST in *O-linked* structure that are tumour associated structures.

As described in section 1.3.2, β 1,6 GlcNAc branching in N-linked structure added by MGAT5 are abundant in breast cancer tissues and other types of cancer (colon, leukemia etc.) with high metastatic potential (Yoshimura et al. 1995, Fernandes et al. 1991).

Gangliosides have a role in cancer progression since 1) they act as immunosuppressors, 2) GM3 and GD2 are important in angiogenesis, 3) they regulate adhesion/motility fundamental in metastasis 4) they are modulators of signal transduction (Birklé et al. 2003). Gangliosides are expressed in breast, prostate, brain, lung and other type of cancer (Steenackers et al.2012, Hatano et al. 2011, Basu et al. 2012, Segatori et al. 2012).

STn is over-expressed in many epithelial cancers with the highest frequencies in pancreas, colorectal and ovarian cancers (Julien et al. 2012). Hence STn overexpression occurs in carcinogenesis in tissues that normally don't express the antigen (Ogata et al. 1998). It can be considered a good tumor marker of carcinogenesis and potentially useful for diagnosis (Julien et al. 2012).

Sialyl Lewis antigens, sialyl Lewis a and Sialyl Lewis x, are used as tumor markers, since they are overexpressed in the majority of cancers (colon, prostate, breast, melanoma, lung, liver etc.) and they are associated with tumor progression and metastasis (by enhancement of cancer cell adhesion to endothelial E-selectin).

In a screening of 28 mucinous adenocarcinomas from different locations (stomach, ampulla of Vater, colon, lung, breast and ovary), the O-linked glycoforms in 50% of the cases detected were Tn/STn/SLea/SLex-MUC1 and STn/SLea/SLex-MUC2 glycoforms and T/SLea-MUC2, STn/T/SLea/SLex-MUC5AC and STn/T/SLea/SLex-MUC6-were identified in a variable percentage of cases from different organs (Pinto et al. 2012).

In the following section we will concentrate on the last three classes of glycans with a particular focus on the change of glycosylation in breast cancer.

1.5.1 Premature O-linked glycan chains observed in breast cancer.

Differences of cellular glycosylation are observed between normal mammary epithelial cells and breast cancers. As discussed above, in normal resting, pregnant and lactating breast, mucin O-glycans are largely extended (core 2 type) structures. The addition of GalNAc is followed by the addition of Gal to form core 1 (T epitope) and core1 (T) acts as a substrate for the C2GnT1 enzyme, leading to the formation of branched, complex, core 2 glycans.

In contrast, mucin O-glycans found in breast carcinomas is often truncated core 1 based structures. Tn and T are expressed on breast cancer cells and are associated with a poor prognosis (Imai et al. 2001, Varki et al. 2009).

The activity of Core1 GalT, the enzyme responsible for the formation of core1 (T), requires the expression of Cosmc (core 1 β 1,3Gal-T-specific molecular chaperone). It was demonstrated that mutation of this chaperone results in a loss of core 1 structures (Ju et al. 2002, Wang et al. 2010) and can explain the expression of the tumour-associated structure Tn and sialylated Tn (Neu5Aca2,6GalNAc) (see figure 1.14). However, in our lab it was found that Cosmic mutations are not the mechanism responsible for the expression of Tn and STn in breast cancer (paper in preparation).

In contrast, one mechanism that is responsible for the increase in core 1 structures is a change in the expression of glycosyltransferases, particularly an increase in the expression of the sialyltransferase, ST3Gal-I, and a decrease or a loss of C2GnT1 (Burchell et al. 2001). ST3Gal-I, (Burchell et al. 1999) is not found in normal breast (see figure 1.12 and 1.14) and a high expression of this enzyme is associated with aggressive disease and may be immunosuppressive (Mungul et al. 2004). Furthermore, in around 25-30% of breast cancer the transcription of the sialyltransferase ST6GalNAc-I is turned on. This enzyme adds sialic acid, Neu5Ac, in α 2,6 linkage to GalNAc linked to Ser or Thr, thus creating the STn epitope (Sewell et al. 2006). ST6GalNAc-I competes with Core1 glycosyltransferase and it has been shown to be located throughout the Golgi (Sewell et al. 2006). Of the short O-glycan expressed in carcinoma, the disaccharide, STn, is the most tumour specific (Julien et al. 2003).

In summary the glycans on breast cancer cells can consist of Tn, T, STn, ST. However carbohydrate antigens, such as sLe^x and sLe^y, that are normally found on the periphery of long side chains, have also been demonstrated to be present in breast carcinomas (Nakagoe et al. 2000; Julien, Ivetic , Grigoriadis , QiZe , Burford , Sproviero et al. 2011). These epitopes will be dealt with in detail in the next sections.

1.5.2 Abnormal glycosylation on peripheral antigens.

Although the Lewis and SialylLewis (Le and sLe) antigens can normally be found on lymphocytes that migrate from the blood stream to the tissues, they are not extensively found on mucin-like proteins expressed by epithelial cells. Sialyl Lewis^a (SLe^a) and sialyl Lewis^x (SLe^x) are abnormally found on glycoproteins in lung, colon, stomach and breast cancers and they are considered to be tumor-associated markers (Soejima & Koda, 2005). Fukushi et al. and Fukushima et al. reported decades ago that Lewis antigens were functionally important terminal glycan epitopes implicated in breast cancer development (Fukushi et al.1984; Fukushima et al.1984).



Figure 1.14 Pathways of O-glycosylation in normal breast tissue and carcinoma. In breast carcinoma shorter O-glycans are formed by the increased expression of ST6GalNAc-I or ST3Gal-I. On the other hand, in normal epithelial breast O-Glycan structures are mainly core 2-based resulting from the action of C2GnT-I on core 1 O-glycans (Sewell et al. 2006).

Among the group of several type 2 antigens, SLe[×] has been reported to have the prevalence in breast cancer cells (Matsuura et al.1998). Potapenko et al. reported an upregulation of enzymes like B4GALT1, -2, -3, FUT5 and ST3GAL4 in breast cancer. However down-regulation of FUT4, FUT9, FUT10, ST3GAL3 and ST3GAL6 genes was also observed (Potapenko et al. 2010). According to Recchi et al. ST3Gal III is the most expressed sialyltransferase involved in sialylation of Lewis antigen (Recchi et al. 1998)

(see section 1.6.2). In this lab it was demonstrated that sLex expression is associated with ER-negative status, lymph node involvement, and high grade of breast tumors, but not with the survival of patients. Moreover, in ER-negative breast tumors there was a higher expression of glycosyltransferases FUT3, FUT4, and ST3GAL6 (Julien, Ivetic, Grigoriadis, QiZe, Burford, Sproviero et al. 2011). Interestengly, FUT3 was one of the 16 genes signature predicting distant metastasis in lymph node negative, ER-negative breast cancer (Wang et al. 2005). However high levels of sLe^x in ER-positive cancers is correlated with bone metastasis, a metastatic site prevalent with ER positive tumours (Julien, Sproviero et al. 2011). Adhesion of cells to the endothelium can be mediated by E-selectin via sLe^x. E-selectin (also known as CD62A, ELAM-1) is a sialic acid-binding lectin (sugar binding protein-see section 1.8.2), expressed by endothelial cells, when they are activated by cytokines (Lowe et al. 1990). Importantly, E-selectin is constitutively expressed on the endothelial cells in bone marrow and in small vessels adjacent to tumor nests in primary breast cancer (Kobayashi et al. 1998).

There are therapies that inhibit sLe^x binding to selectins, like glycosyltransferase inhibitors and receptor inhibitors for the treatment of cancer.

A disaccharide precursor of sLex, GlcNAcβ1,3Galβ-O-napthalenemethanol, reduced levels of sLex on the surface of colon adenocarcinoma cells and decreased the interactions with selectins sufficiently to reduce lung metastasis in a murine tumour model (Foster et al. 2003). Shirota et al. showed that co-administration of GSC-150, an analogue of sLex, with the colon carcinoma cell line KM12-HX to mice reduced metastasis to the liver, compared with mice treated with the cells alone (Shirota et al. 2001). Recently, Rillahan et al. showed the development of inhibitors of some fucosyltransferases and sialyltransferases that reduced the expression of sialyl Lewis x on myeloid cells, resulting in loss of selectin binding and impaired leukocyte rolling. Other inhibitors of SLex, like GlycoDesign (GD39), Oxford Glycoscience (OGT719), GlycoGenesys (GCS-100), are currently under development in pharmaceutical companies. These data suggest that the sLex–selectin interactions contribute to metastasis and that selectin inhibitors might find use in cancer treatment (Dube et al. 2005).

1.6 ST3Gal-I.

ST3Gal-I is a sialyltransferase that catalyzes the addition of sialic acid in an α 2,3 linkage to Gal β 1–3GalNAc, and, thus, terminates chain extension by inhibiting core 2 formation (Burchell et al. 1999).. ST3Gal-I is the main subject of this thesis, so this

section will explain the class of sialyltransferases in general with an emphasis on the ST3Gal family. Specifically, ST3Gal-I (gene and protein) structure will be described and its role in the immune system, in diseases and in breast cancer will be dealt.

1.6.1 Sialic acids and sialyltransferases.

Sialic Acids (SA) form a large family of 9 carbon sugars. The most common sialic acid added to O-glycans is N-acetyl-Neuraminic acid (Neu5Ac or Neu-5-amido-3,5-dideoxy-D-glycero-D-galacto-nonulosonic acid) (Varki et al. 1997). Sialic acids derivatives are at the terminal positions of many oligosaccharides of glycoproteins, which determine the half-lives of many circulating glycoproteins and affect cell behavior (Zeng & Gabius, 1992). In fact, these molecules are involved in cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions and, thus, in molecular recognition during tumor development, differentiation and progression (Wang et al. 2005). Sialyl residues are linked to galactose (Gal) residue via α2,6 or α2,3-linkage linked Nor to acetylgalactosamine(GalNAc) via a2,6-linkage. Sialic acid can also be linked to another sialic acid on the C8.

The transfer of Neu5Ac from CMP donors to glycoconjugates in the Golgi is catalyzed by a large family of sialyltransferases (Harduin-Lepers et al. 2001), which differ in their substrate specificity, tissue distribution and various biochemical parameters. Each sialyltransferase is linkage specific and has its own substrate specificities. There are four subgroups of these enzymes: the ST3Gal (α 2,3-ST), ST6Gal (α 2,6-ST), ST6GalNAc, and ST8Sia (α 2,8-ST) families (Takashima et al.1999) (shown in table 1.4). Every family is further classified into other subfamilies. All ST3Gal enzymes transfer Neu5Ac residues in (2,3-linkage to terminal Gal in glycoproteins or glycolipids. ST3Gal-I and -II transfer Neu5Ac on the structure Galß1,3GalNAc-R, whereas the ST3Gal-III, -IV, -V, and -VI use the oligosaccharide isomers Gal β 1,3/4GlcNAc-R and the ST3Gal-V subfamily transfers the sialic acid only on the lactosylceramide (i.e. Gal β 1,4GlcNAc-Cer), giving rise to the synthesis of the ganglioside GM3 (Harduin et al. 2005). There are only two sialyltransferases in ST6Gal family, ST6Gal-I and -II. They both have Gal β 1,4GlcNAc-R as the acceptor substrate. The enzymes of the ST6GalNAc family transfer Neu5Ac residues in α 2,6 linkage to the GalNAc residues, found in O- glycosylproteins (ST6GalNAc-I, -II and -IV) or found in glycolipids (ST6GalNAc-III, -V and -VI). Enzymes of the ST8Sia family catalyze the transfer of Neu5Ac residues in α 2,8-linkage to other Neu5Ac residues found in glycoproteins and glycolipids (Wang et al. 2005).

Sialyltransferase subgroups	Linkage
ST3Gal	Neu5Ac α 2,3 to Gal
ST6Gal	Neu5Ac α 2,6 to Gal
ST6GalNAc	Neu5Ac α 2,6 to GalNAc
ST8sia	Neu5Ac α 2,8 to Neu5Ac

Table	1.4	Α	list	of	the	sialyltransferase	subgroups,	and	their	linkage	and	acceptor
substr	ate	sug	gar.									

Like all glycosyltransferases, sialyltransferases are type II transmembrane glycoproteins with a short amino (NH₂) cytoplasmic tail, a 16-20 amino acid transmembrane domain, a highly variable stem region, and a large carboxyl (COOH)-catalytic domain, which resides in the lumen of the Golgi (Datta et al. 1995). One conserved Cys residue is found in each of the L- and S-sialylmotifs, which are involved in disulphide bond formation and are essential for correct conformation and activity (Geremia et al.1997).

1.6.2 ST3Gal enzymes.

There are six ST3Gal gene sub-families that have been identified in various vertebrate genomes. Recombinant enzymes of the ST3Gal family catalyze the transfer of sialic acid in $\langle 2,3$ -linkage to the terminal Gal residues found on glycoproteins or glycolipids. There are two main subfamilies: 1) ST3Gal-I and ST3Gal-II subfamilies 2) ST3Gal III, ST3Gal IV, ST3Gal V and ST3Gal VI sub-families (Hashimoto et al. 2009). ST3Gal III, ST3Gal IV and ST3Gal VI catalyze the transfer of sialic acid on the Gal residue of the disaccharide Gal β 1,3(4)GlcNAc of glycoprotein or glycolipids.

In breast cancer, ST3Gal III, involved in sialylation of Lewis antigen formation, is the most expressed sialyltransferase and correlates to tumour size and the number of axilary nodes. ST3Gal III expression was positively correlated to the expression of ST6Gal I and ST3Gal IV, to tumor size, and to the number of involved axillary nodes. Patients with high ST3Gal III expression had a shorter overall survival, although the

cohort size (n=49) was relatively small (Recchi et al.1998). ST3Gal IV and VI catalyze the transfer of sialic acid on Gal β 1,3GlcNAc and preferentially on Gal β 1,4GlcNAc sequence, found in the carbohydrate moieties of glycoproteins and glycolipids. ST3Gal VI is more specific in the synthesis of sLe^x on ceramide (see figure 1.13) (Okajima et al.1999). Human and mouse ST3Gal V leads to the biosynthesis of GM3 because it adds a sialic acid on lactosylceramide (LacCer, Gal β 1,4GlcCer). This enzyme is also known as the GM3-synthase and it can be released in serum in a soluble form after cleavage of the N-terminus (Richardson et al.1995). ST3Gal V in placenta can use also GalCer, GA1 and GA2.50 as substrates.

In the second subfamily, ST3Gal-I and ST3Gal-II use as substrate only the disaccharide Galβ1-3 GalNAc found on glycoproteins (core1 of O-glycosylproteins) and glycolipids (asialo-GM1 and GM1a) (Hatano et al. 2011). The members of these two gene sub-families show the same number of exons and intron positions and the nucleotide and amino acid sequences of hST3Gal II show 56.3% similarity to hST3Gal-I (Kitagawa & Paulson,1994a, Kitagawa & Paulson,1994b). The human ST3Gal-II was cloned from a T-cell cDNA library and showed activity on both glycolipids and glycoproteins (Giordanenco et al.1997). hST3Gal II mRNA is highly expressed in heart, liver, skeletal muscle and various lymphoid tissues but not in brain and kidney (Giordanenco et al. 1997).

1.6.3 ST3Gal-I gene and peptide structure.

ST3Gal-I is a sialyltransferase that transfers Neu5Ac to the Gal β 1,3GalNAc disaccharide found on O-glycosyl proteins and gangliosides (Varki et al. 2009; Potapenko et al. 2010; Hatano et al. 2011). ST3Gal-I also has limited activity towards type I disaccharide (Gal β 1,3 GlcNAc). However, human ST3Gal-I exhibits high transfer efficiency and high affinity (K_m of 51 µM) towards the core 1 mucin type disaccharide Gal β 1,3GalNAc α - (Kono et al.1997). In addition, the mouse ST3Gal-I has a preference for glycolipid acceptors leading to the biosynthesis of GM1b, GD1a and GT1b at least in in vitro (Lee et al.1993). However, a very recent study from Sturgill et al. showed that in the mouse, St3gal2 and St3gal3 are responsible for nearly all the terminal sialylation of brain gangliosides (Sturgill et al.2012).



Figure 1.15 ST3GAL-I Gene in genomic location (red band pointed out by the arrow). Bands locations are according to GeneLoc, Entrez Gene, Ensembl.

The human ST3Gal-I is located on chromosomes 8 (8q24.2) (see figure 1.15) and the complete cDNA of the human ST3Gal-I gene was cloned from human placenta. Comparison with the porcine ST3Gal-I sequence showed a homology of 84% at the nucleotide level, with differences of a single amino acid deletion in the cytoplasmic tail and a two amino acid deletion in the stem region.

There are two isoforms of ST3Gal-I distinguished as 48kDa and 45kDa proteins as shown in figure 1.16. The 48 kDa isoform has an additional 16 hydrophobic amino acids near the NH₂ terminus than the 45-kDa (figure 1.16) (Reference Sequences: NM_003033.2 and NM_173344.2 for the longer and shorter form, respectively) (Gillespie et al.1992). The longer form is the active enzyme, while the shorter isoform, which is soluble, is not active (Gillespie et al.1992). Videira et al. analyzed the distribution of these two isoforms in bladder cancer cell lines and patients' specimens. Although the intensities of the PCR products differed among the analyzed cell lines and patients' samples, all samples expressed both transcripts (Videira et al. 2009).

The primary structure of this enzyme consists of a short NH₂-terminal cytoplasmic domain, a signal-membrane anchor domain, a proteolytically sensitive stem region, and a large COOH-terminal active domain (Lee et al. 1993). As described above, all eukaryotic sialyltransferases have three conserved peptide regions in the catalytic domain (sialylmotifs L, S, and VS). Sialylmotifs L and S are involved in the binding of donor and acceptor substrates, while the region between S and VS contains a stretch of four highly conserved residues. In this motif, ST3Gal-I has His299 and Tyr300, that together with His316 of the VS motif, are essential for activity of the enzyme. Also a Tyr residue (Tyr300) plays an important conformational role of ST3Gal-I. The human ST3Gal-I contains four potential N-glycan attachment sites in its catalytic domain, however, the glycosylation of these sites are not necessary for enzyme activity, but are important for the proper folding and trafficking of the enzyme (Jeanneau et al. 2004).

48 kDa peptide sequence

NH2-Ser-Thr-Leu-Lys-Leu-His-Thr-Leu-Leu-Val- 10

11 Leu-Phe-Ile-Phe-Leu-Thr-Ser-Phe-Phe-Leu- 20

21 Asn-Tyr-COOH

45 kDa peptide sequence

NH2-Lys-Tyr-Pro-Tyr-Arg-Pro-Thr-Thr-Thr-10

11 Arg-Ile-Ile-Glu-Glu-Gln-Lys-Val-Ser-Ala- 20

21 Phe-Phe-COOH

Figure 1.16 NH₂-terminal amino acid sequences of the 48- and 45-kDa α 2,3 sialyl-transferase peptides (Gillespie et al.1992).

1.6.4 Promoter studies of ST3Gal-I.

The promoter of ST3Gal-I has not been widely studied. Taniguchi et al. cloned and sequenced the promoter of ST3Gal-I. The luciferase assay on leukaemia and colon adenocarcinoma cells showed that only the region between -304 and -145 is important for the transcriptional activity of ST3Gal-I. Transcription factor binding sites for Sp1 and USF1 are present in this region and are involved in the transcription of ST3Gal-I. Inserting base substitutions in the binding sites of both transcription factors resulted in a reduction of activity by 40-50% of ST3Gal-I (Taniguchi et al. 2001). In porcine kidney cells, transcriptional activation of this sialyltransferase can be induced by TGF- β 1 (Son et al. 2011). Moreover Son et al. and Higai et al. found that NF- κ b is involved in the transcription of ST3Gal-I (Son et al. 2011, Higai et al.2006). The expression of ST3Gal-I was investigated in two human colon adenocarcinoma cell lines HT-29, Colo205 and in one leukaemia cell line HL-60. NF- κ b knockdown could inhibit the increase of expression of ST3Gal-I after TNF- α treatment (Higai et al. 2006).

1.6.5 ST3Gal-I and SialyIT antigen in the immune system.

ST3Gal-I and its product SialyIT (ST) are very important for the immune system. T cell maturation from the DP (double positive-immature T cells) to SP (single positive-mature T cells) stages is accompanied by regulation of the sialyltransferase ST3Gal-I. Analysis of ST3Gal-I knockout mice revealed that loss of this enzyme leads to disregulation of mature CD8 T cell homeostasis and to the extended survival of CD8 T (Priatel et al. 2000). A consequence of this difference in glycosylation is that immature CD4/CD8 DP

thymocytes bind MHC class I tetramers more avidly than mature CD8 SP thymocytes. Moody et al. showed that sialic acid addition to core1 of mature CD8 single-positive thymocytes decreases CD8 binding to MHCI (Moody et al. 2001).

Neuraminidase treatment of mature CD8 SPs enhanced CD8 noncognate binding (Starr et al. 2003) and ST3Gal-I up-regulation has shown to be responsible for the loss in noncognate CD8-class I binding that accompanies thymocyte maturation (Kao et al. 2006).

MUC1 carrying the sialyIT (ST-MUC1) glycoform was shown to inhibit the differentiation and function of monocyte derived DCs. Human monocyte-derived DCs cultured in the presence of ST-MUC1, showed a modified phenotype with decreased expression of costimulatory molecules (CD86, CD40), antigen-presenting molecules (DR and CD1d), and differentiation markers. In this way DCs were defective in their ability to induce immune responses and may represent a mechanism by which epithelial tumors can escape immunosurveillance (Rughetti et al. 2005). However, these results should be interpreted with caution as subsequently we showed that ST-MUC1 purified from CHO cells contain small quantity of TGF β (Beatson, Sproviero et al. 2011).

1.6.6 ST3Gal-I in different diseases.

Lebreve et al. showed a hyposialylation of O-glycans on CD43 and CD45 lymphocytes surface in HIV-1 (human-immunodeficiency-virus-I) infected T-cell lines. It was thought that a possible variation in mRNA transcription of hST3Gal-I could occur in this case (Lefebvre et al.1994). However, comparable levels of hST3Gal-I and hST3Gal II mRNA and enzymatic activity were observed in parental and HIV-1-infected T-cell lysates, so the variation of sialylation in this case is probably due to a different mechanism from an alteration of transcription and catalytic activity of ST3Gal-I (Giordanengo et al.1997). Influenza infection starts with the recognition of the sialic acids on the host cell surface by the hemagglutinin (HA) of the virus. All avian influenza viruses recognize α 2,3 sialic acid linkage on the host cell (Gambaryan et al. 2004).

Alterations of ST3Gal-I level of expression were found also in Grave's disease (Kiljański et al. 2005) and SNPs (single-nucleotide polymorphism) in ST3GAL-I gene were discovered in bipolar disorders (Zandi et al. 2008).

1.6.7 ST3Gal-I in breast cancer.

Increased expression, relative to normal tissue, of ST3Gal-I is observed in many carcinomas, especially colon (Kudo et al. 1998), bladder (Videira et al. 2009), ovarian (Wang et al. 2005) and breast cancer (Burchell et al. 1999). In primary breast cancers, ST3Gal-I is overexpressed and its level is correlated with tumour grade (Burchell et al. 1999). In contrast C2GnT1 is found to be low or absent in around 50% of carcinomas and breast cancer cell lines. ST3Gal-I activity was also found to be increased 8-10 fold in three breast cancer cells lines relative to the normal cell line (MTSV1-7), while the C2GnT enzyme activity was absent in two of the breast cancer cell lines (T47D & BT20) and reduced by 50% in MCF-7 (Brockhausen et al.1995). ST3Gal-I competes with C2GnT1 for the core 1 substrates and there is an overlap of the localization of two enzymes in the Golgi (Whitehouse et al. 1997). Although ST3Gal-I is localised mainly in the medial/trans Golgi, there are detectable levels in the cis Golgi. C2GnT1 has been located mainly in the cis Golgi, but with some expression in the medial cisternae and low levels in the trans Golgi. However, this overlap appears to be sufficient in allowing competition between the two enzymes (Dalziel et al. 2001). Since ST3Gal-I competes with C2GnT1, when ST3Gal-I is over-expressed, core1 will become sialylated and termination of the chain will occur (Dalziel et al. 2001). Importantly, over-expressing ST3Gal-I in the mammary gland can promote the early development of spontaneous mammary tumours in a murine model. Transgenic mice, expressing human ST3Gal-I from the MUC1 promoter (used to allow upregulation in the mammary gland and in mammary tumours), were crossed with Polyoma middle T mice (a model of spontaneous breast cancer). These mice showed a significant increase in the speed of mammary tumour development compared to the controls (Picco et al. 2010) (see figure 1.17).



Figure 1.17: Mammary tumours develop faster in the ST3Gal-I/PyMT mice compared to the controls. Kinetics of tumour formation in ST3Gal-I/PyMT and Control/PyMT mice. The difference between ST3Gal-I/PyMT and control mice was highly significant (P < 0.001), evaluated by the Breslow test (Picco et al. 2010).

1.7 One O-linked glycosylation mucin, MUC1, and antibodies to its glycosylated form.

Mucin type O-glycosylation is dominant on mucin-type molecules like MUC1. MUC1 is a transmembrane glycoprotein overexpressed in many types of cancer, with a differential expression pattern of O-glycans in malignant compared to normal epithelial cells. Oglycosylation occurs on five potential sites (Ser or Thr), found within each tandem repeat (TR) of 20 amino acids (Tarp et al. 2008). The extracellular domain of MUC1 can contain 20 to 150 of these tandem repeats. Many monoclonal antibodies, that target MUC1, recognize epitopes within the tandem repeat domain and show differential reactivity with this mucin, expressed by normal mammary epithelium compared to that on malignant breast epithelium (Taylor-Papadimitriou et al. 1999). SM3 is a monoclonal antibody that recognizes MUC1 produced by cancer cells but not by normal cells. SM3 does not react with normal breast epithelium because its epitope is masked by the core 2 glycans (Burchell et al. 1989, Dalziel et al. 2001, Mungul et al. 2004) (see figure 1.18A). However, overexpressing ST3Gal-I in a cell line expressing C2GnT1, results in SM3 binding (Dalziel et al. 2001), demonstrating the competition that occurs between these two enzymes. Another two antibodies HMFG1 and HMFG2, also recognize a peptide epitope in MUC1 but their binding is influenced by its glycosylation. HMFG1 reacts well with the mucin expressed by normal cells but the presence of sialic acid can decrease its binding to its epitope. In contrast, HMFG2 can react with shorter glycosylated chain and can be masked by longer carbohydrate side chain on normal mucins as shown in figure 1.18 (Burchell & Taylor-Papadimitriou, 1993).

1.8 Lectins.

Plant lectins are sugar-binding receptors, that bind glycans in an oligosaccharide and linkage specific manner. Lectins were first described in 1888 by Stillmark working with castor bean extracts. Some lectins were discovered by their ability to agglutinate red blood cells in vitro and other lectins by investigating various cell-cell interaction phenomena (Sharon et al. 2004). Sugar binding proteins are present in animals and in humans and to date 79 lectin-like binding receptors have been described and they are divided in three subfamilies: C-type lectins, I-type lectin and galectins.



Figure 1.18: A) Reactivity of SM3 with O-glycoforms in malignancy. SM3 does not react with normal breast epithelium because the epitope is masked by the Core 2 glycans. B) T47D transfected with C2GnT1 loses SM3 reactivity on MUC1. a) the breast cancer cell line T47D does not express C2GnT1 and therefore the MUC1 expressed by these cells bind SM3; b) T47D transfection control; c) T47D transfected with C2GnT1 loses expression of SM3 (Dalziel et al. 2001).

C-type lectin receptors (CLRs) are calcium-dependent carbohydrate-binding proteins and consist of a large family of receptors (60-80). C-type lectins can be divided into two categories (which are further divided into other subfamilies): 1) the mannose-specific Ctype lectins (which contain an EPN (Glu-Pro-Asn) amino acid motif) have a specificity for mannose- and/or fucose-terminated glycans; 2) the galactose-specific C-type lectins (which contain the QPD (GIn-Pro-Asp) sequence in the CRD- carbohydrate-recognition domains) and recognize galactose-terminated or GalNAc terminated glycan structures (Zelensky & Gready, 2005). The C-type lectins have mainly been identifed on antigen presenting cells (APCs), such as macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs). For instance dendritic cells express DC-SIGN (dendritic cell-specific ICAM grabbing non-integrin), MGL (macrophage galactose-type C-type lectin) and dectin-1, which are involved in glycan-mediated pathogen recognition and internalization of antigen for loading on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and II molecules (Figdor et al. 2002). In general, C-type lectins can be expressed by mammalian cells or by pathogens, so they have dual function in host-pathogen recognition and immune cell responses (Weis et al. 1998).

I-type lectins are glycan-binding proteins with variable numbers of immunoglobulin domains. The Siglec family is the only well-characterized group of I-type lectins. Siglecs

are sialic acid-binding immunoglobulin-like lectins and can selectively recognize sialylated structures of specific linkages (α (2-3), α (2-6) or α (2-8)) (Crocker et al. 2007). There are 13 members in the siglec family and it can be divided into two types: CD33-related siglecs (Siglecs 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 and 14) and a group consisting of sialoadhesin (Siglec-1 or CD169), MAG (Siglec-4) and Siglec-2 (CD22). Siglecs are widely expressed on immune cells like neutrophils, monocytes, B cells, DCs, NK cells, eosinophils and basophils. Siglecs have a role in recognizing sialic acids on pathogens and, on the other hand, have a role in intercellular communication of immune cells (Crocker et al. 2007).

Galectins are a family of soluble lectins characterized by a common structural fold and a conserved CRD of about 130 AA, that recognize glycans containing the disaccharide *N*-acetyllactosamine (Gal- β (1-4)-GlcNAc) (Leffler et al. 2004). They (about 15 galectins have been identified in mammals) are classified in two main classes: 1) 'prototype' galectins' (galectins 1, 2, 5, 7, 10, 11, 13, 14 and 15) which have one CRD that can dimerize, 2) 'tandem-repeat galectins' (galectins 4, 6, 8, 9 and 12) which contain two homologous CRDs in a single polypeptide chain (Liu & Rabinovich, 2005). Galectin-3 is an exception to these two classes, since it contains a CRD connected to a non-lectin N-terminal region (about 120 amino acids) that is responsible for oligomerization of the lectin and ligand cross-linking (Nieminen et al. 2007). In the immune system galectins are expressed by activated macrophages, regulatory T cells and activated T and B cells (Liu & Rabinovich, 2005).

In this thesis lectins have been used to study the glycans found on the surface of breast cancer cell lines. The following two paragraphs will be dealing with some sialic-acid-binding lectins, plant lectins specific for Core1 and sialylated-Core1 and selectins, a c-type lectin subclass.

1.8.1 Lectins binding Core1/sialylated-Core1 and Neuraminidase.

There are two different lectins that bind with different affinities to α 2,3 sialylated glycans including Core1:

1) Maackia Amurensis agglutinin (MAA) derives from a leguminous seed and binds to $\alpha 2,3$ linked sialic acid (Loris et al. 2002). There are two types of MAA: a) Maakia amurensis leukoagglutinin (MAL), which binds Neu5Aca2,3Gal β 1,4GlcNAc with the best affinity and b) Maakia amuresis haemagglutinating (MAH), which is more specific for Neu5Ac2,3Gal β 1,3(Neu5Aca2,6) GlcNAc (Boyd et al. 1961);

2) Peanut agglutinin (PNA) from Arachis hypogaea, which binds specifically the Gal β -1-3-N-acetylgalactosamine (T antigen) structures and this binding is inhibited by the presence of sialic acid (Novogrodsky et al. 1975).

These lectins are used in combination with neuraminidase, glycoside hydrolase enzymes, responsible for the cleavage of sialic acid (Klenk & Uhlenbruck, 1957). The crystal structure for influenza neuraminidase was obtained in 1983 (von Itzstein et al. 1993), and since then, many other sialidases have been characterized from other sources like Arthrobacter ureafaciens (which hydrolizes NeuAc bound in $\alpha 2\rightarrow 3,6,8,9$), Streptococcus pneumoniae (which hydrolize NeuAc bound in $\alpha 2\rightarrow 3$), Vibrio cholerae (which hydrolize NeuAc bound in $\alpha 2\rightarrow 3$), Vibrio cholerae (which hydrolize NeuAc in $\alpha 2\rightarrow 3,6,8$), Clostridium perfringens (which hydrolize NeuAc in $\alpha 2\rightarrow 3,6$) (Taylor et al. 1996).

1.8.2 Selectins

This work focused on the control of glycosyltransferase by COX-2, an enzyme mainly involved in inflammation, on O-linked glycosylation. The selectins are sugar binding proteins involved in inflammation. The C-type lectins (Ca²⁺dependant lectins) involved in inflammation comprise of three members, E(ndothelial), L(eukocytes), and P(latelet)selectin (Lowe et al. 2002). E-selectin is expressed on endothelial cells during inflammation but it is constitutively expressed on the endothelial cells of the microvasculature of bone marrow and skin (Sackstein, 2004). P-selectin is displayed on activated endothelial surfaces and on platelets. L-selectin is expressed constitutively by lymphocytes and neutrophils, with the highest expression being by active cells, that facilitate trafficking into tissues (Ley et al. 2004). Sialyl-Lewis^x (sLe^x) and Sialyl-Lewis^a (sLe^a) on scaffold proteins such as PSGL-1, MadCAM and CD34 are recognized by these selectins. Binding to selectins is used by malignant cells, especially colonic, during the metastatic process (Ono & Hakomori, 2004), and sialyl-Lewis^x was shown to be expressed by breast cancers, where in the ER positive tumours high expression is associated with bone metastasis (Julien, Ivetic, Grigoriadis, QiZe, Burford, Sproviero et al. 2011).

1.9 Principles of inflammation and role in cancer.

Inflammation is the body's immediate response to infection or injury and its main function is to eliminate pathogens and toxins and to repair damaged tissue. These responses must be ordered and controlled. Inflammation is characterized by redness, swelling, heat and pain. These characteristics are due to increased blood flow and permeability across blood capillaries. The increased permeability of the blood capillaries allows leukocytes, antibodies and cytokines to migrate from the bloodstream into the surrounding tissue. The movement of leukocytes depends on the upregulation of adhesion molecules such as intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) and E, (P and L)-selectin (Kansas, 1996) on the surface of endothelial cells, allowing leukocyte binding and subsequent diapedesis. After the leukocytes reach the tissue interstitium, they bind to extracellular matrix proteins via expressed integrins and CD44 (Hidalgo et al. 2007). The first cells that appear at the inflammation site are granulocytes, monocytes/macrophages, all involved in pathogen killing and in tissue repair. Inflammation is initiated by several factors like bacteria, chemical injury etc. that induce the release of inflammatory mediators from leukocytes, monocytes and macrophages including cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-1, eicosanoids, such as PGE2; nitric oxide; matrix metalloproteinases; and other mediators (Calder et al. 2006; Paterson et al. 2003).

Chronic irritation and inflammation can give rise to tumorigenesis and induce apoptosis, migration of tumour cells and other neoplastic processes (Coussens et al. 2002). In the IX century Virchow hypothesized inflammation could enhance cell proliferation and that chronic inflammation could trigger cancer (Balkwill et al. 2001). In 1941 Rous recognized that cancer could initiate from viral and chemical carcinogens (Rous et al. 1941). This initiation is irreversible (since it causes irreversible DNA alterations) or can last in normal tissue until a second exposure to a carcinogen, that can be also a chemical irritant (eg.phorbol esters), hormones, chronic irritation and inflammation, occurs (Coussens et al. 2002).

It is estimated that more than 15% of malignancies is caused by infections (Kuper et al. 2000). In chronic inflammation leukocytes and other immune cells induce release of free radicals of oxygen and nitrogen species, which can induce DNA damage in proliferating cells. When this process of inflammation repeats there is a risk of permanent genomic alterations such as point mutations, deletions, or rearrangements (Maeda et al. 1998).

There are various examples of chronic inflammation that cause cancer. There is a strong association of inflammatory bowel diseases like chronic ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease with the development of colon cancer (Coussens et al. 2002). Patients with hepatitis C have higher risk of liver carcinoma; schistosomiasis is associated with bladder and colon carcinoma (Coussens et al. 2002) and Helicobacter pylori infection is the principle cause of stomach cancer (Ernst et al. 2000).

Additional evidence that inflammation is important during tumour development and progression is given by the study that aspirin and nonsteroidal anti- inflammatory drugs (NSAID) are associated with reduced risk of cancer (Garcia-Rodríguez et al. 2001; Agrawal et al. 2008;Takkouche et al. 2008), and are prophylactic for lung, oesophagus and stomach cancer (Baron et al. 2000;Garcia-Rodriguez et al. 2001). NSAIDs target and inhibit cyclooxygenases (COX-1 and -2). COX-2, in particular, is involved in inflammatory reactions and is overexpressed in cancer.

1.9.1 Cyclooxygenase and inflammation.

Cyclooxygenase (COX) or prostaglandin endoperoxidase synthase converts arachidonic acid into the unstable intermediate prostaglandin G2. Cyclooxygenase has two actions: 1) an endoperoxide synthase action, which converts the arachidonic acid (released from membrane phospholipids by phospholipase A2) into prostaglandin G2; 2) a peroxidase action that converts PGG₂ to PGH₂ (Wang & Dubois, 2006). Prostaglandin H2 is the precursor for several structurally related prostaglandins, like prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), prostaglandin D2 (PGD2), prostaglandin F2a (PGF2a), prostaglandin I2 (prostacyclin) and thromboxane-A2, which are formed by the action of specialized prostaglandin synthases (as shown in figure 1.19).

COX enzymes are the targets of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and in 1971 Vane and collaborators demonstrated that NSAIDs could inhibit prostaglandin formation and has in vivo anti-inflammatory activity (Vane, 1971). At present, three COX isoenzymes are known: COX-1, COX-2 and COX-3. COX-1 protein was discovered over 30 years ago and cloned in 1988. Daniel Simmons and collaborators discovered COX-2 in 1991 at Brigham Young University (Simmons et al. 1989, Xie et al. 1991).



Figure 1.19: Arachidonic acid cascade. (Botting 2004, Frontiers in Bioscience 9, 956-966)

Simmons's group discovered COX-3 in 2002. COX-3 is a splice variant of COX-1, which, in humans and rodents, has a frameshift mutation. For this reason, COX-3 encodes a protein with a completely different amino acid structure from COX-1 or COX-2 and does not have COX activity (Kis et al. 2005).

1.9.2 COX-1 and COX-2: similarities and differences.

COX-1 and COX-2 are encoded by two different genes (Reference Sequence: NM_080591.1 and NM_000963.2) on different chromosomes 9q32-q33.3 and 1q25.2q25.3. The sequence and the protein tertiary structure of the two isoforms are very similar. Numerous studies have shown that both COX-1 and COX-2 are located inside the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum and the nuclear envelope (Morita et al.1995). The proteins are of similar molecular weight (approximately 70 and 72 kDa respectively), highly homologous in sequence (60% identity at the amino acids level) and have nearly identical three-dimensional structure.

COX-1 and COX-2 are homodimers (Kurumbail et al. 2001) and have four common domains (identified by X-ray crystallography): amino-terminal signal, an epidermal

growth factor domain or dimerization domain, a membrane-binding motif, a catalytic domain.

1. **N-Amino Terminal Signal Peptide**. COX-2 amino-terminal signal peptide region is 17 amino acids long in all species and is less hydrophobic than the COX-1 peptide, which contains 4 or more leucines and isoleucines. The amino-terminal signal peptides are important in directioning COX-1 and COX-2 into the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum (HLa et al. 2002).

2. **Dimerization Domain**. COX-1 and COX-2 are dimers and each monomer has a dimerization domain, held together by hydrogen bonds and salt bridges. The dimerization domain consists of about 50 amino acids near the amino terminus. This domain has 3 disulphide bonds, resulting in a similar structure to epidermal growth factor structure.

3. **Membrane Binding Domain.** This region consists of 50 amino acids found just after the dimerization domain. It is composed of a tandem series of four amphipathic helices, which form a hydrophobic channel.

4. C-terminal Catalytic Domain. The carboxy-terminal is formed by 480 amino acid and it represents 80% of the protein (Simmons et al. 2004). The catalytic domain has two distinct lobes that are linked together: Cyclooxygenase Active Site and Peroxidase Active Site. The Cyclooxygenase Active Site catalizes the conversion of arachidonic acid to prostaglandin G2. This region is a hydrophobic dead-end channel and the entrance is surrounded by the four amphipathic helices of the membrane binding domain (Picot et al. 1994). Tyrosine 385 of the catalytic pocket activates arachidonyl radical that undergoes the cyclization/oxygenation reaction (Schneider et al. 2002). The Peroxidase Active Site reduces prostaglandin G2 to prostaglandin H2. This site contains a heme cofactor, which is linked via an iron-histidine bond (Malkowski et al. 2000). Arg-120, Glu-524 and Tyr-355 are part of the hydrogen-bonding network, which stabilizes substrate/inhibitor interactions. NSAIDs generally bind at the mouth of the COX channel between Tyr385 and Arg120 (Picot et al. 1994). The synthesized PGH2 is converted to prostaglandins (PGD2, PGE2, PGF_{2a}), prostacyclin (PGI2), or thromboxane A2 by different synthases (Hamberg et al. 1974). Although, COX-1 and COX-2 have a very similar structure, there are some important differences between those two isoforms.

Effect (Species)	COX Isoform
Inhibition of gastric acid secretion (rat)	COX-1
Inhibition of gastric acid secretion (mouse)	COX-1
Bicarbonate secretion/juxtamucosal pH gradient in stomach (mouse)	COX-1
Maintenance of mucosal surface hydrophobicity (mouse)	COX-1
Decreased epithelial permeability to acid (rat)	COX-1
Mucosal blood flow (rat)	COX-1
Ulcer healing (rat)	COX-2
Ulcer healing (mouse)	COX-2
Resistance to ischemia/reperfusion-induced gastric damage (mouse)	COX-2

Table 1.6 Action of COX-1 and COX-2 in the stomach. (Wallace JL. 2008)

COX-1 and COX-2 are N-linked glycosylated. COX-1 is glycosylated at three asparagines, whereas COX-2 may be glycosylated at up to four asparagines. (Nemeth et al., 2001). Glycosyl moieties are of the high mannose type. The glycosylation on COX-1 promotes the right protein folding and it is essential for COX-1 catalitic activity (Otto et al., 1993).

COX-2 is frequently observed in two or three glycosylated states according to Western Blot and mass spectrometry results analysis (Nemeth et al., 2001). The most common form of COX-2 is the glycosylated form at Asn⁵⁸⁰ (74 kDa) and the unglycosylated (72 kDa). Sevigny et al. demonstrated that COS cells expressing COX-2 glycosylated form at Asn⁵⁸⁰ have five times less COX-2 activity than cells expressing the not glycosylated COX-2. Thus, COX-2 turnover appears to depend upon glycosylation of the 72kDa glycoform (Sevigny et al. 2006).

COX-1 is the constitutive isoform and its expression does not change under physiological and pathological conditions. The prostaglandins, produced by COX-1, play a central role in many physiological processes, like cytoprotection of the stomach, vasodilatation in the kidney, and production of a proaggregatory prostanoid, thromboxane, by the platelets (Fitzpatrick et al. 2001). It was shown that COX-1 is the dominant isoform, regulating the relatively alkaline pH at the gastric luminal surface in mouse stomach (Baumgartner et al. 2004). Table 1.6 shows how COX-1 is involved in stomach cytoprotection and how COX-2 is involved in ulcer healing and resistance in ischemia induced gastric damage.

COX-2 is normally not expressed in most cells and tissues (apart from some parts of the brain, kidneys, ovaries) and its expression, induced by cytokines and growth factors, is responsible for the high production of prostaglandins during inflammation (Wang, 2006). In fact, according to the 'COX-2 hypothesis'—the "inflammatory prostaglandins" derive principally from COX-2, while prostaglandins important in homeostatic roles, like the protection of the gastrointestinal mucosa, are derived from COX-1 (Fries et al. 2005). So, the inhibition of all prostaglandins and of thromboxanes by COX-1 and COX-2 inhibitors, (like aspirin, ibuprofen, diclofenac etc) explains the typical side effects of NSAIDs like, gastrointestinal toxicity, ulcer perforation etc.



Figure 1.20: Actions of the two known isoforms of COX (PGHS). The hypothesis stemming from this scheme is that the therapeutic effects of drugs, such as aspirin, are due to inhibition of COX-2 whereas the unwanted side effects (and the action on platelets) stem from inhibition of COX-1. (Vane 1994)

Secondly, COX-2 has a hydrophobic "side pocket", created by Valine -523, hydrogen bonds to Arginin-513 and the peptide bond of Phenylalanine-518. This pocket is not present in COX-1, since the Val-523 is substituted by an isoleucine at position 523, that creates steric hindrance (Kurumbail et al.1996). The presence of the "side pocket", created by Val-523, allows the design of inhibitors selective for COX-2. These selective inhibitors block COX-2 with high affinity, but are too big to fit into the COX-1 catalytic domain (see figure 1.21). This overcomes the major side effects of the non-selective inhibitors of COX-2, which block the production of the good prostanoids from COX-1. This class of NSAIDs is called "second generation COXIBs" and comprises etoricoxib, lumiracoxib, rofecoxib, valdecoxib, celecoxib.

1.9.3 Prostaglandins and Cyclooxygenase

A prostaglandin is a lipid compound containing 20 carbon atoms including a 5 carbon ring and are derived enzymatically from fatty acids and, in particular, from arachidonic acid. Goldblatt and von Euler were the first to extract prostaglandins from semen, prostate, and seminal vesicles in the 1930s. Between 1950s and 1960s Bergström and collaborators purified the first prostaglandin isomers and identified that arachidonic acid is the precursor of prostaglandins. Samuelsson and colleagues identified the cyclooxygenase reaction that catalyzes the production of PGG₂ from arachidonic acid (Hamberg & Samuelsson, 1973).

Prostaglandins are classified into types A to I, however type A, B, C are not found in nature and are only produced artificially. PGH2 and PGG2 have the same structure but PGG2 has a hydroperoxy instead of a hydroxy group on the C15. As said above, the most important products of cyclooxygenase pathway are PGI2, PGD2, TXA2, PGE2 and PGF2 α (Narumiya et al. 1999).



Figure 1.21: COX-1 and COX-2 substrate-binding channels. A, Nonselective inhibitors have access to the binding channels of both isoforms. B, The more voluminous residues in COX-1, lle434, His513, and lle532, obstruct access of the bulky side chains of the coxibs (Grosser et al. 2006).

PGI₂ is a mediator of oedema and pain and is found after tissue injury or inflammation.It causes vasodilatation, inhibition of platelets aggregation, rennin natriuresis.PGD₂ causes vasodilatation, inhibition of platelet aggregation, uterine and

gastrointestinal relaxation. $PGF_2\alpha$ is a mediator of myometral contraction in humans.

TXA₂ has vasoconstriction, bronchoconstriction, platelets aggregation effect and it is mainly produced by COX-1 (Mukherjee et al. 2001). PGE₂ can have different effects depending on the receptor it binds. There are four PGE₂ receptors (EP receptors) that can be expressed in different tissues. If PGE₂ binds to EP₁ there is contraction of bronchial and gastrointestinal smooth muscle; if it binds to EP₂ or EP₄ it causes bronchodilatation, vasodilatation, relaxation of GI smooth muscle; binding EP₃ causes inhibition of gastric acid secretion, contraction of intestinal muscle and stimulation of contraction of the uterus in pregnant women (Rang & Dale 2003).

In summary, prostaglandins are important pathological mediators, since they are implicated in inflammation, pain, pyrexia, cancer, glaucoma, male sexual dysfunction, osteoporosis, cardiovascular disease and asthma (Abramovitz et al.1998). They are also important in physiological functions such as homeostatis of the gastrointestinal tract, renal function, blood clotting, embryonic implantation and parturition (Simmons et al. 2004).

Considering that they are lipids, prostanoids are transported through a prostaglandin transporter across biological membranes. Bao et al. only ten years ago found the first known PG transporter in rats (Bao et al. 2002). The half-life of most prostaglandin is very short (between 30 seconds and 1 minute). Once prostanoids are uptaken by the carrier, there is a rapid inactivation by several intracellular enzymes, like 15-hydroprostaglandin dehydrogenase (15-PGDH). The best substrate for 15-PGDH is PGE₂ and PGF₂ α . There are two isoforms of 15-PGDH: one is found in most organs of the body (including lung, GI tract, kidney, heart) and it needs NAD⁺ as a cofactor, while the second isoform is mainly in the kidney, brain and erythrocytes and the cofactor is NADP⁺. The metabolites are secreted in the urine (Rang & Dale 2003).

1.9.4 Prostanoid receptors

There are two DP receptors (DP₁ and DP₂) for PGD2, two IP receptors (IP₁ and IP₂) for PGI2, one TP for TXA2, one FP for PGF2 α and four EP receptors for PGE2. The prostanoid receptors are all G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) and have seven-transmembrane regions, an extracellular N terminus, an intracellular C terminus, and three interhelical loops on each side of the membrane.

G proteins are composed by three subunits: α , β , γ . The α subunit, with its enzymatic activity, converts GTP (Guanine nucleotide) to GDP. The β and γ subunits are very hydrophobic and so they remain associated with each other within the cytoplamic mem-

brane. When an agonist binds a G coupled receptor protein, the cytoplasmic domain of the receptor acquires high affinity with the α , β , γ subunits, which, at this stage, bind a molecule of GDP. When the receptor is activated, GTP replaces GDP and the α -GTP complex dissociates from the $\beta\gamma$ subunits. α -GTP complex is the active G protein, which in turn, activates or inactivates other ion channels or enzymes (eg.like adenylate cyclase). The complex gets inactivated, when GTP is hydrolysed to GDP by the GTPase activity of the α unit, and this allows the α subunit to reassociate with $\beta\gamma$ and start a new cycle (Lodish et al. 2000, Rang & Dale 2003).

There are different G-proteins that interact with specific receptors and effectors: adenylate cyclase, phospholipase C, Rho family GTPase. There are four types of Gproteins: G_s, G_{i/0}, G_{0/11}, G_{12/13}. The G_s activates plasma membrane adenylyl cyclases, increasing cellular cyclic AMP (cAMP). Gi/0 inhibits adenylyl cyclases, decreasing cellular cAMP. The level of cytosolic cAMP may then determine the activity of various ion channels as well as members of the Ser/Thr specific Protein Kinase A (PKA) family. $G_{\alpha/11}$ activates phospholipase C β (PLC β), which cleaves phosphatidylinositol 4,5biphosphate (PIP₂) at the plasma membrane, and generates inositol (1,4,5)trisphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DAG) that releases Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores and activates phosphorylation by protein kinase C. IP₃ acts on IP₃ receptors on the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to elicit Ca²⁺ release from the ER, while DAG diffuses along the plasma membrane where it may activate Protein Kinase C (PKC). Since many isoforms of PKC are also activated by increases in intracellular Ca^{2+} , these pathways can converge on each other to signal through the same secondary effector. The effectors of the G_{12/13} pathway are three RhoGEFs (p115-RhoGEF, PDZ-RhoGEF, and LARG), which, when bound to G_{12/13} allosterically, activate the cytosolic small GTPase, Rho.

Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) is the most abundant prostanoid in the human body and it has various functions in reproduction, neuronal, metabolic, and immune systems. PGE2 action is mediated via four receptors (EP₁, EP₂, EP₃, EP₄) with different signalling pathways. EP₁ is mainly a G_q coupled receptor with phospholipase C signalling through Ca²⁺; EP₂ and EP₄ are G_s coupled receptors signalling through adenylyl cyclases; EP₃ instead is mainly a G_i coupled protein and inhibits adenylyl cyclases, decreasing cellular cAMP. The EP₂ and EP₄ receptors stimulates of cyclic AMP (cAMP) and protein kinase A (PKA) (Ichikawa et al. 2010). However EP₂ is more efficient than EP₄ in inducing cAMP probably because EP₄, unlike EP₂, can also activate Phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K) through G_i (Fujino & Regan. 2006). EP₂ and EP₄ differ also in their sensitivity to PGE2 and EP₄ is desensitized after short-term exposure (Nishigaki et al. 1996). The EP₃ and EP₄ receptors are found throughout the body, (Honda et al.1993), while EP1 is expressed only in the kidney, lung, and stomach(Rang & Dale 2003). EP2 is the least expressed of the EP receptors, but it is induced by different stimuli, like LPS in a macrophage cell line and gonadotropins in the uterus (Katsuyama et al. 1997, Katsuyama et al. 1998). EP₁ and EP₃ have alternative mRNA splice variants while EP₃ has eight different isoforms in humans and it can associate with G_i, G_s, G_q, and G_{12/13} (Israel & Regan et al. 2009).

This is summarized in table 1.7 (Narumiya et al. 1999). The EPs are G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), so they have seven-transmembrane α helices, an extracellular N terminus and intracellular C terminus.

Receptor	Coupled G protein	Signal
EP1	G _{q/11} , (G _i)	↑ IP ₃ /DAG/Ca ²⁺
EP2	G _s	↑ cAMP
EP3	G _i , (G _s , G _{q/11} , G _{12/13})	↑ cAMP ↓IP ₃ /DAG/Ca ²⁺
EP4	G _s	↑ cAMP

 Table 1.7: Classification of the prostanoid EP receptors for PGE2 and signalling pathway.

1.9.5 Synthetic Cyclooxygenase Inhibitors-Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory

The principal mechanism of action of NSAIDs (Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs) is to target cyclooxygenase. This class includes nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory, nonsteroidal analgesics and antipyretic (fever-reducing) drugs. The first NSAID discovered was aspirin. The active ingredient is a compound called salicilin, which is present in the willow tree. Although the salicilin was discovered in the XIX century by Leroux and it was introduced on the market by Bayer with the name Aspirin, bark and leaves of the willow tree were used by Hippocrates (460-377 B.C.) to heal pain and fevers. At the end of the 19th century other drugs with the same anti-inflammatory properties of the aspirin were discovered. In 1963 indomethacin was introduced as a cure for the rheumatoid arthritis and many other compounds with similar actions have

been introduced in the last few years, including the latest COX-2 selective inhibitors (COXIBs) (Rao & Knaus, 2008).

NSAIDs differ in how quickly they bind the COX active site and how they are released from the COX channel. Traditional NSAIDs (tNSAIDs), ie. nonselective inhibitors for COX-1 and COX-2, have three different modes of binding: 1) reversible binding (eg: ibuprofen), 2) slowly reversible binding-time-dependent, (eg: fluorbiprofen, indomethacin), 3) irreversible binding caused by a covalent modification of the enzyme (eg: aspirin) (Marnett et al. 1998). Furthermore, NSAIDs can be classified based on their chemical structure: a) Salicylates (aspirin, diflunisal), b) Propionic acid derivatives (Naproxen, Ibuprofen, Ketoprofen etc.), c) Acetic acid derivatives (indomethacin, diclofenac etc), d) Enolic acid (Oxicam) derivatives (Piroxicam, Meloxicam), e) Fenamic acid derivatives (Mefenamic acid, Meclofenamic acid etc.), f) Sulphonanilides (Nimesulide), g) selective COX-2 inhibitors (COXIBs) (Celecoxib, Parecoxib, Rofecoxib, Valdecoxib etc.).

As reported in the previous section, selective inhibitors of COX-2, the COXIBs, were developed to avoid or at least decrease the risk of gastrointestinal complications. Selective COX-2 inhibitors bind tightly to the COX-2 active site (Rao et al. 2008) and valdecoxib and rofecoxib are about 300 times more potent at inhibiting COX-2 than COX-1, while, Celecoxib is approximately 30 times more potent at inhibiting COX-2 than COX-1. Table 1.8 shows IC50 for COX-1 and COX-2 for selective and non-selctive COX-2 inhibitors.

Some patients using COXIBs reported superior pain relief compared to that experienced on traditional nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (tNSAIDs). This was not true for all patients and the clinical response to a particular NSAID vary from patient to patient (Fries et al. 2005). Even if gastrointestinal side effects decreased, COXIBs (rofecoxib, valdecoxib, and celecoxib) are associated with increased incidence of cardiovascular complications like stroke, myocardial infarction (Cannon et al. 2006; FitzGerald et al. 2004). Since COX-2 is the predominant source of vascular prostacyclin (PGI2) (important for vasodilatation and inhibition of platelets) and TXA2 (cause of vasoconstriction, bronchoconstriction, platelets aggregation) is mainly produced by COX-1, selective inhibition of COX-2 alters the balance of PGI2 and TXA2 synthesis more than tNSAIDs. This is the most frequently proposed mechanism to explain the adverse prothrombotic effects of COXIBs (Rabausch et al. 2005, Cheng et al. 2002).

Drug	IC ₅₀ COX-1 (μM)	IC ₅₀ COX-2 (µM)	Ratio IC ₅₀ COX-2/COX-1
Nonselective for COX-2			
Piroxicam	0.0005	0.3	600
Aspirin	1.67	278	166
Indomethacin	0.028	1.68	60
Diclofenac	1.57	1.1	0.7
6-MNA ^a	278	187	0.67
Selective for COX-2			
Etodolac	34	3.4	0.1
Meloxicam	4.8	0.43	0.09
Nimesulide	9.2	0.52	0.06
SC58125	38.7	0.27	0.007
NS398	16.8	0.10	0.006
L-745, 337	369	1.5	0.004
Celecoxib	15	0.04	0.003
DFU	>50	0.04	< 0.001

Table 1.8: Comparison of nonsteroid anti-inflammatory drugs for their selectivity towards COX-1 and COX-2 (Vane et al. 1998)

Celecoxib Long-term Arthritis Safety Study (CLASS; 8059 patients) confirmed that COXIB drugs are associated with an increased risk of thrombotic cardiovascular events (myocardial infarction, unstable angina, cardiac thrombus, resuscitated cardiac arrest, sudden or unexplained death, ischemic stroke, and transient ischemic attacks) (Mukherjee et al. 2001).

COXIBs represent a cardiovascular hazard, so, on FDA recommendation, Rofecoxib and Valdecoxib were withdrawn from the market by Merck and Pfizer (the pharmaceutical companies that first marketed these drugs) (FDA, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, 2008). Celecoxib is the only and the best selling COXIB on the market (Fries et al. 2005). Epidemiological and experimental studies have reported that COXIBs can reduce the risk of colonic tumors (Steinbach et al. 2000).

The FDA (Food and Drug Administration) approved the use of Celebrex (Celecoxib) in patients with familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP). Because of the increased risk of cardiovascular (CV) diseases, COXIBs may be best suited for use by young patients (with a reduced risk of CV diseases) with familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) (Garcia Rodriguez et al. 2012).

However in a meta-analysis of randomised trials in patients receiving celecoxib, there was no increased cardiovascular risk with celecoxib relative to placebo. Furthermore, it was demonstrated that there was a comparable rate of cardiovascular risk both with the use of celecoxib and nonselective NSAIDS (White, 2007). So the association of

increased cardiovascular risk with COXIBs is still controversial and there are various clinical trials using Celecoxib for different diseases (see section 1.10.1).

1.9.6 Inducers of COX-2 expression.

The human COX-2 gene is on chromosome 1 q25.2–q25.38 (Khuri et al 2001). It is approximately 8.3 kb long and comprises 10 exons (Appleby et al. 1994). The promoter region of the COX-2 gene was well characterized. Xie and Herschman (1995) showed that the cAMP response element (CRE) on the promoter was critical for transcription (Xie & Herschman, 1995). Sequence analysis of the 5'-flanking region revealed several potential transcription regulator elements like the cAMP response element (CRE), the C/EBP-NF-IL6 ("CAAT/enhancer binding protein"), NFAT ("nuclear factor of activated T cells") and NF κ B ("nuclear factor kappa B cells") sites (see figure 1.22), the E-box, SP1 (Crofford et al.1997; Herschman et al.1997; Sirois & Richards, 1993; Diaz-Munoz et al. 2012). CRE and AP-1 binding regions are located at –60 to –40 from the transcription start site and overlap with CRE binding protein (CREB), ATF, C/EBP, C-Jun, C-Fos, and USF binding sites (Schroer et al. 2002) (shown in figure 1.22).

There are several inducers of COX-2 expression. Bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) was the first to be identified (Lee et al. 1992). This factor can activate COX-2 through several pathways like MEK/ERK and the TRAF6/NIK/Tpl2/IKK/NFkB pathway (Chen et al. 2005). Several cytokines such as IL-1 or IFN- γ (Caivano et al. 2000) and several growth factors including IGF (by PI3Kinase and Src/ERK), TGF α and EGF (through p38MAPK, ERK1/2 and PI3K pathways) can induce COX-2 expression (Chun et al. 2004). Moreover, UVB was shown to induce COX-2 mRNA using cancer cells signalling through CREB, ATF1, p38MAPK and PI3K (Bachelor et al. 2005). Glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3) phosphorylates/inactivates β -catenin, leading to inhibition of the transcription factor TCF4, which regulates COX-2 transcription (Dihlmann et al. 2003). Cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) is also induced by p53 and DNA damage through Ras/Raf/MAPK cascade (Han et al. 2002).



Figure 1.22: Structure of the human COX-2 promoter region. Transcription factor binding sites in the 5'-flanking sequences (promoter) of the human Cox-2 gene (Diaz-Munoz et al. 2012).

1.9.7 TPA induction of COX-2.

The phorbol ester TPA is another COX-2 inducer. TPA (12-O-Tetradecanoylphorbol-13acetate) a tetracyclic diterpenoid, is a tumor promoter. TPA mimics the action of diacyl glycerol (DAG), an activator of protein kinase C, which regulates different signal transduction pathways and other cellular metabolic activities. TPA can influence the cell cycle. In a study on HeLa cell lines, it was seen that TPA blocked G2 phase of cell cycle (Kinzel et al. 1984). Using guinea pigs, TPA was shown to cause inflammation and epidermal hyperproliferation, by inducing DNA synthesis through prostaglandin activation, especially prostaglandin E (Bourin et al. 1982). However, TPA in high concentrations can be toxic and results in death of animals, reduced milk yield and reproduction (Forsyth et al.1968). TPA increases binding of CREB-2, C-Jun, and C-Fos to the CRE/AP-1 region and C/EBP β to the C/EBP element at –124 to –132 of human COX-2 (Schroer et al. 2002; Saunders et al. 2001). In breast cancer cell lines, turmerone, a natural remedy with anti-inflammatory property, suppressed the TPAinduced up-regulation of COX-2 expression, by blocking NF- κ B, PI3K/Akt and ERK1/2 signalling (Park et al. 2012).

Another mechanism of TPA induction of COX-2 involves PKC pathway. In glioblastoma cells, activation of protein kinase C (PKC) and extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs) are involved in TPA-induced migration/invasion, COX-2 protein expression, and MMP-9 activation (see figure 1.23) (Chiu et al. 2010). The epidermis of TPA-treated mice, overexpressing PKC α , displayed increased expression of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) compared to TPA treated wild type mice (Wang & Smart 1999). TNF- α induces COX-2 expression via activation of ERK1/2 and NF κ B (Nakao et al. 2002), but can also induce its expression through the PKC pathway. In pulmonary carcinoma cells, a protein kinase C (PKC) inhibitor, staurosporine, attenuated TNF- α or TPA induced COX-2 promoter activity, whereas overexpression of PKC α induced COX-2 promoter activity (Huang et al. 2003).



Figure 1.23: TPA induction of COX-2 expression.TPA binds to PKC and activates MEK1/2, PI3K/AKT, p38 MAPK, JNK, all of which can activate COX-2.

1.10 COX-2 in breast cancer.

Increased levels of COX-2 were reported in carcinomas of the colon (Eberhart et al. 1994), stomach (Ristimaki et al. 1997), esophagus (Zimmermann et al. 1999), lung (Hida et al. 1999), liver (Koga et al. 1999) and pancreas (Tucker et al. 1999). Moreover, COX-2 was found to be overexpressed in about 40% of cases of invasive breast carcinoma (associated with unfavorable distant disease-free survival) (Ristimaki et al. 2002) and at a higher frequency in preinvasive ductal carcinoma in situ (Boland et al. 2004). COX-1 is ubiquitously expressed in mammary tissues, while COX-2 expression was observed confined to the tumor epithelium (Simmons et al. 2004). COX-2 mediates its deleterious effects via prostaglandin synthesis. In particular, PGE2 was observed in high levels in breast tumor cells and it is synthesized by several human breast cancer cell lines (Schrey et al. 1995). PGE2 is an immunosuppressive agent and can, therefore, contribute to the evasion of tumour-specific immune responses. It was demonstrated that PGE2 shifts the tumour immune response from Th1 to Th2 (Luft et al. 2002), by downregulating Th1 cytokines (TNF- α , interferon- γ and IL-2) and increasing the secretion by dendritic cells of Th2 cytokines (IL-4, IL-10 and IL-6).

COX-2 overexpression in human breast cancers is associated with factors causing poor prognosis, such as overexpression of HER2 and overexpression of aromatase (Ranger et al. 2004; Brueggemeier et al. 1999). Overexpression of HER2 can induce COX-2 transcription in different breast cancer cell lines (Subbaramaiah et al. 2002; Half et al. 2002). Both HER2 and COX-2 are expressed at high frequencies in DCIS and so the combined targeting of COX-2 and HER-2 was suggested as a potential strategy to prevent progression of DCIS (Boland et al. 2004). It was also demonstrated that

prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) can stimulate aromatase activity and estrogen biosynthesis in the surrounding adipose tissue (Purohit et al. 2002 a; Purohit et al. 2002 b) and EP₁ and EP₂ selective antagonists decreased aromatase activity (Richards et al. 2003). Local estrogen production by breast tumors is considered to be an important mechanism by which tumors develop, evolve, and possibly metastasize (Purohit et al. 2002a).

Ristimaki et al. observed that elevated expression of COX-2 in ER-positive tumors is also associated with poor survival (Ristimaki et al. 2002), and Díaz-Cruz that COX-2 inhibitors decreased aromatase mRNA and activity in breast cancer cells (Díaz-Cruz et al. 2005). The use of combined COX-2 and aromatase inhibitor was more effective than the single agent used alone in decreasing aromatase activity and, consequently, estradiol production (Prosperi and Robertson, 2006). So, it is possible that elevated COX-2 expression in ER-positive cancers could enhance estrogen production via the aromatase pathway in the stromal cells and cause tumorigenesis and poor survival. However, there are conflicting reports as Ristimaki et al. found that elevated levels of COX-2 are associated with negative and positive hormone receptor status (Ristimaki et al. 2002), Zerkowski et al. found a correlation with negative ER status (Zerkowski et al. 2007), while Ranger did not find any correlation (Ranger et al. 2004).

In breast cancer cells, COX-2 may contribute to the enhancement of lymph node metastasis and distant metastasis. Lymph node metastasis is associated with high expression of VEGF-C (vascular endothelial growth factor) and the prostaglandin EP₁ and EP₄ receptors are involved in COX-2 mediated VEGF-C up-regulation (Su et al. 2004). COX-2 up-regulates, via EP₂ and EP₄ receptors, CCR7 (a chemokine receptor associated with breast cancer metastasis) expression in breast cancer cells. It regulates matrix metalloproteinase expression, which can digest the extracellular matrix and the basement membrane (Pan et al. 2008). Gene expression analyses and mouse model systems revealed correlations between COX-2 overexpression and breast cancer metastasis to the lung, bone, and brain (Singh et al. 2007; Minn et al. 2005; Bos et al. 2009). Moreover, COX-2 overexpression, in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell line, increases their motility and invasion (Singh et al. 2005), while silencing of COX-2 inhibits migration of this line in vitro and metastasis in vivo (Stasinopoulos et al. 2007).

COX-2 is also involved in angiogenesis and in migration of endothelial cells. Angiogenesis is the formation of new blood vessels from preexisting ones and it is important in tumorigenesis for cell growth and metastasis (Costa et al. 2002). In COX-2 knockout mice, the expression level of angiogenesis-related genes (*VEGF*, *Ang1*, and *Flt1*) in the mammary glands was found significantly reduced compared to that found in COX-2 wild-type (Howe et al. 2005). PGE2 stimulates VEGF secretion through the

stimulation of ERK2/JNK1 signalling pathways in endothelial cells (Pai et al. 2001) and in ovarian cancer cells the EP₂/EP₄ receptors have been shown to be involved (Spinella et al. 2004). Moreover, Timoshenko et al. demonstrated that VEGF production could be blocked by EP₁ and EP₄ inhibition in several human breast cancer cell lines (Timoshenko et al. 2003). However, other studies suggested that EP₃ receptor could play a role in angiogenesis. In a model that can mimic tumor-stromal angiogenesis, an EP₃ agonist, ONO-AEI-248, increased angiogenesis in a dose dependent manner and, in EP₃ knockout mice, angiogenesis was significantly reduced compared to wild-type mice (Amano et al. 2003). Celecoxib was shown to decrease tumor angiogenesis (reducing functional vessel density) and to reduce the growth of a variety of experimental primary tumors, including colorectal, prostate, and breast tumors (Klenke et al. 2006).

COX-2 can suppress apoptosis and inhibit the apoptosis mechanism, caused by some anti cancer drugs (Chang et al. 2001). Apoptosis (programmed cell death) is essential to mantain tissue homeostasis and any failure in this mechanism can cause excessive cell survival, essential for tumorigenesis (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). There are many mechanisms by which cancer cells can evade apoptosis and one of them is the overexpression of Bcl-2 protein, that can inactivate the apoptotic caspase cascade upstream of the mitochondria (Danial & Korsmeyer, 2004). It was shown that in transgenic mice overexpressing the human COX-2 gene in the mammary gland, there were reduced levels of the proapoptotic proteins Bax and Bcl-x_L and an increase of Bcl-2, suggesting that enhanced COX-2 expression is sufficient to inhibit apoptosis and induce mammary gland tumorigenesis. Therefore, inhibition of COX-2 may represent a mechanism-based chemopreventive approach for carcinogenesis (Liu et al. 2001). Indeed, the cell apoptosis induced by celecoxib in a mouse mammary tumour was associated with an activation of antiapoptotic/prosurvival kinase (Akt) and increased expression of proapoptotic protein Bax (Basu et al. 2004).

1.10.1 NSAIDs and breast cancer.

COX-2 expression associated with cancer is considered a possible target for breast cancer chemoprevention and therapy. Studies that examined the correlation between risk of breast cancer and use of NSAIDs, like aspirin and ibuprofen, published between 1966 and 2008, were analyzed by meta-analysis. Among 38 identified studies (including about 3 million people), it was found that NSAIDs are associated with

reduced risk of breast cancer (Takkouche et al. 2008; Agrawal et al. 2008). These meta-analyses included the study of Harris et al. that showed a reduced risk of breast cancer in 66% of women using ibuprofen and aspirin for more than one year (Harris et al. 1996). A reduction in incidence of breast cancer was shown in patients taking aspirin and other NSAIDs in two studies from Schreinemachers and Everson and Sharpe et al. (Schreinemachers & Everson, 1994; Sharpe et al. 2000). For its cardiovascular benefit and efficacy data, aspirin is the most likely NSAID for chemoprevention in cancer (Cuzick et al. 2009).



Figure 1.24 Design of phase III clinical trial REACT (Randomised European Celecoxib Trial). This diagram was taken from the website <u>http://www1.imperial.ac.uk/surgery</u> andcancer/divisionofcancer/cancer/ccb/iccg/react/

A multicentre phase III clinical trial, the Randomised European Celecoxib Trial (REACT), is now underway for women with breast cancers that are either node positive or high-risk node negative. Patients are randomized and either receive two years of Celecoxib or placebo. Women with tumours that are estrogen or progesterone receptor positive receive tamoxifen, followed by exemestane for a total of 5 years. Coombes et al. showed that there is a reduction in the death rate in women ER positive, who received sequential exemestane (p=0.05) (Coombes et al. 2007).
1.11 Glycosylation and inflammation.

Functions of glycans in inflammation are well defined. As said above, L-selectin is expressed by most leukocytes, whereas E-selectin and P-selectin are expressed by inflamed endothelial cells and they are adhesion molecules for granulocytes, monocytes and T lymphocytes (Carlos et al. 1991). L-selectin, P-selectin and E-selectin recruit lymphocytes to sites of inflammation, and mediate the initial interaction of the leukocytes with the endothelial surface. The selectins bind to SLe^x, carried on specific protein or lipid backbones, and binding slows down the flow of lymphocytes allowing them to roll along the endothelial surface and bind to adhesion molecules, such as integrins. This allows their movement into the tissues, which is induced by chemokines (Ley et al. 1995). L-selectin, P-selectin and E-selectin interact with P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 (PSGL1) (McEver et al. 1997) and other glycosylated ligands (CD44 and E-selectin ligand 1 (ESL1) (Hidalgo et al. 2007).

The Sialyl Lewis x (sLex)-like glycans are expressed in relatively high numbers by circulating leukocytes and endothelial cells in the lymph nodes and in the endothelium of inflamed tissues (Varki et al. 1997). Munro et al. performed an analysis of sLex expression on leukocytes, monocytes and other cells in the context of inflammatory and immune processes. They analysed tissues from inflammatory disease (like appendicitis, sinovium rheumatoid, chronic dermatitis, psoriasis) and from secondary lymphoid tissues. A substantial number of monocytes/macrophages in inflamed appendiceal synovial and dermal tissues reacted with a SLex antibody (CSLEXI) compared to the uninflamed sites (Munro et al. 1992). Furthermore, other monoclonal antibodies to SLex, such as MECA-79 (which share similar specificity to L-selectin) or PNAd, which reacted with the endothelium of chronically inflamed tissues, were used (Kannagi et al. 2002; Rosen et al. 1999). Inhibitors for leukocyte migration into inflamed tissues (inhibitors for selectins and for the biosynthesis of their ligands) constitute an attractive target for anti-inflammatory therapy. Therapeutics that block selectins like selectin inhibitor PSGL-1 (Khor et al. 2000) or inhibitors of the glycosyltransferases (Chen et al. 2011; Lee et al. 2003) are presently under development. However, selectins and some glycosyltransferase are present in various part of the body, so an inhibitor would face multivalent and low-affinity interactions in vivo.

Very importantly, Kaneko et al demonstrated that IgG (immunoglobulins G) acquires anti-inflammatory properties with the sialylation of the constant domain (Fc) of immunoglobulins. Sialylation is reduced upon the induction of an antigen-specific immune response (Kaneko et al. 2006).

Some non-invasive diagnostics for sites of chronic inflammation (like inflammatory diabetes), prior to the presentation of clinical symptoms, are in the process of development. Denis et al. have reported a diagnostic for inflammatory diabetes that targets leaky vasculature, an early event in this kind of disease (Denis et al. 2004). This method consists of imaging the expression of L-selectin ligands, which probably precedes inflammatory tissue damage. Sibson et al. reported a strategy for the early detection of inflammation in the brain: an MRI-contrast reagent coupled to an sLex mimetic that binds E-selectin (Sibson et al. 2004). Understanding the early changes in glycosylation can actually improve strategies for early detection and cure of inflammatory diseases.

1.12 PGE2 changes the expression of C2GnT1 and ST3Gal-I.

The idea for this study arose from the findings of Julien et al., which reported that PGE2 changes the expression of glycosyltransferases expressed by dendritic cells: C2GnT1 was rapidly down regulated and the ST3Gal-I was up-regulated (Julien et al. 2007). Prostaglandin E2 is fundamental during monocytes derived dendritic cells (MoDC) maturation and triggers the migration of these cells from the tissue to the lymph node-derived induced by chemokines (Kalinski et al. 1998). PGE2 signals in human MoDCs through EP₂ or EP₄ either alone or in combination (Legler et al. 2006). It is reported that dendritic cells express all EP receptors (Harizi et al. 2003).

There are a few studies on the interaction between glycosyltransferases and COX-2/PGE2 pathway in colorectal and prostate cancer that associate PGE2/COX-2 pathway with ST3Gal-I expression (Hatano et al. 2011; Kakiuchi et al. 2002). Kakiuchi et al. showed that, in epithelial colorectal adenocarcinoma cells, COX-2 overexpression or PGE2 treatment reduced ST3Gal-I expression, while Celecoxib (COX-2 selective inhibitor) increased its expression (Kakiuchi et al. 2002). In contrast, Hatano et al. showed that in castration-resistant prostate cancer cell lines, PC3 and DU145 cells, the expression of ST3Gal-I could be mildly induced by phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate (TPA), and TPA-induced expression of ST3Gal-I could be inhibited by NF-κB decoy oligodeoxynucleotides (ODN) (Hatano et al. 2011).

As PGE2 is the main metabolite of COX-2, an enzyme overexpressed in invasive breast cancer, and PGE2 can influence the expression of the glycosyltransferases C2GnT1, and ST3Gal-I in DCs, this study aims to investigate the role of PGE2/COX-2 pathway in the regulation of glycosyltransferases (GT) in breast cancer. To our

knowledge this is the first study investigating the interaction between COX-2 and the two glycosyltransferases ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 in breast cancer.

Chapter 2 Materials and Method.

2.1 Material.

a) Cell culture.

T47D, MDA-MB-231, SKBr3 and ZR75-1 (human breast cancer cell lines) were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium containing 10% fetal calf serum (FCS) and P/S (pen/strep) and glutamine. MCF7(human) was cultured in the same medium with the addition of 10% insulin. Cell cultures were grown at 37° C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO2. Cells were mainly plated in either T-80 flasks or 6 well plates and grown to subconfluency. Before treatment, the media was changed every two days.

b) Tissue samples.

All tissue samples used were from the Guy's and St. Thomas' Breast Tissue & Data Bank and had been approved for use in this study in accordance with their NHS REC approval (REC No: 07/H0874/131). These tumours are available from the Breast Tissue Bank (thanks to the Tissue Bank Manager, Dr Cheryl Gillett).

c) Antibodies

-HMFG1, HMFG2, SM-3 were produced in this lab;

-Polyclonal rabbit anti-human prostaglandin receptor 1,2,3,4 antibodies (Cayman Chemicals, Ann Arbor, MI, USA);

-Rabbit monoclonal antibody to EpCam (Abcam) ;

-Rabbit COX-2 polyclonal antibody (Oxford Biomedical Research) and Mouse COX-2 monoclonal antibody (Cayman);

-Mouse Anti-beta-Actin Monoclonal Antibody (Sigma Alrich);

-Rabbit p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) Monoclonal Antibody (mAb), Rabbit Phospho-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (Thr202/Tyr204) mAb, Rabbit FAK mAb, Rabbit Phospho-FAK mAb, Rabbit CREB, Phospho-CREB (Ser133) mAb (Cell Signalling Technology). All the antibodies are HRP Conjugate.

- PNA (Vector laboratories);

- HRP-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (Dako).

d) Reagents.

Prostaglandin E2 (Sigma), TPA (12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate) (Sigma).

e) Inhibitors

Celecoxib (Sigma Aldrich). NS398 (Sigma Aldrich). Gö 6976 and Gö 6983 (kind gift from Prof. Peter Parker's lab)

2.2 Incubation of chemicals on cell lines culture.

Previous to incubation with either PGE2, TPA, COX-2 inhibitors, PKC inhibitors, cells were starved in serum free medium from 2 to 6 hours. All compounds were incubated in serum free medium.

2.3 Molecular Biology techniques: RNA

2.3.1 Extraction of total RNA from cell lines.

Cells were counted using the CASY counter. 25 μ L of "RNA Later" was used for each million cell. Cells were either snapped frozen or directly used for extraction. RNA was isolated using the Nucleospin RNAII kit (Macherey-Nagel). Unfortunately, the company does not release the composition of any of the buffers contained within the kit. It is known, however, that both buffer RA1 and RA2 contain the guanidine isothiocyanate that removes the hydration shell surrounding RNA molecules, allowing them to bind the silica membranes within the columns. The presence of the guanidine isothiocyanate and the addition of β -mercaptoethanol to the lysis buffer ensures complete denaturation of RNases, preventing RNA degradation. Contaminated DNA, bound to the silica membrane, is removed by a rDNase solution, which is directly applied onto the silica membrane during the preparation. Optimal conditions for the rDNase are achieved by washing the silica membrane with a specific desalting buffer before treatment. Salts, metabolites and macromolecular cellular components are removed by simple washing

steps with two different buffers. Total RNA is finally eluted with RNase-free water supplied with the kit.

Protocol.

The pellet of cells was diluted in 350 μ L Buffer RA1 containing 3.5 μ L β mercaptoethanol. Insoluble materials from the lysate were removed by filtration through a Nucleospin filter by centrifugation at 11,000g for 1 minute. The eluate was mixed with 350 μ L 70% ethanol and loaded onto a Nucleo-spin RNA II column before being centrifuged at 11,000 g for 30 seconds. The eluate was discarded and the column desalted by addition of 350 μ L membrane desalting buffer. The column was centrifuged at 11,000 g for 1 minute. The column was treated with 95 μ L reconstituted DNase and incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes. The column was washed by the addition of 200 μ L buffer RA2 prior to centrifugation at 11,000 g for 30 seconds. Following an additional wash using 600 μ L buffer RA3 and centrifugation at 11,000 g for 30 seconds, 250 μ L buffer RA3 was added and the column subsequently centrifuged at 11,000 g for two minutes. The RNA was eluted from the column into an RNase-free 1.5mL eppendorf by the addition of 60 μ L RNase-free water and centrifugation at 11,000 g for one minute. The RNA was stored at -20 $^{\circ}$ C until required.

2.3.2 Extraction of total RNA from human tissue samples.

Samples were crushed using mikrodismembrator II and then homogenised in RNA1 lysis buffer or qiazol. RNA extraction was carried out using Macherey-Nagel RNA Spin L (1-10) or Qiagen Rneasy lipid tissue mini kit (Macherey-Nagel up to 200mg of tissue, Qiagen up to 100mg of tissue). The extraction of RNA was carried out as described in paragraph 2.3.1.

2.3.3 Quality of RNA and measurement of nucleic acid concentration.

The quality of the RNA extracted was checked by running an aliquot on an agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide (described in paragraph 2.5.3), and by measuring the optical density 260/280 ratio of each sample. Intact total RNA shows two sharp bands on agarose gel; these two bands represent 28S and 18S ribosomal RNA. For

quantification of DNA or RNA concentration, OD readings were taken at 260nm and 280nm of a diluted sample. Estimates of purity were obtained from the ratio OD_{260}/OD_{280} . This is because nucleic acid is detected at 260 nm, whereas protein, salt and solvents are detected at 280 nm. The ratio is typically 1.8 for DNA and 2.1 for RNA.

2.3.4 Reverse Transcription of RNA in cDNA.

The production of cDNA was performed by reverse transcriptase. This enzyme is capable of using its polymerase activity to synthesize a complementary DNA strand from RNA.

Reaction mixture A and B were produced.

1) Reaction Mixture A:

1µL Random Primers, 1µL dNTPs;

2) Reaction Mixture B

1µL Superscript II reverse transcriptase, 4 µL 5x FS Buffer, 1µL DTT, 1µL RNase Out.

All the reaction reagents were purchased from Invitrogen. RNA concentration was measured by Nanodrop and the same amount of RNA (1-2 μ g) was used and diluted in dH2O. RNA was mixed with 2 μ L of Reaction Mixture A and incubated at 65°C for 5 minutes. This was mixed with reaction mixture B and incubated at 50°C for 1 hour. The reaction was stopped at 94°C for 5 minutes. The samples were incubated on ice for at least 1 minute. Each sample was treated with 1 μ L RNase H and incubated at 37°C for 20 minutes. The samples were diluted with 80 μ L of nuclease free distilled water or less water, in order to give a concentration of 10-100ng/ μ L.

2.3.5 Amplification of ST3Gal-I, C2GnT1 and COX-2 sequence by Real Time quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction.

Once the cDNA had been obtained, it was probed with primers specific for the sequence of interest. The RT-qPCR was performed with the primers described in table 2.2, using the Opticon RT-qPCR Analysis System (MJ Research). 10-20 ng of cDNA was used for each reaction. For independent biological experiments the same amount of cDNA for reaction was used. In quantitative RT-qPCR a measurable fluorescent signal is associated to the amount of amplification product present. The dye used in this work is SYBR® Green, a fluorescent dye that binds to the minor groove of the DNA

double helix. As the copies of the DNA template are exponentially produced with increased cycles, the amount of fluorescence detected increases exponentially. Melting curve analysis is a simple way to check qPCR reactions for contamination and to ensure reaction specificity and accurate quantification. As the temperature increases through the dissociation temperature, the double stranded DNA product separates into complementary strands and SYBR® Green molecules are released and they decrease in fluorescence. The Tm is calculated to be the point at which maximum fluorescence is lost. The amount of target is normalized to an endogenous reference gene.

The relative amount of expression is performed by the "comparative CT Method," given by the mathematical expression 2 $^{-\Delta CT}$ (see appendix of materials and meethods). The CT is the threshold cycle number and it indicates the fractional cycle number at which the amount of amplified target reaches a fixed threshold. The exponent ΔCT is given by the difference between the CT of the target gene and CT of the reference gene (Applied Biosystems User Bulletin).

The protocol used was according to Julien et al. 2007:

Denature	5 minutes at 95°C	
Denature	15 sec at 94°C)
Anneal	30 sec at $60^{\circ}CT_{m}$	35-45 cycles
Extend	30 sec at 72°C	
Fluorescence detection	30 sec at 78°C)

Final extension10 minutes at 72°CHold4°C

A melting curve fluorescence analysis was performed on each sample, once the amplification cycles were completed, to verify that a single product had been amplified. Each sample was normalized to the housekeeping gene β -actin or PUM1 (Pumilio homolog 1 of Drosophila).

Protein	Forward Primer (5'–3')	Reverse Primer (5'–3')
ß-actin	CCAAGTCCACACAGGGGAGGTG	CCAGGGAGACCAAAAGCCTTCA
p-actin	ATAGC	TACATC
PUM1	GATTATTCAGGCACGCAGGT	AGCAGCGCTGATGATGTATG
COX-2	GTGCCTGGTCTGATGATGTAT	GTCTGGAACAACTGCTCATCA
CCP7	CAACACTGGGAAACAGAGGCTA	AAAACGATGGAGGGAGGGGTT
	TTGTC	CAGAGAG
ST3Gal I	ATGAGAGGTTCAACCAGACC	ATGGTGTCATTCAAGTTATTGG
C2GnT1	AGAAGGATACACAAAACGTACC	ACCTTTCTAGCTAACTGTGCTC

Table 2.2. Pairs of primers used in qPCR.2.4 Protein techniques.

2.4.1 Western blotting

a) Preparation of lysate from cell culture

Cells were washed with ice-cold PBS. PBS was drained, and then lysis buffer (RIPA or Laemmli SDS PAGE buffer 1x) was added. The two protocols are described below:

1.Lysis in RIPA buffer.

The RIPA buffer (Radio Immuno Precipitation Assay buffer) is composed of 150 mM sodium chloride, 1.0% NP-40 or Triton X-100, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS (sodium dodecyl sulphate) 50 mM Tris, pH 8.0.

The lysate was incubated for 30 minutes at 4°C and then centrifuged in a microcentrifuge at 4°C. A BCA assay was performed (ThermoFisher). Bovine serum albumin (BSA) was used for the protein standard. The same amount of protein and volume was used for all the samples. They were diluted with 6x Laemmli buffer, boiled at 95°C, and loaded on the gel with 5 μ L of Prosieve protein Ladder (Amersham).

2. Lysis in Laemmli 2X SDS PAGE sample buffer

The Laemmli 2X buffer is composed by 4% SDS, 10% 2- β -mercaptoehtanol, 20% glycerol, 0.004% bromophenol blue, 0.125 M Tris HCl pH 6.8.

In this case Laemmli buffer 1x (1 μ L/10000 cells determined by counting a parallel well) was used directly on the cell layer. The lysate was passed through a needle, boiled at

94°C and loaded on a gel with 5 μL of Prosieve protein Ladder (Amersham) in a parallel lane.

b) Casting the gel.

The gel is formed by a resolving and stacking gel. The resolving gel contained 7.5% acrylamide, 1M Tris-HCl pH 8.8 and 0.1% SDS and was polymerised by the addition of 0.6% TEMED and 0.03% ammonium persulphate. A stacking gel was prepared and once the resolving gel was set, it was poured on top and left to polymerize around a comb. The stacking gel was composed of 5% acrylamide, 1M Tris pH 6.8, 0.1% SDS and polymerised as mentioned above.

c) SDS-electrophoresis.

The protein samples were loaded in an equal volume of sample buffer and loaded onto the gel. Rainbow molecular weight markers (Amersham International) were used for size comparison. Electrophoresis was performed in 1x SDS-PAGE running buffer at 150V. The proteins were run until fully separated and then Western blotted.

d) Western blotting

Following electrophoresis, the gel was equilibrated in transfer buffer (25 mM Tris, 192 mM glycine, 10% methanol). Hybond-C nitrocellulose membrane and 4 sheets of Whatmann 3mm paper were cut to the size of the gel and soaked in 1x transfer buffer. The transfer sandwich was built in this order on the anode side of the transfer tank:

- Sponge
- Whatmann 3M paper sheet
- Nitrocellulose sheet (Pall Corporation)
- Gel (gently moved taking it by the more concentrated side = bottom)
- Whatmann 3M paper Sheet
- Sponge

The air bubbles were rolled out between the membrane and the gel. The gels were transferred at 70V for 2 hours.

e) Probing of Western blot membranes.

The membrane was washed briefly with deionised water and stained with a Ponceau solution for not more than 5 minutes to confirm efficient transfer. The Ponceau solution was removed and the membrane washed with clear water until a satisfying staining contrast was obtained. Non-specific binding of nitrocellulose membranes were blocked in wash buffer (PBSA, 0.1% Tween-20, 5% milk or 5% BSA.) for 1 hour at room temperature or overnight at 4°C. All antibodies were diluted in blocking buffer. The membrane was incubated in primary antibody at room temperature with gentle agitation at the appropriate concentration for 1 hour. The membrane was then washed 3 times for 10 minutes in wash buffer, before the HRP conjugated secondary antibody was added at a determined dilution. The membrane was incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with gentle agitation and then was washed as describe previously. The protein bands were visualised by the ECL Plus system (Amersham) as per manufacturer's instructions.

2.4.2 Stripping for reprobing protocol.

The buffer used was made of 20 ml SDS 10%,12.5 mL Tris HCl pH 6.8 0.5 M, 67.5 mL ultra pure water and 0.8 mL β -mercaptoethanol. The buffer was warmed to 50°C and it was then added to the membrane. The membrane was incubated at 50°C for up to 20 minutes with some agitation, it was rinsed for 1 hour in PBS/BSA, was again blocked and probed as described above.

2.4.3 Mouse Kidney Sample Preparation (as Positive Control for EP Receptor Antibodies).

Two mouse kidneys were weighed and 1 mL buffer (20 mM Tris ph 7.5, 5mM EDTA, with protease inhibitor-Roche) per 0.3 g tissue was added. The kidneys were ground with dry ice in a mortar and pestle and homogenized in Teflon/glass tube homogenizer. The product derived from homogenization was centrifuged at 10,000g for 15 minutes and the pellet was solubilized with ~2 mls of the buffer used to grind the tissues containing 1% TritonX-100. The derived solution was centrifuged for 10 minutes and the pellet discarded. The protein concentration was measured on supernatant by BCA-

protein assay (Thermo Scientific). Equal volume of 2x Laemmli sample buffer was added to the protein sample and set in boiling water bath for 5 minutes. 10 μ g was loaded per lane of a small gel. The protocol was provided by Cayman Chemicals.

2.4.4 Human Phospho-Kinase Array Protocol.

The kit used is called Human Phospho-Kinase Array Kit from R&D systems. It consists of 46 capture antibodies of different kinases and proteins and control antibodies that have been spotted in duplicate on nitrocellulose membranes. The Human Phospho-Kinase Array is divided into two parts (A and B) to maximize sensitivity and minimize cross-reactivity. Membrane A has 28 and B 18 capture antibodies. One million cells were seeded in a six well plate and three wells were used for each condition. Cells were treated with TPA 10nM for 5 and then rinsed with cold PBS and lysis buffer (1 x 10⁷ cells/mL), provided by the kit, was added to solubilize the cells. The extracts were resuspended and rocked gently in 1.5 ml eppendorfs at 2-8° C for 30 minutes and then microcentrifuged at 14,000 x g for 5 minutes. The supernatant was transferred into a clean tube and a BCA assay was performed to determine the protein concentration of the lysates. 100 μ g of protein in a volume up to 334 μ L was used and this volume was adjusted to a final of 2.0mL with Lysis Buffer 6. Membrane A and B were placed in the 8-well multi dish provided and 1.0mL of Array Buffer 1, used as a block buffer, was pipetted into each well. After 1 hour of incubation, the Array Buffer 1 was removed and 1.0 mL of lysate (with 50 µg of protein) was added to both the Part A and Part B membrane and incubated overnight at 2-8°C on a rocking platform. The membranes were washed three times with 1X Wash Buffer, by soaking for 10 minutes on a rocking platform. 1 mL of Antibody Cocktail A and mL Antibody Cocktail B were added respectively to membrane A and B into the 8-Well Multi-dish and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature on a rocking platform. Each membrane was washed three times with 1X Wash Buffer by soaking for 10 minutes with rocking. 1 mL of the Streptavidin-HRP labelled second antibody was pipetted into each well of the 8-Well Multi-dish and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature with rocking. The membranes were washed as described previously and the protein bands were visualized by the ECL Plus system (Amersham) as per manufacturer's instructions.

2.4.5 Immunocytochemistry protocol.

Cells (1x10⁵) were plated the day prior to staining. Cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde at 4°C for 10 min. Non-specific binding was blocked using 100% FCS serum. Slides were incubated with 1:100 polyclonal rabbit anti-COX-2 antibody (Oxford Biomedical) overnight at 4°C. Cells were then washed and incubated with Alexa Fluor® 546 Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L) *Highly Cross-Adsorbed* *2 mg/mL* secondary antibodies. The slides were then washed twice with PBSA and mounted in aqueous mounting medium. Controls included slides in which the primary antibody was omitted.

2.4.6 Flow Cytometric Analysis (FACs).

Cells were gently removed from the culture with 5 mmol/L EDTA in PBS, counted, using a CASY, and the volume adjusted to have 0.5×10^6 cells/mL for each reaction. Cells were incubated for 1 hour on ice in PBS containing 0.05% BSA (human bovine serum albumin) with corresponding antibodies. Flow cytometry and analysis were performed, using a Coulter EPICS XL cytometer with Expo32 ADC software or a FACScalibur cytometer with Cellquest Pro software. Cell monolayers were detached, using 5 mmol/L EDTA in PBS. When necessary, cells were treated with 500mU of type V neuraminidase from Clostridium perfringens (Sigma-Aldrich) in serum-free medium for 1 hour at 37° C, prior to first antibody staining. After 3 washes, samples were incubated with FITC streptavadin Ab (BD Pharmingen) (in the case of PNA staining), or FITC conjugated polyclonal rabbit anti-mouse IgG (Dako) (in the case of HMFG1, 2 and SM3) or with FITC-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (Dako) (in the case of the EP receptors) for 1 hour on ice in PBS containing 0.5% BSA. Cells were then fixed in 1% formaldehyde. After three washes with PBS/0.05% BSA, cells were incubated with the secondary antibody for another hour and then fixed in 0.5% PF (paraformaldehyde) (Sigma, Deisenhofen, Germany). Appropriate isotype controls were used. Cell lines were analyzed for MUC1 expression with HMFG1, HMFG2, SM3 or for Core1 with PNA. Samples were analyzed using an EPICS XL Flow Cytometer (Beckman-Coulter) and FlowJo Software.

2.4.7 Propidium iodide treatment in FACs analysis.

Propidium iodide is a fluorescent vital dye that stains DNA and crosses the cell membrane of dead cells or cells in the late stages of apoptosis. PI is detected in the orange range between 562-588 nm band pass filter. Propidium iodide binds to DNA by intercalating between the bases with little or no sequence preference and it is used in flow cytometry to evaluate cell viability. Flow cytometry assay was run only on cells that could not be stained by PI. When necessary, 20 μ L of PI were added to the solution and incubated for 15 min at RT (25°C) in the dark. Cells were analyzed by flow cytometry within 1 hr without using any paraformaldehyde.

2.4.8 Intracellular FACS staining.

Cells were fixed in 200 mL 4% paraformaldehyde, incubated for 3 minutes and spun. After 2 washes in PBSA and 1 wash in PBS/BSA/saponin/NaN₃, cells were incubated for 15 minutes with PBS/BSA/sapanonin/FCS/NaN₃. Cells were stained with EP Receptor Polyclonal Antibody diluted in PBS/BSA/sapanonin/FCS/NaN₃ (1 mg/mL) for 30 minutes. After two washes with PBS/BSA/saponin/NaN₃, cells were incubated for 30 minutes with FITC-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG. Pellets were then fixed with 1% formaldehyde in PBSA and PBS/BSA/sapanonin/FCS/NaN₃.

2.4.9 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for PGE2 measurement.

The PGE2 Immunoassay is a competitive enzyme immunoassay designed to measure PGE2 in cell culture supernates, serum, plasma, and urine. It was provided by R&D. This assay is based on the competitive binding technique, in which PGE2 present in the samples competes with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-labeled PGE2 for a limited number of binding sites on a mouse monoclonal antibody. Therefore there is an inverse relationship between the signal obtained and the concentration of the analyte in the sample, i.e. the more analyte the lower the signal. The standard curve was determined using PGE2 (provided by the R&D kit) in culture medium (DMEM). The range of concentration of the standard curve spans between 2,500 pg/ml and 39 pg/ml. To test the efficiency of the kit, an aliquot of PGE2 (Sigma-Aldrich) was diluted in the calibrant medium for a final concentration of 25 ng/ml and tested.

All the materials are furnished by the kit PGE2 Assay Catalog Number -R&D:

-Goat Anti-mouse Microplate - 96 well polystyrene microplate (12 strips of 8 wells) coated with a goat anti-mouse polyclonal antibody.

-PGE2 Conjugate - 6mL/vial of PGE2 conjugated to horseradish peroxidase with red dye and preservatives.

-**PGE2 Standard** that is reconstituted in 1.0 mL of deionized or distilled water. The concentration is then 25,000pg/mL.

-Primary Antibody Solution - 6mL/vial of a mouse monoclonal antibody to PGE2 in buffer with blue dye and preservatives.

-Wash Buffer made of buffered protein base with preservatives.

-Color Reagent A - 12.5mL/vial of stabilized hydrogen peroxide.

-Color Reagent B - 12.5mL/vial of stabilized chromogen (tetramethylbenzidine).

Color Reagent A should be mixed to Color reagent B in equal volumes within 15 minutes of use and protected from light.

-Stop Solution - 11 mL/vial of 2N sulfuric acid.

-Calibrator Diluent RD5-56 - 21mL/vial of a buffered protein base with preservatives. Even if the kit provides this diluent, the standard was diluted in serum free medium like the samples analyzed. The instruction adviced to remove the serum in a serum separator tube. This is the reason why cells were treated in absence of serum.

After the standard curve was set up, the samples were added in duplicates. First the primary antibody was added to each well and, after an incubation of 1 hour, HRP-labeled PGE2 was allowed to bind to the antibody. Following a wash to remove unbound materials, a substrate solution was added to the wells to determine the bound enzyme activity. The color development was stopped, and the absorbance was read at 450 nm. The intensity of the color was inversely proportional to the concentration of PGE2 in the sample.

2.5 Molecular Biology techniques: DNA

2.5.1 Transformation of competent bacteria.

Competent cells were thawed on ice for 10 minutes. 50ng of plasmid, dissolved in water, were added to the cells, gently mixed and left on ice for 30 minutes with regular mixing to resuspend the cells. The cell and DNA mix was then heat-shocked at 42°C for 90 seconds and then placed on ice for at least 2 minutes. 160ml of L-Broth was added and incubated with shaking at 37°C for 30 minutes. Using aseptic techniques, the

transformed cells were plated onto L-Agar plates containing the appropriate antibiotics, inverted and incubated overnight at 37°C. Ampicillin was used at a concentration of 50µg/ml; and kanamycin was used at 25µg/ml.

2.5.2 Large scale preparation of DNA-Maxiprep.

Constructs, used for transfection, were produced using a large scale extraction of DNA. 800 (L of an overnight culture of transformed bacteria was grown in 200ml of L-Broth containing the appropriate antibiotic (ampicillin 50 μ g/ml) at 37°C with shaking.

The culture of transformed bacteria was centrifuged at 6000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4 °C and the pellet was resuspended in 10mL of Buffer P1. 10 mL of Buffer P2 was added and it was inverted 4-5 times. 10mL of Buffer P3 was added and it was inverted 4-5 times. The sample was centrifuged at 12000 rpm in a Beckam jA rotor for 30 minutes at 4 °C. QIAGEN-tip 500 was washed with 10ml of buffer QBT and the supernatant was allowed to enter the resin of the column by gravity flow. The column was washed twice with 30 ml of Buffer QC. The column was placed in new cylinders and 15 mL of buffer QF was applied to the resin. The DNA was precipitated by adding 10.5 mL room temperature isopropanol to the eluted DNA. It was centrifuged at 7000 rpm for an hour at 4° C. The pellet was washed with 70% ethanol and centrifuged for 20 minutes at 7000 rpm. The pellet was left for 5-10 minutes to dry and then the DNA was redissolved in 200 μ L of sterile water.

2.5.3 Agarose gel electrophoresis.

A 1% (w/v) agarose gel was prepared in TBE (Tris/Borate/EDTA) by boiling the solution in a microwave oven. The solution was cooled to 50°C and then ethidium bromide was added to a final concentration of 1 mg/mL. The agarose was poured into a gel tray with a gel comb and set at room temperature. One third of DNA loading buffer was added to each DNA sample and then 20 μ L was loaded into the wells of the gel (submerged in TBE running buffer).

A volume of 5 μ L 1 kb ladder (Invitrogen) was used. Gels were run at 90-120 V in a horizontal gel tank at room temperature and then viewed under a UV transilluminator (Biorad) and photographed using a digital video.

2.5.4 Restriction digest of DNA.

For screening of minipreps, 5 μ L of eluted DNA was used. The COX-2 plasmid was cleaved with two endonucleases (EcoRI and NotI). EcoRI and NotI are active in EcoRI NEB buffer at the same temperature (37°C) and both are inactivated at 65°C. The concentration of the two enzymes was 20 units/mL each for EcoRI and NotI. One unit is defined as the amount of enzyme required to digest 1 μ g of λ DNA (HindIII digest) in 1 hour at 37°C in a total reaction volume of 50 μ L. For a total volume of 30 μ L a volume of 1 μ L of EcoRI and 1 μ L NotI were used. A color-coded 10X NEBuffer (New England Biolabs) was used to ensure optimal (100%) activity. Both of these restriction endonucleases require BSA at a final concentration of 100 μ g/mL for optimal activity from a 10mg/mL (100X) stock. EcoRI NEB buffer (3 μ L) and BSA 10x (3 μ L) were added to the samples. Digestions were performed for 1 hour at 37°C. Analysis of fragments, generated by the digestion, was performed by agarose gel electrophoresis.

2.5.5 Transfection of COX-2 in MDA-MB-231.

MDA-MB-231 and COS cells were transfected with the COX-2 vector using Lipofectamine LTX (Invitrogen) and the protocol was provided by Invitrogen.

Cells were plated the day prior to transfection in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum in either 6 well plates or T80s flasks. The day of transfection the medium was changed and the confluency was around 60-70%. For each well of cells to be transfected, 2.5 μ g (18 μ g for the T80) of DNA was diluted in 500 μ L (3.750 mL for the T80) of Opti-MEM® I Reduced Serum Media without serum. PLUS Reagent was added to the same tube and it was incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature. The Plus reagent, according to the manufacturer's instructions, improves the plasmid delivery and gives superior performance. Invitrogen does not explain the composition of the reagent. For each well of cells, 5 μ L (37.5 μ L for the T80 flask) of Lipofectamine LTX-TM Reagent was added into the diluted OptiMEM-DNA-Plus Reagent solution. It was mixed gently and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature to form DNA-Lipofectamine LTX-TM Reagent was added to the wells or flasks and mixed gently by rocking the plate back and forth. Complexes do not have to be removed following transfection, however, the medium was changed after 6 hours. The cells were

incubated at 37°C in a CO2 incubator for 48-72 hours post-transfection, before assaying for transgene expression.

2.5.6 siRNA transfection protocol.

MDA-MB-231 (1x 10⁶) were seeded in six well plates 18 hours before treatment in 2 mL DMEM supplemented with FBS but without P/S (Pen/Strep). Cells at 60-80% confluency were incubated at 37°C in a CO₂ incubator for 18-24 hours. For each transfection 6 μ L of siRNA duplex (60 pmols siRNA) were diluted into 100 μ L siRNA Transfection Medium Solution (Santa Cruz Biotechnology). siRNA Transfection reagent (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) (6 μ L) were also diluted in 100 μ L siRNA Transfection Medium. No serum and antibiotics were added to the siRNA Transfection Medium. The siRNA duplex solution (Solution A) was directly added to the dilute Transfection Reagent (Solution B) using a pipette and the mixture was incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature. The Control siRNAs (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and other 2 controls siRNA from Dharmacon were used. After 30 minutes 800 μ L of siRNA transfection was added to the mixture and 1mL of this reaction was added to each well of cells for 5 to 8 hours.

The sequence of the three siRNA used are:

1) siRNA COX-2 SC (provided by Santa Cruz biotechnology)

Sense: CUGCUCAACACCGGAAUUUTT;

Antisense: AAAUUCCGGUGUUGAGCAGTT.

2) 1siRNA COX-2 (purchased from Dharmacon and designed by Stasinopoulos et al. (2007):

Sense: AACAUUCCCUUCCUUCGAAAU

Antisense: UUUUGUAAGGGAAGGAAGCUUUA

3) 2siRNA COX-2 (purchased from Dharmacon and designed by Stasinopoulos et al. (2007)

Sense:AACUGCUCAACACCGGAAUUUUU

Antisense:UUUUGACGAGUUGUGGCCUUAAAAA.

In 2' COX-2 siRNA mentioned in chapter 5, 1siRNA and 2siRNA were pooled.

2.6 ChIP Chromatin Immunoprecipitation.

The EpiTect ChIP OneDay kit was used. Ten million cells were plated in T75 flasks and were left to grow overnight. One flask was treated with TPA and the other with the vehicle for 5 hours and then cells were treated with 10 mL of 1% Formaldehyde and incubated at 37° C for 10 minutes. Formaldehyde is used to cross-link the proteins to the DNA as illustrated in the figure below. Excessive cross-linking reduces antigen accessibility and sonication efficiency. The reaction of formaldehyde with proteins starts with the formation of methylol adducts on amino groups. The methylol adducts of primary amino groups are partially dehydrated, yielding labile Schiff-bases, which can form cross-links with several amino acid residues, e.g. with tyrosine (Metz et al. 2004). 1.1 ml of Stop Buffer was added per plate for 5 minutes at room temperature. The stop buffer contains glycine that quenches the formaldehyde and terminates the cross-linking reaction.



Figure 2.1 Cross linking between protein and formaldehyde

Cells were washed twice with PBS and 1.5 mL ice-cold cell harvesting buffer and collected to be sonicated. Cells were centrifuged at 800g for 10 minutes at 4° C, the supernatant was removed and the pellet was dissolved in IP Lysis Buffer and Protease Inhibitor Cocktail. The rest of the lysate was sonicated, centrifuged for 10 minutes at 4° C and the supernatant was stored at -80° C. Some of this supernatant was tested on a 1.5% agarose gel to check the correct fragment size (between 100 and 600 bp). For each IP Fraction, 100 μ L of this sheared ready Chromatin was dissolved in 900 μ L IP Buffer A, containing protease inhibitor. Protein A beads (50 μ L) for each IP fraction were added and incubate for 50 minutes at 4°C. The beads removed by centrifugation at 4000g for 1 minute at 4° C and the pre-Cleared Chromatin was transferred to a new tube. 10 μ L of the supernatant was stored in another eppendorf at 4° C (and used as

Input Fraction later when the elution buffer and proteinase K was added). The pre-Cleared Chromatin was incubated with the appropriate antibody on rotator at 4°C overnight. Then, 60µl Protein A Beads were added to each IP and incubated at 4°C for 1 hour. The solution was centrifuged at 4000xg for 1 min at 4°C and the supernatant discarded. The beads were washed in cold wash Buffers for three times for 4 minutes and each time the supernatant discarded after each centrifugation. Elution Buffer (30µL) and Proteinase K was added to each IP Fraction (including the Input Fraction) and they were incubated in a thermomixer at 500 rpm at 45°C for 30 minutes. DNA Extraction Beads (to remove the Proteinase K) were added to each IP Fraction incubated on thermomixer at 500rpm at 95° C for 10 minutes. Samples were then centrifuged at 14,000 g for 1 minute at room temperature. 200 µL of each supernatant was transferred to a new tube and 100 μ L of elution Buffer was added to each sample. Column Binding Buffer was added to each 200 µL IP fraction sample, mixed and allowed to go through a DNA Spin Column. The column was washed, centrifuged and 100 uL of elution Buffer was added to the center of the column in a new tube. The column was centrifuged at 11,000g for 1 minute at room temperature and the same step was repeated. So at the end a final volume of 200 μ L of the purified ChIP DNA samples was stored at -20° C.

2.6.1 ChIP qPCR

For each 25 μ L PCR, 12.5 μ L RT² qPCR Master Mix, 6.5 μ L of ddH2O, 5 μ L of either undiluted or diluted ChIP DNA template, 1 μ L ChIP-qPCR Assay Primers (10 μ M each). The protocol used was according to Qiagen EpiTect ChIP OneDay Handbook:

- Denature 10 minutes at 95°C
- Denature 15 sec at 95°C
 Anneal and extend 1 min at 60°C
 Final extension 1 minutes at 95°C
 30 seconds at 55°C
 30 seconds at 95°C

The primers used were designed very close to the transcription start site and the sequence for ST3Gal-I was forward GCCCACTATGCCAGACAGTT and reverse

AAGGGGTTCGGA GGAGAATA. The GAPDH primers were designed by Qiagen Primer kit.

2.7 Statistical analysis.

Statistical analysis was carried out using the t test calculator of Graphpad software. A value of p < 0.05 was considered significant. For the correlation of ST3Gal-I and COX-2 expression in primary breast cancers, Spearson and Person's T test was applied. The statistics were calculated by Dr. Brian Burford.

Appendix

The following appendix explains the equation used for the calculation of the amount of target in RT-qPCR. It was taken entirely from User Bulletin #2 ABI PRISM 7700 Sequence Detection

System.

The amount of target, normalized to an endogenous reference and relative to a calibrator, is given by:

$$2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$$

Derivation of the Formula

The equation that describes the exponential amplification of PCR is:

$$X_n = X_0 \times (1 + E_X)^n$$

where:

X _n	=	number of target molecules at cycle n
X _o	=	initial number of target molecules
E _X	=	efficiency of target amplification
n	=	number of cycles

The threshold cycle (C_T) indicates the fractional cycle number at which the amount of amplified target reaches a fixed threshold. Thus,

$$X_{T} = X_{o} \times (1 + E_{X})^{C_{T,X}} = K_{X}$$

where:

X _T	=	threshold number of target molecules
C _{T,X}	=	threshold cycle for target amplification
K _X	=	constant

A similar equation for the endogenous reference reaction is:

$$R_{T} = R_{o} \times (1 + E_{R})^{C_{T,R}} = K_{R}$$

where:

R _T	=	threshold number of reference molecules
R _o	=	initial number of reference molecules
E _R	=	efficiency of reference amplification
C _{T, R}	=	threshold cycle for reference amplification
K _R	=	constant

Dividing X_T by R_T gives the following expression:

$$\frac{X_{T}}{R_{T}} = \frac{X_{o} \times (1 + E_{X})^{C_{T,X}}}{R_{o} \times (1 + E_{R})^{C_{T,R}}} = \frac{K_{X}}{K_{R}} = K$$

The exact values of X_T and R_T depend on a number of factors, including:

- Reporter dye used in the probe
- Sequence context effects on the fluorescence properties of the probe
- Efficiency of probe cleavage
- Purity of the probe
- Setting of the fluorescence threshold.

Therefore, the constant K does not have to be equal to one.

Assuming efficiencies of the target and the reference are the same:

$$E_X = E_R = E$$
,

$$\frac{X_o}{R_o} \times (1 + E)^{C_{T, X} - C_{T, R}} = K$$

or

$$X_{N} \times (1 + E)^{\Delta C_{T}} = K$$

where:

X _N	=	X _o /R _o , the normalized amount of target
ΔC_T	=	$C_{T,X}$ - $C_{T,R}$, the difference in threshold cycles for target and reference

Rearranging gives the following expression:

$$X_{N} = K \times (1 + E)^{-\Delta C_{T}}$$

The final step is to divide the X_N for any sample q by the X_N for the calibrator (cb):

$$\frac{X_{N,q}}{X_{N,cb}} = \frac{K \times (1+E)^{-\Delta C_{T,q}}}{K \times (1+E)^{-\Delta C_{T,cb}}} = (1+E)^{-\Delta \Delta C_{T}}$$

where:

$\Delta\Delta O_{T,q} = \Delta O_{T,cb}$
--

For amplicons designed and optimized according to Applied Biosystems guidelines (amplicon size < 150 bp), the efficiency is close to one. Therefore, the amount of target, normalized to an endogenous reference and relative to a calibrator, is given by:

 $2 - \Delta \Delta C_T$

Chapter 3. Breast cancer cell lines: Characterization for the expression of COX-2 and PGE2 receptors, and PGE2 secretion

3.1 Introduction.

Julien et al. (2007) showed that prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) influences the expression of the glycosyltransferases C2GnT1 and ST3Gal-I in dendritic cells (DCs). In order to investigate if PGE2 has any effect on glycosyltransferases in breast cancer, a panel of breast cancer cell lines available in the laboratory (MCF-7, T47D, SK-Br-3, BT-20, MDA-MB-231, ZR-75-1) were first characterized for COX-2 expression, prostaglandin receptors (EP) expression and PGE2 secretion. These cell lines show a range of expression of C2GnT1 and ST3Gal-I (Dalziel et al. 2001).

3.2 Objectives

- 1. Define the mucin O-glycosylation core types found in six breast cancer cell lines.
- 2. Determine COX-2 expression by the six breast cancer cell lines by RT-qPCR.
- 3. Measure the PGE2 concentration in the media of the six breast cancer cell lines by ELISA.
- 4. Determine the EP1-4 expression at the mRNA and protein level by the six breast cancer cell lines.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Profile of mucin O-glycosylation core types on the six breast cancer cell lines.

Initially the cell lines MCF7, T47D, MDA-MB-231, SK-BR-3, BT-20, ZR-75-1 were analyzed for their binding to the MUC1 specific monoclonal antibodies HMFG1, HMFG2 and SM3 to obtain an indication of their Core 1 and Core 2 expression. As discussed in section 1.7, SM3 reacts with an epitope on MUC1, which is masked by the Core 2 glycans on normal breast epithelium (Burchell et al. 1989; Girling et al 1989). HMFG1 reacts well with MUC1 on normal cells but the presence of sialic acid can decrease its binding to its epitope, whereas the binding of HMFG2 is inhibited by longer carbohydrate side chain on normal mucins (Burchell et al. 1993). Table 3.1 shows the presence of core1 and core2 structures as determined by mass spectrometry of the six breast cancer cell lines according to Müller et al. (2002) and the reactivity of the three monoclonal antibodies.

	core1	core2	SM3	HMFG1	HMFG2
MCF7	++	++	+	++	++
T47D	+++	-	++	+	+++
MDA-MB-231 (very low MUC1 expressed)	+	+	+/-	+/-	+/-
SK-BR-3	++	-	++	+	+++
BT-20	++	-	++	+	+++
ZR-75-1	+	+	+	+++	++

Table 3.1: Expression of core 1 and core 2 in the six breast cancer cell lines analyzed. Cells $(3x10^5)$ were stained with SM3, HMFG1 and HMFG2, followed by FITC-conjugated polyclonal rabbit anti-mouse IgG. As can be seen from figure 3.1, breast cancer cell lines react differently with the three antibodies in line with their core 1/core 2 expression.

All the lines reacted with SM3, but, as expected, T47D and BT-20 had the highest level of binding and MDA-MB-231 the lowest (Müller et al. 2002). MDA-MB-231 has in fact the lowest level of MUC1 among the cell lines analyzed, and this was confirmed by the low reactivity with HMFG1 and HMFG2. HMFG1 binding is greater on MCF7 and ZR-75-1 cell lines and this reflects the fact that they express a higher level of core 2 than the others. In contrast, BT-20, SK-BR-3 and T47D react more strongly with HMFG2.



Figure 3.1: Flow cytometric analysis of the core 1 and core 2 MUC1 glycoforms on the six breast cancer cell lines. Cells were stained using the SM3, HMFG1 and HMFG2 monoclonal antibodies, followed by FITC-conjugated polyclonal rabbit anti-mouse IgG. The shaded peak is the isotope control, the black, green, purple open peaks are, respectively, the SM3, HMFG1, and HMFG2 antibody staining.

3.3.2 COX-2 expression by the six breast cancer cell lines.

The level of expression of COX-2 in MCF7, T47D, SK-BR-3, MDA-MB-231, BT-20, ZR-75-1 cell lines was analyzed by RT-qPCR. Two biological experiments were performed using the same conditions. Initially 4×10^5 cells of each cell line were cultured and the pellets were collected after five days and stored in 50 μ L of RNA Later Reagent at -20°C.



Figure 3.2: Quality control of RNA. a) An aliquot of 5 μ L of RNA was run on 1% agarose gel. The ladder used is a 1 kb ladder (New England Biolabs). b) The Nanodrop measurements of the optical density ratio for two biological experiments are shown in the table. The values for each cell line are about two.

The quality of the RNA extracted was checked by running an aliquot on an agarose gel, stained with ethidium bromide, and by measuring the optical density to obtain the 260/280 ratio of each sample, as described in material and methods (section 2.3.3).

The agarose gel showed two bands for each cell line (figure 3.2 a), confirming that in all the samples the RNA was of good quality. This was confirmed by the ratio OD_{260}/OD_{280} of the RNA from the two biological experiments used in this experiment (table b figure 3.2). (In the results of the other chapters the quality of RNA will not be shown, even though it was always analyzed). 1 µg per reaction of mRNA was used for the reverse transcription and the cDNA was then used for the qPCR.

SYBR® Green, a fluorescent dye, that binds to the minor groove of the DNA double helix (as described in appendix of materials and methods), was used in quantitative RTqPCR and in these experiments the results were normalized to β -actin, a reference gene that does not vary in different cell lines. Figures 3.3 and 3.4 show the melting curves of the β -actin and COX-2 primers from one biological experiment for each cell line.



Figure 3.3: Melting curves analysis for all the cell lines cDNA with β -actin primers. The qRT-PCR reaction was performed with SYBR® Green, as described in materials and methods(section 2.3.5). Melting curve analysis was performed, after amplification, using a temperature ramp of 1°C/5 seconds between 65°C and 95°C.



Figure 3.4: Melting curves analysis for all the cell lines cDNA with COX-2 primers. The RTqPCR reaction as described in figure 3.3.

The relative amount of expression was performed by the "comparative CT method", given by the mathematical expression $2^{-\Delta CT}$ (see appendix of materials and methods). The values shown in figure 3.5 are the mean of 2- Δ Ct of two biological experiments. MDA-MB-231 showed the highest level of COX-2 followed by SK-BR-3, BT-20 and ZR-75-1; MCF7 and T47D the lowest level. This result agrees with published data showing that MDA-MB-231 expresses a higher level of COX-2, while MCF7 a very low level.



Figure 3.5: MDA-MB-231 cell line expresses the highest level of COX-2 mRNA. The dots represent the mean \pm SD of the 2- Δ Ct of two biological experiments comparing COX-2 (the target gene) to β -actin (the reference gene) for six breast cancer cell lines.

3.3.3 Secretion of PGE2 by the breast cancer cell lines.

The level of PGE2 was determined by ELISA (see materials and methods, section 2.4.9). Two million cells, for each cell line, were cultured for 24 hours and the supernatant tested. The concentration of PGE2 in the medium, shown in table 3.6 below, was calculated from the equation of the standard curve. Since it is a competitive ELISA, there is an inverse relationship between the signal obtained and the concentration of the analyte, so, as seen in the table, the more analyte the lower the signal.

Table 3.6: Table of the concentrations of PGE2 found in the supernatant of the six breast cancer cell lines after 24 h of culture.

PGE2 concentration was calculated from the equation of the ELISA assay. MDA-MB-231 and BT-20 are the only cell lines that have a greater PGE2 concentration than the negative control (DMEM). The concentration of PGE2 was calculated from two biological experiments.

	Mean OD	Concentration (pg/ml)
Negative control	1.123	29.09±4.66
MDA-MB-231	1.055	41.68±5.25
BT20	1.044	44.26±4.63
ZR75-1	1.169	22.65±4.25
MCF7	1.179	21.54±3.92
SK-Br-3	1.158	24.05±3.87
T47D	1.25	14.88±4.41

This assay demonstrated that only MDA-MB-231 and BT-20 supernatant showed a concentration of PGE2 higher than the negative control used, while the PGE2 concentration of most of the cell lines was below the negative control value and therefore considered as zero.

3.3.4 PGE2 receptor expression in breast cancer cells.

PGE2 action is mediated via four receptors (EP₁, EP₂, EP₃, EP₄) with different signalling pathways. EP₁ is mainly a G_q coupled receptor with phospholipase C signalling through

 Ca^{2+} and EP_2 and EP_4 are G_s coupled receptors to protein kinase A (PKA). On the other hand EP_3 is mainly a coupled G_i protein and is linked to a decrease of cAMP (discussed in section 1.9.4) (Narumiya et al.1999). The expression of the EP receptors was determined at the protein level by FACS and Western Blotting.

Rabbit polyclonal antibodies raised against the EP receptors antibodies, followed by FITC-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG were used for the flow cytometric analysis. The antibodies were against a synthetic peptide from the C-terminal intramembrane domain of the EP receptors, so the cells had to be permeabilized before staining. Results are shown in figure 3.7. To confirm the success of the intracellular staining, a positive control (a Rabbit monoclonal antibody to the cytoplasmic domain of EpCam-C-term) was used (data not shown).



Figure 3.7: Flow cytometric analysis of EP receptors in the six breast cancer cell line. Cells $(4*10^5)$ were fixed, permeabilized by PBS/BSA/saponin/NaN₃ and stained with EP Receptor Polyclonal Antibody (Cayman Chemicals) followed by FITC-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (Dako) as described in Materials and Methods. Shaded peak, staining with control antibody, open clear peak, EP staining. a, b, c, d, e, f are MCF7, T47D, MDA-MB-231, SK-Br-3, BT-20, ZR-75-1 respectively.

From figure 3.7 it is evident that the positive mean fluorescence to each EP receptor was more or less the same in each cell line, which raised some concerns. Therefore, in order to check the specificity of the antibodies to each receptor, Western Blot analysis was performed with the same antibodies (according to the manufacturer's instruction).



Figure 3.8: Westen Blots to determine EP₂ and EP₄ expression. 410.4, ZR-75-1, BT-20, SK-Br-3, MDA-MB-231, T47D, MCF7 protein lysate (10 μ g) were immunoblotted with Rabbit polyclonal antibodies (Cayman Chemicals) to EP₂ (a) and EP₄ (b) receptors followed by HRP-conjugated swine anti-rabbit IgG (Dako). Both blots were stripped and reprobed with Mouse Anti- β -actin, followed by HRP-goat antimouse IgG (Dako), as loading control. Membranes were developed with the ECL system (Amersham), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Cells were cultured in T80 flasks and after each cell line reached 80% of confluency, pellets were collected. Cell disruption was conducted as described in the materials and methods. Protein concentration was measured by BCA-protein assay and 10 (g of protein of each sample was loaded onto a 7.5% SDS-PAGE gel. The murine mammary cell line, 410.4 was used as positive control for the EP receptors (Ma et al. 2006). In figure 3.8, it is evident that very little expression of EP₂ is seen in MCF7 and MDA-MB-231. In contrast the expression of EP₄ is expressed by all the cell lines with an increase of expression in MDA-MB-231 and MCF7. Western Blots with EP receptor antibodies showed optimum and clear results for EP₂ and EP₄, which did not agree with the flow cytometric analysis, confirming the concerns about this assay. A repeat of a Western blot with different protein lysate gave identical results.

For EP₁ and EP₃, an additional control of mouse kidney lysate was used together with 410.4. The EP₁ and EP₃ antibodies did not appear to be specific as a number of bands of varying migration were observed. As shown in figure 3.9, there was no band of the expected size of EP₁ receptor (42 kDa) in the cell lines. BT-20 and MCF7 lysates showed a band of about 30 kDa that came up in three different experiments. This band could be a breakdown product or a cross-reacting band.

 EP_3 has a predicted molecular weight of 53 kDa. Figure 3.9b shows a common band of 53 kDa in all the cell lines (apart from the mouse kidney control), but together with this

band there are many other unspecific bands. This lack of specificity of the antibodies may reflect the massive shift seen in the FACS plot.



Figure 3.9: Westen Blots to determine EP1 and EP3 expression.

Mouse kidney, 410.4, ZR-75-1, BT-20, SK-Br-3, MDA-MB-231, T47D, MCF7 protein lysate (10 μ g) were immunoblotted with Rabbit polyclonal antibodies (Cayman Chemicals) to EP1(a) and EP3(b) receptors followed by HRP-conjugated swine anti-rabbit IgG (Dako). Both blots were stripped and reprobed with Mouse Anti- β -actin followed by HRP-goat antimouse IgG (Dako) and were used as loading control. Membrane were developed with the ECL system (Amersham) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

In conclusion all the breast cancer cell lines examined (MCF-7, BT20, MDA-MB-231, ZR-75-1, SK-Br-3, T47D) express the EP₂ and EP₄ receptors, but at different levels. However, no clear conclusion can be drawn on the expression of the EP₁ and EP₃ receptor as non-specific binding of the antibodies were observed on the Western blots. siRNA for EP1 and EP2 can be used to validate EP antibodies. Moreover, the presence of EP1 and EP3 proteins can be confirmed by mass spectrometry of some lysate from the different cell lines.

3.4 Discussion.

The glycosylation changes that occur during maturation of dendritic cells are similar to the changes in glycosylation observed in malignant breast epithelium. In dendritic cells at maturation, C2GnT1 is rapidly down regulated and the sialyltransferases ST3Gal-I is upregulated, resulting in the change from core 2 based glycans to sialylated core 1 glycans. In our lab it has been demonstrated that prostaglandin E2 alone can induce the upregulation of ST3Gal-I and the downregulation of C2GnT1 in dendritic cells (Julien et al. 2007). Preliminary data showed the possible implication of the prostanoid receptors EP_2 and EP_4 in this process.

To study how PGE2 regulates the expression of the glycosyltransferases (GT), C2GnT1 and ST3Gal-I, in breast cancer, it was important to characterize the breast cancer cell lines available in the lab and investigate the expression of COX-2, PGE2 receptors and production of endogenous PGE2 by these lines. The six breast cancer cell lines have a different O-glycosylation profile: MCF7, ZR-75-1 have core 2 and core 1 based glycans, while T47D, BT-20 and SK-Br-3 only express core 1 (Müller et al. 2002). The O-glycosylation pattern was confirmed by RT-q-PCR which showed a very low or lack of expression of C2GnT1 in BT-20, SK-Br-3 and T47D (data not shown).

The expression of COX-2 detected by qPCR, is relatively low in all the cell lines with the highest expression being by the ER negative breast cancer cell line, MDA-MB-231. This is in agreement with Half et al., who showed that the COX-2 levels in SK-BR-3, MCF7, MDA-MB-231 is very low in comparison to a colon-cancer cell line like HCF-7; however they also showed that MDA-MB-231 expresses the highest amount of COX-2 compared to the other two breast cancer cell lines (Half et al. 2002). Moreover, Liu et al. published data showing that MDA-MB-231 expressed high levels of COX-2 compared to MCF7 (Liu et al. 1996). Although MDA-MB-231 has the highest expression of COX-2 among the breast cancer cell lines studied, the level of the metabolite PGE2 secreted is low, as detected by the ELISA assay.

Previous studies described dramatic differences in PGE2 production between cell lines and primary tumours from specific tissues, including those derived from human lung and colon tumours (Hubbard et al. 1988). Schrey and Patel showed how MCF7, T47D, BT-20, ZR-75-1 do not secrete PGE2 in the media, even when stimulated with the phorbol ester TPA or IL-1 β , while MDA-MB-231 and other invasive breast cancer cell lines demonstrated a large increase of the metabolite in response to the two stimulating agents (Schrey & Patel, 1995). In the present study MDA-MB-231 and BT-20 are the only cell lines, among the panel of breast cancer cell lines considered, that showed any secretion of PGE2. However, a concentration of about 40 pg/ml is very low, as the background detected in the medium was 29.09 pg/ml.

There are various parameters to be considered for the PGE2 production. First of all, the half-life of PGE2 in the circulatory system is approximately 30 seconds and rapid metabolic inactivation of any PGE2, formed by the cancer cells, may also limit its detection (Fitzpatrick et al. 1980). The enzyme responsible for the metabolic inactivation of prostaglandins is 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase. According to Wolf et al. low levels of this enzyme were detected in MDA-MB-231 cells but high levels in MCF7 (Wolf et al. 2006).

The absence of detectable accumulation of PGE2 in the cell culture medium does not necessarily mean that there is no PGE2 produced by the COX-2 enzyme. PGE2 could be bound to the four prostanoid receptors and trigger a downstream response. For this reason, the expression of all four EP isoforms was characterized in the six breast cancer cell lines. However, the western blots for EP₁ and EP₃ were unclear, as many non-specific bands were present. Different lysates were used, but they did not improve the blots. Therefore, no conclusion can be made on these two prostanoid receptors. In contrast, EP₂ and EP₄ receptors blots are very clear (Figure 3.8). The EP2 receptor is weakly expressed by MCF7 and MDA-MB-231, while it is expressed in the other cell lines and prevalently in ZR-75-1. The EP₄ receptor is present in all the cell lines and has the highest intensity in MCF7 cell line.

In the literature, it is evident that EP receptors play different roles during breast cancer progression and that EP_2 and EP_4 are the receptors likely to be involved in the regulation of mammary tumor progression and angiogenesis (Subbaramaiah et al. 2008; Chang et al. 2004). Importantly, these are the receptors that we have established to be expressed by the breast cancer cell lines studied.

Chapter 4. PGE2 and TPA can trigger ST3Gal-l expression.

4.1 Introduction.

The previous chapter described the characterization of six breast cancer cell lines (MCF-7, T47D, SK-Br-3, BT-20, MDA-MB-231, ZR-75-1) for their COX-2 expression, PGE2 secretion and EP receptors expression. The MDA-MB-231 cell line expressed the highest level of COX-2. Moreover, it was found that only media from the BT-20 and MDA-MB-231 cell lines contained PGE2 and this was at a very low concentration. Protein expression of the receptors was examined by Western blot analysis and all the breast cancer cell lines expressed EP_2 , EP_4 receptors but by different degrees. No conclusion could be drawn for EP_1 and EP_3 .

Julien et al. had previously shown that stimulation of dendritic cells with PGE2 could change the expression of glycosyltransferases expressed by monocyte derived dendritic cells: C2GnT1 was rapidly down regulated and the ST3Gal-I upregulated (Julien et al. 2007). Although the breast cancer cell lines expressed EP receptors, the expression of COX-2 and PGE2 was low or below the level of detection. Therefore, to be able to investigate the influence of the COX-2 pathway on the expression of glycosyltransferases ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 in breast cancer, exogenous PGE2 and TPA (inducer of COX-2 expression) were added to the breast cancer cell lines. The expression of the two enzymes and their product were determined by RT-qPCR and FACs analysis.

4.2 Objectives.

1. Treat six breast cancer cell lines with PGE2 and determine the change in glycosyltransferase expression.

2. Determine eventual modification of PNA staining in cell lines that showed a change in expression of ST3Gal-I and/or C2GnT1 after PGE2 treatment.

3. Treat six breast cancer cell line with TPA and determine change in glycosyltransferase expression.

4. In the cell line that showed change of expression of a glycosyltransferase, measure by FACS the modification of PNA staining after TPA treatment.
4.3 Results.

4.3.1 Choice of a gene for normalization of real-time RT-PCR data for the breast cancer cell lines.

The fluorescent quantitative Real Time PCR (RT-qPCR) has become a very popular technique to quantify gene expression in basic and translational biomedical research (Bustin et al. 2009; Bustin et al. 2000).

One of the disadvantages of this technique is the possible variation in the amount of starting material among samples, so it is necessary to normalize the gene expression to an internal reference (Wong & Medrano, 2005). It is important to choose reference genes that do not vary with the possible treatment. The most common housekeeping genes used are GAPDH or β -actin. GAPDH (Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase) is an enzyme that catalyzes the sixth step of glycolysis, while β -actin is a cytoskeleton protein involved in the motility and integrity of the cell and it is ubiquitously expressed in most cell types (Bustin et al. 2000). It was observed that GAPDH levels of expression vary in different treatments (TPA, dexamethasone, carbon tetrachloride etc.) (Bustin et al. 2000). On the other hand, β -actin levels of transcription can vary widely in human breast epithelial cells (Spanakis et al. 1993).

Lyng et al. in their study established which reference gene could be more reliable for qPCR of breast cancer (ER positive and negative), normal breast and breast cancer cell lines data. The reference genes investigated were RPLP0, TBP, PUM1, ACTB, GUS-B, ABL1, GAPDH and B2M. The authors idendified PUM1 (homolog of Pumilio, Drosophila) as the best reference gene for all sample combinations (Lyng et al. 2008). Therefore, in this work, PUM1 was used as a reference for all experiments. For each experiment, it was confirmed that the Cts of the reference gene was the same before and after treatment.

4.3.2 Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) enhances ST3Gal-I expression and its product α 2,3 sialyI-Core1 in T47D cell line.

Most of the RT-qPCR results reported in this thesis will be plotted as fold-change. The fold change in mRNA expression is defined as the difference of the mean log treatment data and the mean log control and both values are normalized against the log value of

the house keeping gene for each sample ($\Delta\Delta$ Cts). The values are then represented as $2^{-\Delta\Delta_{Cts}}$ (see appendix of materials and methods).

The breast cancer cell lines, MCF-7, T47D, MDA-MB-231, SK-BR-3, BT-20 and ZR-75-1, were treated with PGE2 (0.1 μ M) for 4 hours. Figure 4.1 shows the fold change of ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 to PUM1 in two ER positive, MCF-7 and ZR75-1 and in one ER negative breast cancer cell line, MDA-MB-231. After treatment with PGE2, there was no significant change in the expression of ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 in any of these cell lines (figure 4.1) and SK-Br-3 and BT-20 also showed no change in expression of the two glycosyltransferases . These data are not shown.



Figure 4.1: Exogenous PGE2 does not affect ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 in MCF-7, ZR-75-1 and MDA-MB-231.Cells were treated for 4 hours in presence of 0.1 μ M PGE2 or the vehicle (ethanol). RNA was extracted and the expression of ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 determined by RT-qPCR. The histograms show the average±SD of two independent experiments. n.s. =not statistically significant.

Pan et al. showed that CCR7 has high RNA and protein expression in MDA-MB-231 cells (COX-2 expressing breast cancer cell line), while it was low in MCF-7 cells that

express low levels of COX-2. When MCF-7 were treated with PGE2 (0.1 μ M for 24 hours), it was found that PGE2 increased CCR7 mRNA and protein expression (Pan et al. 2008). This positive control was used in the cell lines investigated, but no change in the expression of CCR7 was seen (data not shown).

However, when the ER positive cell line T47D was treated with PGE2, a consistent and statistically significant increase in ST3Gal-I expression was observed as shown in figure 4.2, which shows the fold change in expression of ST3Gal-I from three independent experiments.



Figure 4.2: PGE2 increases ST3Gal-I expression in T47D. Cells were starved for 2 hours in serum free medium and treated for 4 hours in presence of 0.1 uM PGE2 or the vehicle (ethanol). RNA was extracted and the expression of ST3Gal-I determined by RT-qPCR. The histogram shows the average \pm SD of three independent experiments. **p<0.01.

The time course of the induction of ST3Gal-I by PGE2 was investigated over 24 hours, by RT-qPCR. Figure 4.3 shows that the level of expression of ST3Gal-I increases by nearly 4 fold compared to the control between 2 and 4 hours (120 and 240 minutes) of PGE2 treatment. After 8 hours the level started to drop until it returned to the baseline level at 24 hours.



Figure 4.3: Time course of the induction of ST3Gal-I mRNA in T47D treated with PGE2. The cell line T47D was starved for 2 hours in serum free medium and treated for ½, 2, 4, 8, 24 hours with 0.1 mM PGE2 or vehicle (ethanol). RNA was extracted and the expression of ST3Gal-I determined by RT-qPCR. Red line: T47D cells treated with PGE2; Blue line: T47D treated with the vehicle.

It is not possible to quantify the change in protein expression of ST3Gal-I since there are no antibodies available to ST3Gal-I that work on Western blots. However, it is possible to quantify the change of the product of ST3Gal-I, sialylated Core1. Peanut agglutinin (PNA) is a lectin that binds to core 1 and it is inhibited by sialic acids linked in the α 2,3 position to galactose. Because of the specificity of PNA, this lectin was chosen to determine ST3Gal-I activity. If the level of expression of ST3Gal-I increases, the sialyl-core 1 will increase and the PNA staining, therefore, will decrease (PNA is inhibited by sialyl-core 1). T47D cells were treated with PGE2 for 92 hours to allow turn-over of surface proteins, and cells were analysed for PNA staining by flow cytometry (FACS).



Figure 4.4: Treatment with exogenous PGE2 of T47D increases sialylated core1, demonstrated by a decrease in PNA staining.

T47D cells were treated for 92 hours with or without PGE2. The filled grey peak and blue line are the control for respectively PGE2 treated and untreated T47D (FITC streptavadin (BD Pharmingen). Green and and red lines are PNA stained T47D treated without (green) and with PGE2 (red).

The red line (PGE2 treated cells) of figure 4.4 is shifted to the left compared to the green line (untreated cells), so when the T47D cell line is treated with PGE2, PNA binding decreases, suggesting the presence of increased sialylation of core1, the product of ST3Gal-I. Taken together, these results show that in the breast cancer cell line T47D, PGE2 stimulates the expression of ST3Gal-I that results in the increase of its product sialyl-core1.

4.3.3 TPA enhances ST3Gal-I expression and its product α 2,3 sialyl-Core1 in MDA-MB-231 cell line.

COX-2 is reported to be one of the early-response genes induced by the tumour promoter 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA). The aim of this experiment was to see if inducing COX-2 over-expression could change the expression of ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1. The six breast cancer cell lines were treated with TPA (10 nM) for 18 hours following 4 hours of starvation according to Schrey et al. (1995).

The expression of mRNA for COX-2 was measured in MCF-7 and T47D. Figure 4.5 illustrates the average of three biological experiments. The expression of COX-2 after TPA treatment in MCF-7 and T47D did not change significantly, compared to the control (cells treated with the vehicle). COX-2 mRNA expression did not change in ZR-75-1, BT-20 and SK-Br-3 (data not shown).



Figure 4.5: TPA treatment does not affect COX-2 levels in T47D and MCF-7. Cells were starved for 4 hours in serum free medium and treated for 18 hours with 10 nM TPA or the vehicle (ethanol). RNA was extracted and the expression of COX-2, determined by RT-qPCR. Each histogram shows the average±SD of three independent experiments for each cell line. n.s.=not statistically significant.

However, treatment of MDA-MB-231 with TPA gave a consistent and proportional increase (depending on the concentration) in the expression of COX-2 (Figure 4.6). Moreover ST3Gal-I mRNA increased and C2GnT1 decreased after TPA treatment (Figure 4.7).



Figure 4.6: TPA induces COX-2 mRNA expression in MDA-MB-231. MDA-MB-231 cells were treated as described in figure 4.5 with 2 concentrations of TPA. RNA was extracted and the expression of COX-2 was determined by RT-qPCR. Data represent the average of three independent experiments. * p<0.05, **p<0.01.



Figure 4.7: TPA induces ST3Gal-I and decreases C2GnT1 mRNA expression in MDA-MB-231. MDA-MB-231 cells were treated as described in figure 4.5 with 2 concentrations of TPA. RNA was extracted and the expression of ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 was determined by RT-qPCR. Data represent the average of three independent experiments. * p<0.05, **p<0.01, *** p<0.001.

TPA 10nM and 10 μ M could increase the basal level of COX-2 in MDA-MB-231 by up to 7 fold and 42 fold respectively. At the same time 10nM and 10 μ M could increase ST3Gal-I by 4 and 8 fold and decrease C2GnT1 by 1.5 and 2 fold.

A time course experiment was then carried out. 10 μ M TPA was initially used and the expression of ST3Gal-I and COX-2 mRNA was determined at the times indicated in figure 4.8.



Figure 4.8: TPA (10 μ M) induces the expression of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I in MDA-MB-231 cells in a range of 24 hours. MDA-MB-231 cells were starved for 4 hours and incubated with vehicle or 10 nM of TPA for the times indicated. RNA was extracted and the expression of COX-2, ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 was determined by RT-qPCR. The black and the grey lines represent TPA and vehicle treated cells respectively.

However, incubating the cells with 10 μ M TPA for 24 hours did induce some toxicity, as observed by Forsyth et al. (1968). Cells were detached from the flask and started to die already after 18 hours. In figure 4.8, it seems that the amount of vehicle affects the cells so much as to vary the control level of C2GnT1 after 18 hours. This effect can be attributed either to TPA or to the amount of vehicle used (60 μ l of ethanol in 10 ml of medium).

Therefore, the time course was repeated using 10 nM TPA. As can be seen from figure 4.9, COX-2 mRNA expression started to rise between 50-100 minutes and kept on increasing till 5 hours, when the experiment was stopped. In contrast, ST3Gal-I mRNA did not start increasing until after 2 hours. This delay in ST3Gal-I expression relative to COX-2 is in agreement with the induction of ST3Gal-I being indirect through COX-2.



Figure 4.9: Time course of TPA (10 nM) induction of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I expression in MDA-MB-231 treated cells. MDA-MB-231 cells were starved for 4 hours and incubated with vehicle or 10 nM of TPA for the times indicated. RNA was extracted and the expression of COX-2, ST3Gal-I determined by RT-qPCR. The black and the grey lines represent TPA and vehicle treated cells respectively.

Looking at the time course in figure 4.9, MDA-MB-231, treated with 10 nM of TPA, expresses high levels of ST3Gal-I and COX-2 after 5 hours of treatment. Figure 4.10 represents the mean of four independent experiments of MDA-MB-231, treated for 5 hours with 10 nM TPA. The results show that, after 5 hours of treatment, ST3Gal-I and COX-2 expression increases nearly of 4 and 85 fold respectively.

The protein level of expression after TPA treatment was evaluated by western blot. Unfortunately we couldn't see any bands on the western blots using different antibodies (see section 5.3.3 A for western blot results).



Figure 4.10: ST3Gal-I and COX-2 expression increase by 4 and 85 fold after 10 nM TPA treatement for 5 hours. MDA-MB-231 cells were starved for 4 hours and then treated for 5 hours with 10 nM TPA. RNA was extracted and the expression of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I determined by RT-qPCR. **p<0.01.



Figure 4.11: A) TPA increases the ST3Gal-I product, sialyl-core1. MDA-MB-231 cells were treated for 72 hours with and without TPA. The solid grey peak and blue line are the control for respectively TPA treated and untreated MDA-MB-231 (FITC streptavadin Ab). Light green and red lines are PNA stained MDA-MB-231 treated without (green) and with TPA (red). B)Neuraminidase treatment restores PNA staining of TPA treated MDA-MB-231. TPA (red line) and vehicle (green line) incubated cells were treated for 30 minutes with neuraminidase before staining with PNA and analyzing by flow cytometry. A and B are examples of two independent experiments.

To determine if TPA had increased ST3Gal-I activity, MDA-MB-231 cells were incubated with TPA for 72 hours and then stained with PNA. Cells treated with TPA (red line in figure 4.11A) showed a shift to the left compared to the control, demonstrating that there is less unsubstituted core1 (T antigen) in the TPA treated cells compared to the control.

To confirm that the decrease in PNA staining, after TPA treatment of MDA-MB-231, was dependent on the increase of sialylation of core1, the cells were treated with neuraminidase. The neuraminidase used was derived from Clostridium perfringens and it hydrolyzes $\alpha(2\rightarrow3)$, $\alpha(2\rightarrow6)$, and $\alpha(2\rightarrow8)$ -glycosidic linkages of terminal sialic residues of various glycomolecules. Figure 4.11B shows PNA staining of TPA and vehicle treated MDA-MB-231 cells after treatment with Neuraminidase. The red line (TPA treated cells) overlaps with the green line (vehicle treated cells), indicating that the pool of core1 based structure was unchanged in the TPA treated cells and confirming that the decrease in PNA staining observed in figure 4.11A is due to sialic acid masking core1.

4.4 Discussion.

This chapter describes the initial data that suggest that ST3Gal-I can be induced by COX-2. We showed that in T47D cells PGE2, a product of COX-2, induced expression of ST3Gal-I mRNA. We also showed that TPA, which among its many effects has been known to induce COX-2, can also induce the mRNA expression of ST3Gal-I. In both cell lines, induction of ST3Gal-I mRNA led to increased activity of this sialyltransferase.

Different responses in two breast cancer cell lines, T47D and MDA-MB-231, to PGE2 and TPA, were observed. In T47D, PGE2 induced the expression of ST3Gal-I, resulting in increased expression of Sialyl-core1. However T47D did not respond to TPA. In MDA-MB-231 TPA induced COX-2 and ST3Gal-I expression, but these enzymes were not induced by exogenous PGE2 in this cell line.

MDA-MB-231 and T47D represent two different subtypes of breast cancer. MDA-MB-231 is an adenocarcinoma breast cancer cell line, representative of triple negative breast cancer (ER, PR and HER-2 negative-see introduction). T47D is a ductal adenocarcinoma breast epithelial tumor cell line, which is estrogen receptor positive. Both were derived from metastatic pleural effusions. The glycosylation pattern is also different. In T47D breast cancer cell lines there is no core 2 formation and this is due to the lack of expression of C2GnT1. Dalziel et al. showed, by Northern analysis, that C2GnT1 was not expressed in T47D cells, while it was expressed in a non-malignant breast cell line, MTSV1-7 (Dalziel et al. 2000). On the other hand, ST3Gal-I is very active (Lloyd et al. 1996, Whitehouse et al. 1997). MDA-MB-231 has core 1 and core 2 based structures. The core 1 structures are mostly sialylated, suggesting competition between C2GnT1 and ST3Gal-I (Muller et al. 2002).

However, the different responses to PGE2 and TPA may be due mainly to the different expression of EP receptors (PGE2 receptors) and expression of COX-2. As discussed in Chapter 3, MDA-MB-231 cells express low levels of the EP₂ PGE2 receptor, but expresses EP₄. EP₂ and EP₄ are receptors coupled to PKA/adenyl cyclase and mediate elevation in intracellular cAMP (Narumiya et al. 1999). However, in contrast to EP₂, the signal, produced by the EP₄ receptor, is lost within a few minutes because of agonist induced desensitization (Nishigaki et al. 1996). Thus, the lack of response of MDA-MB-231 to PGE2 may be explained by this line requiring a continuous PGE2 stimulus that can be provided by TPA, but not by the exogenous PGE2 which has a very short half-life (Fitzpatrick et al.1980).

TPA only induced COX-2 overexpression in MDA-MB-231, which has the highest amount of COX-2 compared to the other breast cancer cell lines (as demonstrated in chapter 3). This agrees with Liu et al. who demonstrated that MDA-MB-231 cells

expressed constitutive levels of COX-2 that increased further in the presence of TPA (Liu et al.1996).

Kakiuchi et al. (2002) found that COX-2 overexpression or PGE2 treatment reduced ST3Gal-I expression, while Celecoxib (COX-2 selective inhibitor) increased its expression in colonrectal cancer cell lines. This result is in opposition to what was found here. However, Hatano et al. (2011) showed that in castration-resistant prostate cancer cell lines, PC3 and DU145 cells, the expression of ST3Gal-I could be mildly induced by TPA, and TPA-induced expression of ST3Gal I could be inhibited by NF-κB decoy oligodeoxynucleotides (ODN).

The results presented in this chapter suggest that ST3Gal-I can be induced by COX-2 action, but more convincing data is required. Chapter 5 describes the series of experiments undertaken to confirm that ST3Gal-I is upregulated by COX-2.

Chapter 5. Induction of ST3Gal-I in MDA-MB-231 depends on COX-2.

5.1 Introduction

In the previous chapter it was demonstrated that TPA could induce the overexpression of COX-2 and of ST3Gal-I in MDA-MB-231. In the breast cancer cell line T47D, PGE2 could increase the expression of ST3Gal-I at the mRNA level and at the protein level. This chapter will focus on the MDA-MB-231 model and the involvement of COX-2 in the induction of ST3Gal-I after TPA treatment.

To confirm the involvement of COX-2, inhibitors of COX-2 were used together with TPA to see if the effect of the phorbol ester could be reversed. The enzyme was silenced or overexpressed in MDA-MB-231 and ST3Gal-I mRNA expression was determined by RT-qPCR. The expression of ST3Gal-I and COX-2 by 78 primary breast cancers was analyzed and the correlation between the two enzymes was determined.

5.2 Objectives.

- 1. Treat cells with TPA and the COX-2 selective inhibitors NS398 or celecoxib and determine if there is any effect on the glycosyltransferases by qPCR.
- 2. Determine the change of PNA staining of ST3Gal-I product after TPA and Celecoxib treatment by FACS analysis.
- 3. Silence COX-2 with RNAi and check for COX-2 expression and ST3Gal-I RNA expression.
- 4. Transfect COX-2 into MDA-MB-231 and determine the expression of ST3Gal-I.
- 5. Determine the correlation between the expression of ST3Gal-I and COX-2 by 78 primary breast cancers.

5.3 Results.

5.3.1 Role of COX-2 inhibitors after TPA induction of ST3Gal-I in MDA-MB-231.

The six epithelial breast cancer cell lines (MCF-7, T47D, MDA-MB-231, SKBr-3, BT20 and ZR75-1) were treated with a selective COX-2 inhibitor, NS398. NS398 can block any possible release of PGE2 in the medium. No difference was seen in ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 expression of two biological experiments after 24 hours of NS398 treatment (figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1: NS398 treatment in six breast cancer cell lines cannot change ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 expression. All the breast cancer cell lines were treated for 24 hours with NS398 or the vehicle in serum free condition and the mRNA of ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 determined by RT-q-PCR. The histograms show the mean of two biological experiments.

The expression of COX-2 and of ST3Gal-I was therefore induced with TPA in MDA-MB-231 and two selective inhibitors, NS398 and Celecoxib, were used to determine if the TPA effect could be reverted by blocking COX-2. Cells were starved for 4 hours, then treated with 10 nM TPA in the presence or absence of NS398 (20 μ M) or Celecoxib (20 μ M) for 18 hours.

Figure 5.2 shows that COX-2 expression increased after TPA treatment and could be decreased by NS398. Induction of ST3Gal-I expression could also be slightly decreased by NS398, but neither the reduction of COX-2 or ST3Gal-I was statistically significant. No effect of NS398 was seen on C2GnT1 mRNA. In a third biological experiment, COX-2 induction was very high (over 45 fold) but NS398 could still partially inhibit COX-2 and ST3Gal-I expression (data not shown).



Figure 5.2: NS398 can partially reverse TPA induction of COX-2.

MDA-MB-231 were treated with TPA (10 nM) or TPA (10nM) with NS398 (20 μ M) for 18 hours and the mRNA of A.ST3Gal-I; B.COX-2; C.C2GnT1 determined by RT-q-PCR. The histograms represent the mean of two biological experiments. n.s. p>0.05.

MDA-MB-231 cells were also treated with TPA in presence or absence of Celecoxib. Celecoxib is another selective COX-2 inhibitor used in chronic inflammation and management of acute pain in adults. It is also used to reduce the number of polyps in patients with familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) (European Medicine Agency website) and in some clinical trials for breast cancer (see section 1.9.5).

Celecoxib did not inhibit the TPA effect on COX-2 and ST3Gal-I, rather unexpectedly it enhanced their mRNA expression (see figure 5.3).

MDA-MB-231 were incubated with TPA and different concentrations of Celecoxib (1, 5, 10, 20 μ M). COX-2 mRNA showed a small progressive increase in expression of 27, 36, 41 fold with 1, 5, 10 μ M of Celecoxib. However at 20 μ M of Celecoxib, COX-2 mRNA increased by a massive 403 fold (see figure 5.4). The induction of ST3Gal-I mRNA increased by 3 fold with 1, 5, 10 μ M of Celecoxib, but increased to 9 fold with 20 μ M. In order to check if the production of PGE2 was also enhanced by Celecoxib, the concentration of PGE2 was measured in the media by ELISA.



Figure 5.3: Celecoxib can enhance TPA induced expression of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I. MDA-MB-231 were treated with TPA (10 nM) on its own and TPA (10nM) and Celecoxib (20 μ M) for 18 hours and the mRNA of A.ST3Gal-I; B.COX-2; C. C2GnT1 determined by RT-q-PCR. The histograms represent the mean of three biological experiments. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, n.s.p>0.05.

The concentration of PGE2 in the supernatant of MDA-MB-231 treated with TPA or different concentration of Celecoxib in the presence of TPA was higher compared to the control, ie. medium (DMEM without FCS and glutamine) from cells after 18 hours incubation (sample number 1). As can be seen in figure 5.5, Celecoxib can inhibit the TPA induced production of PGE2, with maximum inhibition being seen at 5 μ M. Paradoxically, 20 μ M Celecoxib (the concentration that induced a massive increase in COX-2 mRNA, see figure 5.4) still reduced PGE2 secretion by about one third, but still less than 5 μ M. The increase of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I expression and the decrease in inhibition of PGE2 production after treatment with Celecoxib 20 μ M can be proof of toxicity of a high dose drug on the cells.



Figure 5.4: Celecoxib increases TPA induced expression of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I.

MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with TPA (10nM) and Celecoxib (1, 5, 10, 20 μ M) for 18 hours and the mRNA of COX-2; ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 measured by RT-q-PCR. The histograms represent only one biological experiment. Cel stands for celecoxib.



Figure 5.5: PGE2 concentration in the medium of MDA-MB-231 treated with TPA and Celecoxib. MDA-MB-231 cells were incubated with TPA in the presence of increased concentration of Celecoxib (1, 5, 10, 20 μ M) and the media was collected after 18 hours of treatment. The PGE2 concentration was determined by ELISA, according to the manufacturer's instruction.

5.3.2 The effect of Celecoxib on the product of ST3Gal-I.

The results with COX-2 in the presence of TPA and Celecoxib showed that determination of mRNA expression cannot always predict enzyme activity. Therefore the formation of ST3Gal-I product was measured to determine if Celecoxib could inhibit the glycosyltransferase activity. MDA-MB-231 were treated with TPA in the presence or absence of Celecoxib (20μ M) for 92 hours to allow turn-over of surface proteins, and cells were analysed for PNA staining by flow cytometry. As shown in figure 5.6, TPA decreases PNA staining (red) compared to the control (light green), but this effect could be reverted by Celecoxib (dark green). Thus when cells were treated with both TPA and Celecoxib the shift went back to the same level of the binding observed in the absence of TPA. This means that even if the mRNA of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I increases after TPA and Celecoxib treatment, Celecoxib is able to restore the TPA effect on ST3Gal-I

product. Figure 5.6 represents two independent biological experiments. However the experiment should be repeated using other concentrations of Celecoxib (like 5 μ M, concentration) that was more effective at inhibiting PGE2 production.

The use of inhibitors is always open to criticism due to their potential non-specificity. Moreover, the results obtained here with Celecoxib on COX-2 and ST3Gal-I expression were totally unexpected. Therefore to confirm that the increase of ST3Gal-I expression after TPA treatment was going via COX-2, COX-2 was knocked down after TPA treatment and ST3Gal-I expression was determined.



Figure 5.6: Celecoxib reversed the TPA effect on ST3Gal-I activity. MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with TPA in the presence (dark green) or absence(red) of the COX-2 inhibitor celecoxib and then analysed for PNA binding. Grey, dark blue, light blue are control cells incubated without PNA.

5.3.3 Knock down of COX-2 in MDA-MB-231 and determination of ST3Gal-I mRNA expression.

A) Characterization of the COX-2 antibody.

To determine the efficacy of siRNA the best way is to look at the protein by Western blot. The antibody to COX-2 was therefore tested on Western Blots. The expected molecular weight of COX-2 is 72 kDa. MDA-MB-231 incubated for 5 hours with TPA, were lysed in RIPA buffer according to materials and methods (see chapter 2.4.1) and run on 7.5% SDS PAGE gels.

The positive control used was MDA-MB-231 transfected for 24 hours with COX-2, lane number 3 of figure 5.7 A and B (see section 5.4). MDA-MB-231, treated with TPA for 5 hours showed a band at the same molecular weight as the positive control, that was not present in MDA-MB-231 treated with the vehicle (lane 1 of figure 5.7 A). This experiment was repeated using the same conditions and in parallel lysates for mRNA

were collected. Unfortunately a further series of western blots did not show any band after blotting with the COX-2 antibody, apart from the transfected COX-2 MDA-MB-231 (Figure 5.7 B). The loading control β -actin showed the band at the appropriate molecular weight (42 kb) indicating that the same amount of protein was used and that the problem was concerning the primary antibody against COX-2.



Figure 5.7: Induction of COX-2 expression in response to 5 hours of TPA treatment of MDA-MB-231. Lysates were immunoblotted with COX-2 antibody followed by HRP-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (Dako). Both blots were stripped and reprobed with Mouse Anti- β -actin followed by HRP-goat antimouse IgG (Dako). Membranes were developed with the ECL system (Amersham) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Lane 1, MDA-MB-231 treated with vehicle, Iane 2, MDA-MB-231 treated with TPA and Iane 3, MDA-MB-231 transfected with COX-2 for 24 hours (positive control). A and B are two biological replicates.

Another antibody against human COX-2 was used (Oxford Biomedical) and cells were lysed differently. In this case Laemli SDS PAGE sample buffer 1x (1 ul/10000 cells determined by counting a parallel well) was used directly on the cell layer. The concentration of antibody used was raised to 10 ug/ml. The western blot showed non-specific bands, and no difference between the different conditions.

B) Assessment of COX-2 mRNA knock down in MDA-MB-231.

Since it was not possible to consistently see endogenous expression of COX-2 in MDA-MB-231 by Western blot, the level of knock down for COX-2 was measured at the mRNA by RT-qPCR. MDA-MB-231 only express low levels of COX-2 at the mRNA level, hence the knock down was evaluated after TPA treatment (see figure 5.8, 5.9, 5.10).

Three different pairs of siRNA oligos were used to knock down COX-2 together with siRNA control. The first pair of primers from Santa Cruz Biotecnology (called siRNA COX-2 SC in figure 5.8) knocked down COX-2 only by 50% compared to the control. 24

hours after transfection, the cells were treated for 5 hours with TPA treatment (figure 5.8).



Figure 5.8: siRNA knock-down of COX-2 with Santa Cruz oligos (siRNA COX-2 SC) reduced COX-2 mRNA by 50% in MDA-MB-231 compared to si-RNA control. Cells were transfected with siRNA and 24 hours after transfection, treated for 5 hours with TPA (10 and 100 nM). COX-2 mRNA expression was then determined by demonstrated by RT-q-PCR

Another two oligos for siRNA silencing of COX-2 were used (see figure 5.9). They are called 1siRNA COX-2 and 2' siRNA COX-2. They were designed by Stasinopoulos et al. (2007) and produced by Dharmacon. In this case both siRNA oligos could knock down COX-2 in three biological experiments (Figure 5.9). Having an efficient knock down of COX-2, the expression of ST3Gal-I was subsequently measured.



Figure 5.9: Two pairs of siRNA targeting COX-2 knocked down COX-2 in MDA-MB-231 by 70%. Cells were transfected with siRNA and 24 hours after transfection, treated for 5 hours with TPA 10 nM. COX-2 mRNA expression was then determined by RT-q-PCR. In 2' COX-2 siRNA, 1siRNA and 2siRNA described in materials and methods were pooled. Data represent experiments. three independent *p<0.05, *** p<0.001.

C) Investigation of ST3Gal-I mRNA after COX-2 knock down in MDA-MB-231.

The expression of ST3Gal-I was determined after COX-2 had been knocked-down using the siRNA shown in figure 5.9. Figure 5.10 shows that when COX-2 was knocked-down by 70%, ST3Gal-I mRNA decreased by 50 % for both siRNA oligos in three biological experiments.



Figure 5.10: The two siRNA that knocked down COX-2 by 70% in MDA-MB-231 (figure 5.9) reverted TPA effect on ST3Gal-I by 50%. MDA-MB-231 were transfected with 1 and 2' siRNA and 24 hours after transfection, treated for 5 hours with TPA 10 nM. ST3Gal-I mRNA expression was then determined by RT-qPCR. In 2' COX-2 siRNA, 1siRNA and 2siRNA described in materials and methods were pooled. Data represent three independent experiments. *p<0.05, n.s.=not statistical significant

Moreover two pooled siRNA to COX-2, that gave a knock down of 53% in two other biological experiments (figure 5.11), were also able to decrease ST3Gal-I mRNA expression by 50% (figure 5.11).



Figure 5.11: 2' siRNA, targeting COX-2, knocked down COX-2 in MDA-MB-231 by 53% in another two biological experiments and reverted TPA effect on ST3Gal-I. Cells were transfected and treated as descrive in figure 5.9 and 5.10. COX-2 mRNA expression was then determined by RT-q-PCR. Data represent two independent experiments. Asterisks denote a statistically significant difference from control: *p<0.05, ** p<0.01. In the specific case of p=0.07 the value is reported since it is very close to be significant.

In summary, two pairs of siRNA that could knock down COX-2 by 70%, could revert the TPA effect on ST3Gal-I. Furthermore, in subsequent experiment when the pooled

siRNA were used and COX-2 expression was only decreased by 50%, ST3Gal-I expression was still decreased (see figure 5.11). These data provide evidence that the increase of ST3Gal-I mRNA induced by TPA is working through COX-2.

5.3.4 Transfection of COX-2 in MDA-MB-231 and determination of ST3Gal-I mRNA expression.

A)Determination of COX-2 plasmid authenticity.

To confirm the involvement of COX-2 in regulating ST3Gal-I expression, COX-2 was overexpressed by transient transfection in MDA-MB-231.

The vector containing the cDNA for COX-2 (called pCMV6-AC) was purchased from Origene. The vector includes a strong CMV promoter, a neomycin selectable marker and the COX-2 cDNA (also called with the gene name: *PTGS2*) cloned into the vector at EcoRI and NotI sites. To check the authenticity of the construct, the plasmid was cut with restriction enzymes and an antibody against human COX-2 was used for staining transiently transfected cells.

Two plasmid maxipreps were prepared and the purified plasmid cut with EcoRI and NotI and run on a 1% agarose gel. Figure 5.12 shows that digesting the samples with EcoRI and NotI resulted in two bands of around 6 and 3.5 kb agreeing with the manufacturer's information that the size of the vector is 5.8 and the size of the insert is 3.5 kb.



Figure 5.12: Restriction endonuclease digest of hPTGS2 vector (pCMV6-AC). Lanes 1 to 4 and 5 to 8 are two different batches derived by Maxiprep of the same vector. Lanes 1 and 5 are Not I and EcoRI digested, lane 2 and 6 Not I digested, lane 3 and 7 EcoR I digested and lane 4 and 8 are uncut. The ladder used was 1 kb ladder from (Invitrogen).

COS cells were transiently transfected with the COX-2 plasmid and after 24 hours stained with COX-2 antibody (Oxford Biomedical). Figure 5.13 shows the difference

between wild type COS cells (figure 5.13 a), COX-2 transfected COS cells stained only with secondary Alexa Fluor® 546 Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L) (figure 5.13b), and with COX-2 antibody (figure 5.13 c). The staining of COX-2 appeared to be located in the endoplasmic reticulum and around the nuclear envelope as it is expected for this enzyme (Morita et al.1995). In conclusion the plasmid pCMV6-AC was verified to express COX-2 and could be used to express COX-2 in the cell line MDA-MB-231.



Figure 5.13 COX-2 staining in COX-2 transfected COS cells. Cells $(1x10^5)$ were plated the day prior to staining. Cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde at 4°C for 10 min and blocked with 100% FCS. After three washes wild type COS cells were stained with anti-COX-2 antibody (Oxford Biomedical) followed by Alexa Fluor® 546 Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG (a); COX-2 transfected COS cells stained with the second antibody Alexa Fluor® 546 Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG (b); COX-2 transfected COS cells stained with anti-COX-2 antibody (Oxford Biomedical) followed by second antibody (c).

B) Transfection of COX-2 for 72 hours induced ST3Gal-I expression in MDA-MB-231

MDA-MB-231 cells were transfected with pCMV6-AC and tested after 72 hours for COX-2 and ST3Gal-I mRNA expression. COX-2 transfected MDA-MB-231 showed an increase in COX-2 and ST3Gal-I mRNA expression by RT-qPCR. Figure 5.14 shows histograms of the mean of mRNA fold change in expression of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I compared to the mock transfected cells.

5.3.5 Correlation of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I in vivo in breast cancers.

To investigate the clinical significance of our findings we determined the expression of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I mRNA by RT-PCR on 78 primary breast cancers (52 ER positive, 14 ER negative, rest unknown classification) obtained from the Guy's and St Thomas' Research Breast Tissue Bank. Before RNA extraction, sections were taken from the tissue to confirm that each sample contained at least 70% carcinoma cells (performed

by the Tissue Bank Lab). PUM1 was used as the reference gene and the level of ST3Gal-I normalized to PUM1 (see table 5.1 for the results). Figure 5.15 shows the plot of –log of the expression of COX-2 against –log of expression of ST3Gal-I.

We applied two statistical tests to the data. Firstly, Spearman's rank correlation which gave a correlation of 0.309 with a p value of 0.00593, and secondly Pearson's correlation which gave a correlation coefficient of 0.274 with a p value of 0.015. Thus both tests confirmed the presence of moderate but statistically significant correlation in the expression of the two enzymes. The statistics were calculated by Dr. Brian Burford (Breakthrough Breast Cancer, Research Oncology, King's College London, Guy's Hospital, London, UK).



Figure 5.14: COX-2 transfection of MDA-MB-231 enhances ST3Gal-I mRNA expression by two fold. MDA-MB-231 were transfected with COX-2 cDNA and RNA extracted 72 hours past transfection. The expression of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I were determined by RT-q-PCR. The histograms represent mean of three independent experiments. Asterisks denote a statistically significant difference from control: *p<0.05.



Figure 5.15: The expression of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I are correlated in primary breast cancers. RNA was extracted from 78 primary breast cancers and the expression of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I was determined by RT-PCR. The -log of the DCT was plotted and the correlation determined by the Spearman's test, correlation coefficient was 0.309, p=0.00593 and the Pearson test, correlation coefficient 0.274 p=0.0150. Table 5.1 (below) lists the data for all the 78 primary tumours. **Table 5.1: Relative expression to PUM1 of**

COX-2 and ST3Gal-I mRNAs in 78 specimens of primary breast cancer

	$2^{-\Delta Cts}$ relative to PLIM1			$2^{-\Delta Cts}$ relative to PUM1	
n of sample	COX-2	ST3Gal-1	40	0.06058061	0.2361322
1	0.02176268	0.18317993	41	0.24485507	0.46222483
2	0.05940247	1.91189064	42	0.04301549	0.59680575
3	0.0320248	0.33394135	43	0.02130496	0.1942967
4	0.12075599	0.17273911	44	0.15037813	0.47587899
5	0.18547972	1.879914	45	0.2220054	0.62517558
6	0.08258365	1.10867256	46	0.06175358	0.21950616
7	0.40650171	0.23234385	47	0.09557873	0.445295
8	0.17608371	0.57130511	48	0.01105365	0.11614508
9	0.02221483	0.39864229	49	0.16072505	0.64849469
10	0.05269586	0.38165297	50	0.00954085	0.24400794
11	0.0227814	0.21533678	51	0.05480052	0.32241706
12	0.02863652	0.28964011	52	0.01672713	0.46377598
13	0.02665716	0.77682776	53	0.01309052	0.11042714
14	0.02920448	0.43077308	54	0.07789458	0.07839108
15	0.03521092	0.9373545	55	0.17825321	0.28093988
16	0.10506349	0.51536507	56	0.03216941	0.09037077
17	0.01426543	0.29699283	57	0.21915143	0.33029644
18	0.03166062	0.09961453	58	0.02336242	0.18349763
19	0.05419612	0.21955688	59	0.03903287	0.09687937
20	0.1619552	0.33836838	60	0.0163791	0.05294604
21	0.04136822	0.11765762	61	0.45360234	0.29943885
22	0.03602977	0.33463649	62	0.29778301	0.42479342
23	0.01971813	0.08271732	63	0.1658748	0.36993234
24	0.04155982	0.17559618	64	0.84206295	0.46943587
25	1.00138726	0.29449873	65	0.33564313	0.6125219
26	0.06468911	0.14549082	66	0.02639363	0.3428541
27	0.02090995	0.17792404	67	0.01251383	0.07673348
28	0.01539209	0.17722655	68	0.05689057	0.18685616
29	0.01964083	0.59104232	69	0.07668031	0.44720245
30	0.02780523	0.12453875	70	0.09928136	0.29992354
31	0.03874982	0.21394818	71	0.03507694	0.31864016
32	1.76601794	0.24810109	72	0.02080393	0.18445405
33	0.0210068	0.41217626	73	0.00583925	0.45114611
34	0.10359311	0.27093149	74	0.04549967	0.38068422
35	0.03962807	0.03654961	75	0.01364327	0.09186548
36	0.10002968	0.32657811	76	0.01175159	1.27869011
37	0.05037436	0.28093988	77	0.05904669	0.17055788
38	0.03677834	0.53120231	78	0.04872029	0.65474271
39	0.03052214	0.39859624			

5.4 Discussion

In chapter 4, it was demonstrated that in the breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231, TPA could increase ST3Gal-I and COX-2 mRNA expression and the product of both enzymes (see PNA staining by FACS and PGE2 production by ELISA). Therefore to investigate if ST3Gal-I induction was via COX-2, NS398 and Celecoxib, selective inhibitors of COX-2 were used. NS398 could revert the TPA effect on COX-2 and slightly decrease ST3Gal-I expression. However, Celecoxib unexpectedly increased ST3Gal-I and COX-2 mRNA expression. Upon searching the literature it was found that induction of COX-2 mRNA by Celecoxib has been reported by others. Indeed Niederberger et al. (2001) showed that Celecoxib increases COX-2 mRNA and protein expression in a concentration between 10 and 50 μ M. We also found that Celecoxib can increase COX-2 and ST3Gal-I mRNA and slightly decrease C2GnT1 mRNA expression (see figure 5.4). Thus ST3Gal-I and COX-2 mRNA expression move in parallel, even with Celecoxib treatment. It was totally unexpected that NSAIDs extensively used in clinic and in clinical trials for cancer, could increase COX-2 mRNA. However, the results from the ELISA quantifying PGE2 secretion in the samples treated for 18 hours with TPA and Celecoxib showed there was less PGE2 secretion than when the cells were treated with TPA alone. This result means that even if Celecoxib increases COX-2 mRNA, it was inhibiting its activity. Furthermore, Celecoxib was inhibiting ST3Gal-I activity. As said in the introduction, PNA (peanut agglutinin) binds specifically the T structure (Core1) and this binding is inhibited by the presence of sialic acid (Novogrodsky et al. 1975). Celecoxib could inhibit ST3Gal-I activity since it was able to revert the PNA binding seen after TPA treatment back to the TPA untreated cells.

To confirm the ST3Gal-I mRNA was being induced by COX-2, COX-2 was silenced or over-expressed in MDA-MB-231 and ST3Gal-I expression measured by RT-qPCR. Stasinopoulos et al. (2007) showed that COX-2 expression could be knocked down in MDA-MB-231 using COX-2 targeting small interfering RNA (siRNA). The same oligos were used and they also showed a knock down of COX-2 by 70% after TPA treatment. This resulted in ST3Gal-I expression, after TPA induction, being decreased by 50% in three independent experiments. Moreover, when COX-2 was transfected into MDA-MB-231, ST3Gal-I mRNA expression increased by 2 fold. Thus, ST3Gal-I expression is affected after silencing and transfection of COX-2.

To relate these findings in breast cancer cell lines to clinical samples, the expression of COX-2 and ST3Gal-I were analyzed in 78 breast cancer samples. The statistical correlation between COX-2 and ST3Gal-I was moderate but statistically significant. However, the level of mRNA expression of an enzyme does not give us information on its activity or the possible influence of the cell environment and of competing

glycosyltransferases. This means that a moderate correlation may allow COX-2 to have even more influence on ST3Gal-I. Given all the data presented in this thesis we can conclude that ST3Gal-I expression is controlled by COX-2 in breast cancer cell lines and possibly in primary breast cancers.



Figure 5.16 Effect of TPA and PGE2 on ST3Gal-I in breast cancer cells. TPA binds directly PKC and upregulates COX-2 expression and consequently increases PGE2 secretion. PGE2 binds EP receptors and upregulates ST3Gal-I expression and SialyIT expression.

From the literature it is evident that COX-2 expression is turned on in many cancers. Increased expression has been reported in colon (Eberhart et al. 1994), bladder (Eltze et al. 2005) and breast cancers (Ristimaki et al. 2002), the same cancers that show increased expression of ST3Gal-I (Burchell et al. 1999, Potapenko et al.2010, Higai et al. 2006, Videira et al. 2009). In particular COX-2 was found overexpressed in about 40% of cases of invasive breast carcinoma (associated with unfavorable distant disease-free survival) (Ristimaki et al. 2002) and ST3Gal-I has been found over-expressed in breast carcinomas, and in primary breast cancers its increase is correlated with tumour grade (Burchell et al. 1999).

COX-2 expression has been associated with lymph node metastasis (Costa et al. 2002), distant metastasis (Larkins et al. 2006), angiogenesis (Davies et al. 2003), processes that all involve glycan interactions (Ono et al. 2004).

COX-2 is important in lymph node metastasis and distant metastasis. Lymph node metastasis is associated with high expression of VEGF-C and the prostaglandin EP_1

and EP₄ receptors are involved in COX-2 mediated VEGF-C up-regulation (Su et al. 2004, Xin et al. 2012). Moreover COX-2 up-regulates, via EP2 and EP4 receptors, CCR7 expression in breast cancer cells, a chemokine receptor associated with breast cancer metastasis. COX-2 also regulates matrix metalloproteinase expression that can digest the extracellular matrix and the basement membrane (Pan et al. 2008). Gene expression analyses and mouse model systems have also revealed correlations between COX-2 overexpression and breast cancer metastasis to the lung, bone, and brain (Bos et al. 2009; Singh et al. 2007; Minn et al. 2005). ST3Gal-I expression is associated with grade and therefore an association with lymph node expression is inferred.Julien et al. (2007) showed that when monocyte derived dendritic cells are induced to mature and migrate to the lymph nodes, the composition of their O-linked glycans changes in a way that mirrors the change in breast cancer. Upon maturation of DCs, C2GnT1 is down regulated and the sialyltransferase ST3Gal-I is up-regulated resulting in the change from core 2 based glycans to sialylated core 1 glycans. When breast cancer cells metastasize to the lymph nodes, like dendritic cells, they migrate from the tissue to the lymph nodes and it is possible that the O-linked glycans changes could be involved. Interestingly, PGE2 changed the expression of ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 on dendritic cells (Julien et al. 2007).

It was shown that in transgenic mice overexpressing the human COX-2 gene in the mammary glands resulted in reduced levels of the proapoptotic proteins Bax and Bcl- x_L and an increase in Bcl-2, that can inactivate the apoptotic caspase cascade upstream of the mitochondria, suggesting that enhanced COX-2 expression is sufficient to inhibit apoptosis and induce mammary gland tumorigenesis. Therefore, inhibition of Cox-2 may represent a mechanism-based chemopreventive approach for carcinogenesis (Liu et al. 2001).

ST3Gal-I is important in tumorigenesis. In this lab, Picco et al. showed that ST3Gal-I promotes mammary gland carcinogenesis. Transgenic mice were developed that overexpressed ST3Gal-I from the MUC1 promoter to allow upregulation in mammary gland. ST3Gal-I transgenic mice did not show obvious change in the development of the mammary gland, but they showed increased activity and expression of the enzyme in the pregnant and lactating mammary glands, the stomach, lungs and intestine. These mice were then crossed with Polyoma middle T mice (a model of spontaneous breast cancer) running from the MMTV promoter and showed a significant increase in the speed of mammary tumour development compared to the controls (Picco et al. 2010).

The findings reported here maybe useful for the development of specific therapeutics targeting COX-2 and changes in glycosylation in breast cancer. NSAIDs (non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug) are important in chemoprevention and are used as adjuvant for

patients under chemotherapy/radiation regimens with COX-2 expressing breast cancers. The Randomised European Celecoxib Trial (REACT) is a phase III clinical trial (now underway) based on the use of Celecoxib (and Adjuvant endocrine therapy on hormone receptor (ER and PgR) positive patients) for women with breast cancers. Moreover there are other clinical trials underway using Celecoxib for breast cancer and other types of cancer: Neoexel study, (phase III Neoadjuvant trial of pre-operative exemestane or letrozole +/- celecoxib in the treatment of ER positive postmenopausal early breast cancer);2) NCI/MSKCC (phase II study of celecoxib and herceptin in women with HER2+ metastatic breast cancer refractory to herceptin); 3) NCI phase I randomised study of 6 weeks neoadjuvant celecoxib for localised prostate cancer; 4) NCI/UCSF randomised phase II study of two years celecoxib for prevention of basal cell carcinoma in patients with basal cell naevus syndrome. However, as described in section 1.9.5, COXIBs (as well as NSAIDs) have several side effects like cardiovascular complications, which is why all patients under these clinical trials receive a cadiovascular assessment throughout the treatment (REACT PROTOCOL- version 34, 28.09.2009).

Further studies are needed on the influence of COX-2 activity on glycosylation. Eventual discoveries could overcome side effects of NSAIDs as glycosylation enzymes may be suitable therapeutic targets for cases of breast cancer that have become resistant to other therapies.

As said in section 1.2.2 Curtis et al. described a novel molecular classification of breast cancer based on the acquired somatic copy number aberrations and gene expression profiling. On a cohort of 2000 breast tumours ten groups were identified and a cohort of ER positive luminal epithelial cancers have been identified with a very bad outcome (Curtis et al. 2012). According to Gluck, Chin and other datasets ST3Gal-I is found more in invasive breast cancer (Chin et al. 2006, Gluck et al. 2012). It would be interesting to determine COX-2 and ST3Gal-I expression in the ER+ve cluster identified by Curtis et al. (Curtis et al. 2012) as having a poor prognosis with the aim of developing new targeted therapies.

Chen et al. developed an inhibitor, lithocholic acid, that could block the action of different sialyltransferases, including ST3Gal-I, by lysosomal degradation. One limitation to this kind of approach is that ST3Gal-I is expressed by mature T cells and so a selective inhibitor would face multivalent and low-affinity interactions in vivo (Chen et al. 2011).

In this chapter we saw how two selective COX-2 inhibitors could affect ST3Gal-I mRNA expression and activity. It would be interesting to measure the expression of ST3Gal-I in tumours from the patients of the Clinical trials investigating the efficacy of the

selective COX-2 inhibitor, celecoxib, and see if the outcome of the patients that do express high levels of ST3Gal-I, differs from patients expressing moderate or lower levels.

The results described here suggest the intriguing possibility that some of the malignant characteristics associated with COX-2 expression may by via the influence that COX-2 exerts on the glycosylation of tumour cells.

Chapter 6. PKC can control ST3Gal-I expression.

6.1 Introduction

As discussed in the previous chapter, ST3Gal-I mRNA expression is induced by COX-2, which results in increased ST3Gal-I activity, as demonstrated by the increased formation of sialylated core 1, the ST3Gal-I product. The aim of this chapter is to identify possible pathways that can be involved in COX-2 regulation of ST3Gal-I.

6.2 Objectives.

1. Identify the phosphoprotein activated by TPA, using a Human Phospho-Kinase Array kit.

2. Treat cells with EGF and investigate possible role in ST3Gal-I induction.

3. Use of statistic website for investigating CREB binding sites on ST3Gal-I promoter and usage of forskolin to determine any possible influence on ST3Gal-I expression.

4. Determine the effect of PKC inhibitors on ST3Gal-I and COX-2 expression after TPA and PGE2 treatment, in MDA-MB-231 and T47D, respectively.

5. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation qPCR for histone marks (H3K4Me2 and H3K4Me3) on ST3Gal-I promoter after stimulation with TPA.

6.3 Results.

6.3.1 Phosphorylation assay after TPA treatment in MDA-MB-231.

The aim of the experiment was to analyze the phosphorylation profiles of some kinases and protein substrates in MDA-MB-231 after TPA treatment, to identify and see if any of them are involved in the upregulation of ST3Gal-I. To do so, a phosphoarray kit was used. As explained in the materials and methods (section 2.4.4), the kit consists of 46 capture antibodies of different kinases and proteins and control antibodies that have been spotted in duplicate on nitrocellulose membranes. Figure 6.1 shows a table with all the kinases and their disposition on the membranes. The Human Phospho-Kinase Array is divided in A and B as shown in figure 6.1. The membranes are incubated with cell lysates, probed with a cocktail of antibodies and developed as western blots.





Membrane/Coordinate	Target/Control
A-A1, A2	Reference Spot
A-A3, A4	ρ38α
A-A5, A6	ERK1/2
A-A7, A8	JNK pan
A-A9, A10	GSK-3α/β
B-A13, A14	p53
B-A17, A18	Reference Spot
A-B3, B4	MEK1/2
A-B5, B6	MSK1/2
A-B7, B8	ΑΜΡΚα1
A-B9, B10	Akt
B-B11, B12	Akt
B-B13, B14	p53
A-C1, C2	TOR
A-C3, C4	CREB
A-C5, C6	HSP27
A-C7, C8	ΑΜΡΚα2
A-C9, C10	β-Catenin
B-C11, C12	p70 S6 Kinase
B-C13, C14	p53
B-C15, C16	p27
B-C17, C18	Paxillin
A-D1, D2	Src
A-D3, D4	Lyn
A-D5, D6	Lck
A-D7, D8	STAT2
A-D9, D10	STAT5a
B-D11, D12	p70 S6 Kinase
B-D13, D14	RSK1/2/3
B-D15, D16	p27
B-D17, D18	PLCγ-1

a)

A-E1, E2	Fyn
A-E3, E4	Yes
A-E5, E6	Fgr
A-E7, E8	STAT3
A-E9, E10	STAT5b
B-E11, E12	p70 S6 Kinase
B-E13, E14	RSK1/2
B-E15, E16	c-Jun
B-E17, E18	Pyk2
A-F1, F2	Hck
A-F3, F4	Chk-2
A-F5, F6	FAK
A-F7, F8	STAT6
A-F9, F10	STAT5a/b
B-F11, F12	STAT1
B-F13, F14	STAT4
B-F15, F16	eNOS
B-F17, F18	PBS (Negative Control)
A-G1, G2	Reference Spot
A-G5, G6	PBS (Negative Control)

Figure 6.1: a) Human Phospho-Kinase Array Coordinates on the membranes. b) Table documenting the 46 different kinase and proteins and their coordinates on the arrays.

MDA-MB-231 was treated for 5 minutes with

10 nM TPA or vehicle. Protein lysates were collected and parallel cultures were incubated for 5 hours with TPA for RNA extraction, in order to confirm overexpression of ST3Gal-I and COX-2. RT-qPCR confirmed the upregulation of ST3Gal-I and COX-2 mRNA after 5 hours of TPA treatment (data not shown). The membranes of the array were incubated overnight with the protein lysate and the assay was run according to materials and methods. ERK 1/2, JNK, CREB, Chk-2, FAK (Spots A 5-6, A 7-8, C 3-4, F 3-4, F 5-6 squared in red in figure 6.2), showed increased phosphorylation after

treatment with TPA.



Figure 6.2: Treatment of MDA-MB-231 with TPA results in increased phosphorylation of ERK 1/2, JNK, CREB, Chk-2, FAK. MDA-MB-231 were treated with 10 nM TPA or vehicle for 5 minutes. Membranes were incubated with the lysates as described in materials and methods (section 2.4.4) and developed with the ECL system (Amersham) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

To confirm the results of the arrays, cells were treated again with 10 nM TPA for 5 minutes and lysates run on SDS-PAGE and the Western blots probed with antibodies to FAK, CREB and ERK. Figure 6.3 shows the results and confirms that TPA induces phosphorylation of FAK, CREB and ERK in MDA-MB-231 (see figure 6.3).

According to the literature (Wen-Sheng and Jun-Ming, 2005, Li et al. 2006), we found that TPA enhanced ERK and CREB phosphorylation. The involvement of these two transcription factors in the expression of ST3Gal-I was investigated in MDA-MB-231 cell line.



138

Figure 6.3: TPA increases phospho-FAK, phospho-CREB and phospho-ERK in MDA-MB-231 after 5 minutes of treament. Lysates were run on a 7.5% SDS-PAGE and the Western blots probed with antibodies to the protein or with phosphospecific antibodies. The loading control antibody used for each blot was β -actin. Membranes were developed with the ECL system according to the manufacturer's instructions.

6.3.2 ERK is not involved in ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 activation of transcription.

The activation of EGFR (epidermal growth factor receptor) is involved in breast cancer, in particular in the process of metastasis and invasion (Nickerson et al. 2012). ERK is a downstream molecule activated by EGF–EGFR signalling. EGF binding results in the phosphorylation of EGFR and consequent activation of ERK1/2. So, exogenous EGF was used as an alternative way to TPA, to activate ERK and see if it could also induce ST3Gal-I mRNA expression. MDA-MB-231 cell line was treated with EGF (50 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml) for 2, 5 and 8 hours and ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 mRNA expression was determined. In parallel, to confirm that ERK was phosphorylated, MDA-MB-231 were treated for 5 minutes with EGF and the phosphorylation of ERK determined by western blot (see figure 6.4).

The expression of ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 mRNA in EGF treated cells was determined by RT-qPCR. ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 mRNA expression did not change more than 2 fold in expression over the time course (shown in figure 6.5). However, as after 2 hours there was a two fold increase in ST3Gal-I expression, this time point was repeated a further three times.

The results showed that the induction of ST3Gal-I by EGF after 2 hours of incubation was inconsistent (figure 6.5 B) and therefore, it was concluded that EGF could not induce ST3Gal-I expression and that ERK is not involved in TPA induction of



expression of ST3Gal-I.

Figure 6.4: EGF treatment of MDA-MB-231 for 5 minutes can increase the phosphorylation of ERK. MDA-MB-231 were treated with PBS (vehicle) (Lane 1) or with 50 ng/ml or 100 ng/ml EGF(Lanes 2 and 3). Lysates were run on 7.5% SDS-PAGE and the Western blots probed with ERK and phosphoERK antibodies. The loading control antibody used was β -actin. Membranes were developed with the ECL system (Amersham) according to the manufacturer's instructions



Α

Figure 6.5: EGF does not change the expression of ST3Gal-I or C2GnT1 consistently. A. MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with EGF for the times indicated and the expression of ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 was determined by RT-qPCR. The graphs show the average for two biological experiments. B. MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with EGF for 2 hours and the expression of ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 was determined by RT-qPCR. The graphs show the average for three biological experiments.

6.3.3 CREB involvement on ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 activation of transcription.

The cAMP responsive element binding protein is a phosphorylation activated trascription factor (Mayr et al. 2001). CREB can be activated by different kinases, like Protein Kinase C, Protein Kinase A, calmodulin kinases (CaMKs), Akt and pp90 ribosomal S6 kinase (pp90 RSK; also known as RSK2) (Sakamoto et al. 2009). When one of these protein kinases is activated, it translocates to the nucleus and phosphorylates the CREB protein. The activated CREB binds to a CRE region, and it is

bound by a CBP (CREB-binding protein) that works as a cofactor for the transcription of other genes (Carlezon et al. 2005).

Bioinformatic tools like Gene2promoter, MatInspector, EIDorado and FrameWorker were used to study the ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 promoter to analyze the presence of CREB binding sites. The promoter region C2GnT1 is complex and in humans four different 5' untranslated regions have been identified, consistent with the presence of multiple tissue specific promoters for the C2GnT1 gene (Falkenberg et al. 2003). As can be seen from figure 6.6, all four promoter regions of C2GnT1 contain CRE consensus sites. The promoter region of the ST3Gal-I is less complex and although two possible promoter regions have been identified, only one appears to be in the region important for the transcriptional activity of ST3Gal-I (Taniguchi et al. 2001). However, according to Softberry (predictive transcription binding site program), the only CREB binding site on ST3Gal-I promoter has a very low affinity to CREB.

As forskolin is the most potent activator of CREB (Seternes et al.1999), it was used to activate CREB, and ST3Gal-I, C2GnT1 and COX-2 mRNA expression were determined.



Figure 6.6: Identification of CRE sequence (blue) in the alternative promoters of human C2GnT1. Some are conserved among the species suggesting a functional relevance. (http://www.genomatix.de/online_help/help_eldorado/Gene2Promoter_Intro.html).

MDA-MB-231 were treated with forskolin for 1, 3, 5 and 20 hours. The time point at 3, 5 and 20 hours in figure 6.7 represent the mean±SD of two biological experiments. ST3Gal-I mRNA did not show any significant change in expression. On the other hand, C2GnT1 seemed to increase by about two fold. Around a three fold increase in COX-2 mRNA was observed and this increase was much lower than that seen with TPA. Moreover, the major increase in expression was seen after 20 hours, suggesting that forskolin indirectly induces COX-2 mRNA expression. The data were not suggestive of

any positive response of ST3Gal-I to forskolin. Given that the CREB binding site on the ST3Gal-I promoter is of low affinity (Softberry data base), the possible correlation with this transcription factor was not further investigated.



Figure 6.7: Forskolin does significantly not change ST3Gal-I mRNA expression. MDA-MB-231 were treated with forskolin (20 μ M) for 1, 3, 5 and 20 hours and ST3Gal-I, C2GnT1 and COX-2 mRNA were determined by RT-qPCR. The data represent two biological experiments for the time point of 90 minutes, 3 and 8 hours.

6.3.4 Involvement of PKC in ST3Gal-I expression.

TPA is a phorbol diester that resembles the structure and the activity of diacylglycerol and so binds to Protein Kinase C (Castagna et al. 1982). It was demonstrated that TPA increased the PKC activity more than the unsaturated diacylglycerol, and decreased in the Ca2+ concentration that was necessary for enzyme activation (Castagna et al. 1982).

The PKC family consists of 12 isoenzymes classified in 3 subfamilies depending on their mechanism of activation and on structural characteristics: 1) conventional or classic PKCs (PKC α , β , γ) that require DAG and Ca2+ for activation; 2) non-classic or novel PKCs (PKC δ , ε , η , θ) that require DAG but not Ca2+ for activation and 3) atypical PKCs that do not require either DAG or Ca2+(PKC ι , ζ , μ , λ) (Newton et al. 2001).

TPA can only bind classic and novel PKC. Gö6976 inhibits PKC α , β (conventional PKC), and PKC μ (atypical PKCs). Gö6983 inhibits PKC α , PKC β , PKC γ , (conventional PKCs), PKC δ (non-classic PKC), PKC ζ , and PKC μ (atypical PKC).

ST3Gal-I in T47D responded to PGE2 but not to TPA and ST3Gal-I in MDA-MB-231 responded to TPA but not to PGE2. Thus we wanted to determine if this could be explained by differential expression of PKC isoenzymes.

MDA-MB-231 was incubated with TPA in the presence or absence of the two inhibitors Gö 6983 (6 μ M) and Gö6976 (2 μ M) for 5 hours, while T47D was treated for 4 hours with PGE2 (100 nM) in the presence or absence of the same PKC inhibitors. The time point used for the two cell lines was determined by the results reported in chapter 3 and 4. Figure 6.8 shows that the two PKC
inhibitors blocked the TPA effect on ST3Gal-I and COX-2. This result was expected, as TPA exerts its action through the isoforms of PKC.

Unexpected was the effect that the PKC inhibitors had on the PGE2 upregulation of ST3Gal-I in T47D. Both inhibitors (Gö6983 and Gö6976) reversed the PGE2 effect on ST3Gal-I in two biological experiments (figure 6.9 A and B). COX-2 level of expression was very low and, as observed in chapter 4, PGE2 did not increase its expression (data not shown). Thus PGE2 appears to be inducing the expression of ST3Gal-I via PKC in T47D.



Figure 6.8 TPA effect on ST3Gal-I and COX-2 in MDA-MB-231 can be reverted by the PKC inhibitors A. Gö 6976, B. Gö 6983. MDA-MB-231 were treated with TPA or TPA and A)Gö 6976 B) Gö 6983 for 5 hours. ST3Gal-I and COX-2 mRNA expression was then determined by RT-qPCR. Data represent the mean of three independent experiments. *p<0.05.





Figure 6.9 PGE2 effect on ST3Gal-I in T47D can be reverted by the PKC inhibitors Gö 6976 and Gö 6983. T47D cells were treated with PGE2 or PGE2 and A)Gö 6983 B) Gö 6976. ST3Gal-I RNA expression was then determined by RT-qPCR. Data represent the mean of three independent experiments. *p<0.05.

6.3.5 Histone marks H3K4Me3 and H3K4Me2 change on ST3Gal-I promoter region after TPA treatment.

Histones are responsible for the structure of chromatin, since the DNA is wound around them, forming nucleosomes. There are five classes of histones: H1/H5, H2A, H2B, H3, and H4. H1 and H5 are the linker histones while H2A, H2B, H3 and H4 are known as the core histones since they form the nucleosome core (two H2A-H2B dimers and a H3-H4 tetramer). Dependent upon the post-translation modifications of histones, chromatin can be condensed or more open and this will influence the expression of genes.

Histones undergo a number of posttranslational modifications and this includes lysine methylation, arginine methylation, lysine acetylation, serine/threonine/tyrosine phosphorylation and even glycosylation (O-GlcNAc). Among the lysine methylation, trimethylation and dimethylation of H3 on lysine 4 (H3K4Me3), within promoter regions, are associated with active transcription. The H3K4Me3 mark sits near the transcriptional start site of many promoters, very close to polymerase II and TFIID (transcription factor II D that binds the TATA box in the promoter gene) sites (Heintzman et al. 2007).

The methyl marks on H3K4 on the promoter of the ST3Gal-I gene was, therefore, investigated after transcription was induced by TPA, using ChIP Real Time PCR (RTqPCR). ChIP is defined as Chromatin Immuno-Precipitation and it is a method to examine in vivo protein-DNA interactions with transcription factors, modified histones and other nuclear factors. ChIP-qPCR is Chromatin Immunoprecipitation with qPCR detection and quantification. Using the dataset http://genome.ucsc.edu/ENCODE/, we were able to confirm the presence of H3K4Me3 sites around the transcriptional start site of ST3Gal-I and primers were designed. GAPDH was used as a positive control and the primers were provided by Qiagen in their Epitect ChIP assay kit. Ten million MDA-MB-231 cells were treated for 5 hours with 10 nM TPA. The chromatin was extracted and immunoprecipitated with antibodies to H3K4Me2 and H3K4Me3, as described in material and methods. To determine any change in the H3K4Me3 and Me2 marks, the results, obtained from qPCR of the chromatin immunoprecipitate with antibodies to H3K4Me3 or Me2, were normalized to the input results and the result with the IgG control antibody deducted. In table 6.1, the Cts of the input, treated and not treated with TPA, was subtracted from the Cts of the immunoprecipitated chromatin treated and untreated with TPA respectively. These values were then normalized against the IgG Δ Cts and these values were then converted to 2 $^{-\Delta\Delta}$ Cts.

The results obtained were totally unexpected (see figure 6.11). The H3K4Me3 and Me2 marks on ST3Gal-I promoter both decreased after TPA treatment. However, the H3K4Me3 and Me2 marks on GAPDH, used as a positive control, decreased as well. Unexpectively, the H3K4Me2 and H3K4Me3 marks of active transcription decreased by 5 fold on the ST3Gal-I promoter after TPA treatment, when ST3Gal-I transcription increased. The experiment was repeated, but the same result was obtained. Additional positive controls should be used to confirm that the decrease of the histone marks expression is not happening to all the control genes within the cell due to the action of TPA.

Table 6.1: H3K4Me3 and Me2 decreased after TPA treatment. The sixth row is the fold enrichment that normalize the Cts against the input and against the IgG.

	Samples	Ct	∆Ct (C _t [IP]-C _t [InputxDF])	∆∆C₁ (∆C₁[IP]-∆C₁[NIS])	Fold Enrichment (2 ^{-∆∆Ct})
ST3Gal-I	Input TPA(-)	30.22			
	Input TPA(+)	31.16			
	lgG TPA(-)	36.85	13.27		
	IgG TPA(+)	35.58	11.07		
	H3K4Me2 TPA(-)	26.70	3.12	-10.2	1141.5
	H3K4Me2 TPA(+)	27.69	3.18	-7.9	237.3
	H3K4Me3 TPA(-)	28.65	5.07	-8.2	295.3
	H3K4Me3 TPA(+)	29.66	5.14	-5.9	60.6
GAPDH	Input TPA(-)	29.37			
	Input TPA(+)	30.35			
	IgG TPA(-)	36.06	13.33		
	IgG TPA(+)	33.88	10.17		
	H3K4Me2 TPA(-)	26.22	3.49	-9.8	916.5
	H3K4Me2 TPA(+)	27.13	3.42	-6.8	107.6
	H3K4Me3 TPA(-)	27.59	4.86	-8.5	354.6
	H3K4Me3 TPA(+)	28.52	4.81	-5.4	41.1



Figure 6.11: Histograms of H3K4Me2 and Me3 for GAPDH and ST3Gal-I with and without

TPA. Ten million MDA-MB-231 cells were treated for 5 hours with 10 nM TPA and the chromatin extracted and immunoprecipitated according to materials and methods. H3K4Me3 and Me3 are plotted as fold enrichment and the data are shown in table 6.1.

6.4 Discussion.

The aim of this chapter was to investigate the downstream pathways involved in ST3Gal-I induction after TPA or PGE2 treatment. The results showed that inhibition of different isoforms of PKCs leads to inhibition of the TPA and PGE2 effect on ST3Gal-I. On the other hand, ERK signalling and the transcription factor CREB do not seem to be involved in ST3Gal-I induction.

TPA is a well known phorbol esther that binds specifically PKC and therefore triggers numerous pathway. Activated PKC isoforms generally transduce through either protein kinases (MAPK) pathways, usually p44/42 MAPK and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38, or via MAPK-independent pathways, for example the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-kinase). Downstream targets of phorbol esters can be transcription factors, such as AP-1, CREB, nuclear factor (NF) κ -B, or Sp1 (Chio et al. 2004). As expected, TPA treatment of MDA-MB-231 for 5 minutes triggered the phosphorylation of different transcription factors like ERK and CREB, but also FAK. The possible influence of ERK and CREB was further studied. However, treatment of MDA-MB-231 with EGF, which induces signaling of EGFR and activation of ERK, did not increase ST3Gal-I mRNA, suggesting that ERK is not involved in stimulating ST3Gal-I expression.

PGE₂ (the production of which can be increased by TPA) can bind to four receptors (EP): EP₁ is a G_q coupled receptor with phospholipase C signalling through Ca²⁺; EP₂ and EP₄ are G_s coupled receptors to protein kinase A (PKA) signaling through elevation of cAMP level; EP₃ is mainly a coupled G_i protein and is linked to a decrease of cAMP. Thus, the two possible pathways, that can be trigerred, are PKA or PKC. Forskolin was used to activate the PKA pathway and consequently activate CREB, but no effect was obtained on ST3Gal-I expression.

Chen et al. showed that Lith-O-Asp, an inhibitor of different sialyltransferases, including ST3Gal-I, suppressed cancer cell metastasis and one of the mechanism involved was by inhibiting FAK/paxillin signalling. Lith-O-Asp decreased the ST3Gal-I protein level by 20% to 25%, inhibited migration and invasion abilities in the lung cancer cells H1299, CL1-5, and A549 cells and it delayed cancer cell metastasis in experimental metastasis assays in animal models. Importantly, Lith-O-Asp decreased the expression of phospho-FAK and phospho-paxillin in the lung cancer cell lines, H1299, CL1-5, and

A549. Inhibition of FAK activity and transwell invasion ability were similar in ST3Gal-I knocked down and Lith-O-Asp-treated cells (Chen et al. 2011). However, our study did not focus on the interaction of ST3Gal-I and FAK.

The possible role of histone marks on ST3Gal-I expression was also investigated. H3K4Me3 and H3K4Me2 are associated with active transcription, so, since TPA induced ST3Gal-I over expression, we expected an enrichment of histone marks on the TSS of ST3Gal-I gene. Unfortunately, the result obtained was totally the opposite: H3K4Me3 and Me2, marks associated with active transcription, decreased on the ST3Gal-I transcription start site after TPA treatment. These histone marks also decreased on GAPDH. Freyschuss et al. reported that TPA can vary GAPDH level of expression (Freyschuss et al. 1994), so the choice of this gene was not advantageous. It would be interesting to look at other genes and to see if they change after TPA treatment. Moreover, cells were treated only for 5 hours, so, additional time points are needed to see any possible variation in histone marks. Until these further investigations will been done, we cannot draw any conclusion.

As discussed in section 1.6.4, the promoter of ST3Gal-I has not been widely studied. Taniguchi et al. found the transcription factor binding sites for Sp1 and USF1 on the promoter of ST3Gal-I (Taniguchi et al. 2001). Higai et al. suggested the involvement of NF- κ b in ST3Gal-I expression, since NF- κ b knockdown, in two human colon adenocarcinoma cell line and one leukaemia cell line, inhibited the increase of ST3Gal-I expression after TNF- α treatment (Higai et al. 2006).

PKC inhibition reverted the TPA or PGE2 induction of ST3Gal-I in MDA-MB-231 and T47D. TPA binds directly PKC, so, the effect of PKC inhibitors on ST3Gal-I was expected after TPA treatment in MDA-MB-231, but not after PGE2 treatment in T47D. PGE2 can trigger PKC via EP₁ and EP₃. According to our results of chapter 3, EP₁ and EP₃ are the receptors not certainly expressed by T47D. However, Barclay et al. demonstrated that T47D cell line expresses the EP₃ receptor, but not the EP₁ (Barclay et al. 2007). Further investigation on the role of the EP (PGE2) receptors on ST3Gal-I will be needed to define PGE2 role in glycosylation. Moreover, it would be interesting to find out the specific PKC isoforms involved in ST3Gal-I expression.

To our knowledge this is the first study investigating the interaction between PKC and ST3Gal-I in breast cancer. In the last years it has been established that PKC isoenzymes are important in cell proliferation, migration, adhesion, and cancer cell metastasis and different isoforms expression are altered in various types of cancers (Schmitz et al. 2000). Also, some PKC inhibitors have been developed with significant anti-cancer activity, so, correlation of ST3Gal-I with PKC can be considered as a possible coadjuvant to PKC inhibitors in the cure and prevention of breast cancer.

Chapter 7. Summary of results and conclusion.

To our knowledge, this is the first study investigating the interaction between COX-2, ST3Gal-I and C2GnT1 in breast cancer.

We have shown that in two breast cancer cell lines, T47D and MDA-MB-231, transcription of ST3Gal-I is increased by COX-2 via PGE2. In T47D cells, PGE2 could induce expression of ST3Gal-I mRNA, but not in MDA-MB-231 cells. TPA, which induces COX-2 expression among its many effects, could also induce mRNA expression of ST3Gal-I in MDA-MB-231, but not in T47D cells. Investigation of the PGE2 receptors in MDA-MB-231 and T47D has shown that T47D expressed EP₂ and

 EP_4 and MDA-MB-231 expressed the EP_4 receptor, but extremely low levels of EP_2 . EP_2 and EP_4 differ in their sensitivity to PGE2. EP_4 is desensitized after short-term exposure to PGE2 and this, coupled with the rapid metabolism of PGE2 (Nishigaki et al. 1996), may explain the lack of response to exogenous PGE2 of MDA-MB-231 cells. On the other hand, TPA only induced COX-2 overexpression in MDA-MB-231, the only cell line with the highest amount of COX-2 compared to the other breast cancer cell lines.

In both cell lines, induction of ST3Gal-I mRNA has led to increased activity of this sialyltransferase, as demonstrated by decreased binding of the lectin PNA (which binds to the substrate of ST3Gal-I -T antigen). Celecoxib inhibited ST3Gal-I activity, since it was able to revert the PNA binding. A knock down of COX-2 by 70%, after TPA treatment, resulted in a 50% decrease of ST3Gal-I expression. When COX-2 was transfected into MDA-MB-231, ST3Gal-I mRNA expression increased by 2 fold. Thus, ST3Gal-I expression is affected after silencing and transfection of COX-2. Moreover, it was found that there is a significant correlation between COX-2 and ST3Gal-I expression in primary breast cancers, indicating that our findings have clinical significance (Sproviero et al. 2012).

Dendritic cells (DCs) are the most potent APC (antigen presenting cells) in the organism. The model that dendritic cell (DC) "maturation" describes the change from an immature, antigen-capturing cell to a mature, antigen-presenting cell is well-established. Dendritic cells (DC) migrate from the tissue to the lymph nodes during "maturation" and this process describes the change from an immature, antigen-capturing cell, to a mature, antigen presenting cell (Tan & O'Neill, 2005). Mature DCs are responsible for antigen presentation and stimulation of T cells. Bax et al. and Julien et al. showed that, when monocyte derived dendritic cells are induced to mature, the composition of their O-linked glycans changes in a way that mirrors the change in breast cancer: mature dendritic cells showed an up-regulation of the glycosyltransferases involved in the expression of core 1 and sialylated structures (upregulation of ST3Gal-I) and a down-regulation of genes involved in the synthesis of core 2 *O*-glycans (down-regulation of C2GnT1) (Julien et al. 2007, Bax et al. 2003). This is similar to the change seen in breast cancer cells.

As said in the introduction, DCs express C-type lectins (CLR), like DC-SIGN, MGL and dectin-1. Several carbohydrate structures (such as Tn, sialyl Tn, T (Thomsen-Friedenreich disaccharide), (sialylated) Lewis antigens) are highly upregulated in tumour cells and have been widely used as diagnostic and prognostic markers. Tn epitopes on MUC-1 is associated with poor prognosis in several types of cancer (Hakomori, 2002). Tn glycans on MUC-1 bind MGL on iDC (immature dendritic cells) and induce a Th2-mediated responses, which, unlike Th1, do not contribute to tumor

eradication (Aarnoudse et al. 2006, Saeland et al. 2007). MGL expressed on iDCs is an optimal receptor for the internalization of short GalNAcs, carrying immunogens to be delivered into HLA class I and II compartments. For this reason MGL-Tn-MUC1 has possible implications in designing cancer vaccines (Napoletano et al. 2007).

During maturation of DCs, often loss of CLR expression occurs (Figdor et al. 2002). Interestingly, it was noticed that during dendritic cells maturation there was up-regulation of sialic acid expression by mDC, correlated with an increased binding of siglec-1, -2, and -7 (Bax et al. 2007). The metastatic potential of some tumor cells has been correlated with increased sialylation of cell surface glycoproteins and consequently with an increase of sialic acid-binding lectins, such as selectins that mediate cell adhesion and extravasation during the metastatic process (Passaniti & Hart, 1988, Varki NM & Varki A., 2007, Babál et al. 2006).

The change of glycosylation that occurs during the maturation of DCs may increase the efficacy of DCs migration and possibly of breast cancer cells.

Julien et al. showed that in dendritic cells prostaglandin E2 alone was sufficient to induce the upregulation of ST3Gal-I and the down regulation of C2GnT1 (Julien et al. 2009). Moreover, it was shown that PGE2 can induce the expression of CCR7 in breast cancer cell lines and that expression of this cytokine receptor is associated with lymph node metastasis (Pan et al. 2008). We demonstrated that PGE2 and TPA can change the glycosylation of the breast cancer cell lines T47D and MDA-MB-231, so there is a real possibility that the change of glycosylation that occurs in dendritic cells and in breast cancer cells is responsible for the migration from the tissue to the lymph nodes and is central in metastasis.

Glycosylation is one of the most frequent form of posttranslation modifications and is essential for many protein and cellular functions. Changes in glycosylation are common events in malignancy and these changes can affect the course of the disease, since they play a key role in the induction of invasion, metastasis and tumorigenesis (Hakomori et al. 2002, Mungul et al. 2004, Julien, Ivetic ,Grigoriadis, QiZe, Burford, Sproviero et al. 2011).

In breast cancer overexpression of ST3Gal-I leads to the overexpression of truncated sialylated glycans, which could change the immune response and allow the progression of cancer. Picco et al. showed that over-expressing ST3Gal-I in the mammary gland promotes the early development of spontaneous mammary tumours in a murine model (Picco et al. 2010).

ST3Gal-I revealed essential roles in immune system homeostasis. Van Dyken demonstrated that deletion of the ST3Gal-I locus yields unsialylated core 1 O-glycans,

which were found to be associated with increased CD8+ T cell apoptosis (Van Dyken et al. 2007). Moreover Moody et al. showed that sialic acid addition to core1 of mature CD8 single-positive thymocytes decreases CD8 binding to MHCI (Moody et al. 2001). Hence, sialylation of cell surface glycoproteins can control the immune cell responsiveness or tolerance (Daniels et al. 2002).

Until now, very little has been known about the control of expression of ST3Gal-I in breast cancer cells. Analysis of the promoter region of ST3Gal-I identified binding sites for the transcription factors SP1, USF, NF-kB (Taniguchi et al. 2001, Higai et al. 2006). We have shown that increased expression of ST3Gal-I in breast cancer cells can be induced by COX-2 through PGE2. Further studies will be required to demonstrate the transcription factors involved.

COX-2 is induced by inflammation and is turned on in many cancers. Increased expression of COX-2 has been reported in colon, bladder and breast cancers, (Legler et al. 2006, Eltze et al. 2005, Ristimaki et al. 2002), the same cancers that overexpress ST3Gal-I. It would be interesting to measure the expression of ST3Gal-I in tumours from the patients on the Clinical trials investigating the efficacy of the selective COX-2 inhibitor, celecoxib, and seeing if the outcome of the patients that express high levels of ST3Gal-I, differs from the patients expressing moderate or lower levels.

The results described in this thesis suggest that COX-2 could affect the glycosylation of tumour cells, increasing the tumorigenesis and metastasis. Recent efforts have highlighted essential roles of glycan-binding proteins or lectins (galectins, C-type lectins and siglecs) in cancer, metastasis, host-pathogen interactions, initiation of innate immunity. This has created interest in its potential biotechnological and pharmaceutical applications. Knowing that COX-2, target of well established NSAIDs, can control the expression of ST3Gal-I, it opens up the possibility of designing new drugs.

Chapter 8- Bibliography.

Abbott KL, Matthews RT, Pierce M. "Receptor tyrosine phosphatase beta (RPTPbeta) activity and signaling are attenuated by glycosylation and subsequent cell surface galectin-1 binding." (2008) *J Biol Chem.* ;283:33026–33035.

ABI PRISM 7700 Sequence Detection System. Applied Biosystems User Bulletin.

Abramovitz M, Metters KM. "Prostanoid receptors." (1998) Ann. Rep. Med. Chem.; 33:223-231.

Agrawal A, Fentiman IS. "NSAIDs and breast cancer: a possible prevention and treatment strategy." (2008) *Int J Clin Pract*; **62**, 3, 444–449.

Ali HR, Dawson SJ, Blows FM, Provenzano E, Pharoah PD, Caldas C. "Cancer stem cell markers in breast cancer: pathological, clinical and prognostic significance." (2011) *Breast Cancer Res*; 13(6):R118.

Amano H, Hayashi I, Endo H, Kitasato H, Yamashina S, Maruyama T et al. "Host prostaglandin E(2)-EP3 signaling regulates tumor-associated angiogenesis and tumor growth." (2003) *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*; 197(2): 221–232.

American Joint Committee on Cancer. *AJCC Cancer Staging Manual.* 6th ed. New York, NY: Springer, 2002.

Appleby SB, Ristimaki A, Neilson K, Narko K and Hla T. "Structure of the human cyclooxygenase-2 gene" (1994) *Biochem. J*; **302**: 723-727

Autier P., Boniol M, et al. "Disparities in breast cancer mortality trends between 30 European countries: retrospective trend analysis of WHO mortality database." (2010) *BMJ* ;**341**: c3620.

Bachelor MA, Cooper SJ, Sikorski ET and Bowden GT. "Inhibition of p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase decreases UVB-induced activator protein-1 and cyclooxygenase-2 in a SKH-1 hairless mouse model." (2005) *Mol. Cancer Res.* 3:90–99.

Balkwill F and Mantovani A. "Inflammation and cancer: Back to virchow." (2001) *Lancet*; **357**:539-545.

Bao Y, Pucci ML, Chan BS, Lu R, Ito S, Schuster VL. "Prostaglandin transporter PGT is expressed in cell types that synthesize and release prostanoids." (2002) *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.*; **282**(6):1103-10.

Barclay JL, Anderson ST, Waters MJ, Curlewis JD. "Characterization of the SOCS3 promoter response to prostaglandin E2 in T47D cells." (2007) *Mol Endocrinol.* ;**10**: 2516-28.

Baron JA, Sandler RS. "Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and cancer prevention." (2000) *Annu Rev Med*; **51**:511–523.

Barthel SR, Gavino JD, Wiese GK, Jaynes JM, Siddiqui J, Dimitroff CJ. Analysis of glycosyltransferase expression in metastatic prostate cancer cells capable of rolling activity on microvascular endothelial (E)-selectin. *Glycobiology* 2008;**18**:806–17.

Basu G D, Pathangey L B, Tinder T L, LaGioia M, Gendler S J and Mukherjee P. Cyclooxygenase-2 Inhibitor Induces Apoptosis in Breast Cancer Cells in an In vivo Model of Spontaneous Metastatic Breast Cancer. (2004) *Mol Cancer Res*; **2**: 632-42.

Basu S, Ma R, Moskal JR, Basu M."Ganglioside biosynthesis in developing brains and apoptotic cancer cells: X. regulation of glyco-genes involved in GD3 and Sialyl-Lex/a syntheses." (2012) Neurochem Res.; **37**(6):1245-55.

Bhaumik M, Harris T, Sundaram S, Johnson L, Guttenplan J, Rogler C, Stanley P. "Progression of hepatic neoplasms is severely retarded in mice lacking the bisecting Nacetylglucosamine on N-glycans: evidence for a glycoprotein factor that facilitates hepatic tumor progression." (1998) *Cancer Res.* **58**, 2881–2887. **Baumgartner** HK, Starodub OT, Joehl J S, Tackett L, Montrose MH. "Cyclooxygenase 1 is required for pH control at the mouse gastric surface." (2004) *Gut*; **53**:1751-1757

Beatson R, Sproviero D, Maher J, Wilkie S, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Burchell JM. "Transforming growth factor- β 1 is constitutively secreted by Chinese hamster ovary cells and is functional in human cells." (2011) *Biotechnol Bioeng*; **108**(11):2759-64.

Beral V. "Million Women Study Collaborators" Breast cancer and hormone-replace-ment therapy in the Million Women Study." (2003) *Lancet*; **362** (9382):419-27.

Bertucci F, Finetti P, Cervera N, Charafe-Jauffret E, Buttarelli M, Jacquemier J, Chaffanet M, Maraninchi D, Viens P, Birnbaum D. "How different are luminal A and basal breast cancers?" (2009) *Int J Cancer*, **124**(6): 1338-1348.

Birklé S, Zeng G, Gao L, Yu RK, Aubry J. "Role of tumor-associated gangliosides in cancer progression." (2003) *Biochimie* **85**, 3–4: 455–463.

Bjoern S, Foster DC, Thim L, Wiberg FC, Christensen M, Komiyama Y, Pedersen AH, and Kisiel W. "Human plasma and recombinant factor VII. Characterization of O-glycosylations at serine residues 52 and 60 and effects of site-directed mutagenesis of serine 52 to alanine." (1991) *J. Biol. Chem.* **266**: 11051–11057.

Blixt O, Bueti D, Burford B, Allen D, Julien S, Hollingsworth M, Gammerman A, Fentiman I, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Burchell JM. "Autoantibodies to aberrantly glycosylated MUC1 in early stage breast cancer are associated with a better prognosis." (2011) *Breast Cancer Res*;**13**(2): 25.

Blows F, Driver K, Schmidt M, Broeks A, van Leeuwen F, Wesseling J, Cheang M, Gelmon K, Nielsen T, Blomqvist C, Heikkilä P, Heikkinen T, Nevanlinna H, Akslen LA, Bégin LR, Foulkes WD, Couch FJ, Wang X, Cafourek V, Olson JE, Baglietto L, Giles GG, Severi G, McLean CA, Southey MC, Rakha E, Green AR, Ellis IO, Sherman ME, Lissowska J, et al.: "Subtyping of breast cancer by immunohistochemistry to investigate a relationship between subtype and short and long term survival: a collaborative analysis of data for 10, 159 cases from 12 studies." PLoS Med 2010, **7**:e1000279.

Boland GP, Butt IS, Prasad R, Knox WF, Bundred NJ. "COX-2 expression is associated with an aggressive phenotype in ductal carcinoma in situ." (2004) *Br J Cancer*, **90**:423-429.

Bos PD, Zhang XH, Nadal C, et al. "Genes that mediate breast cancer metastasis to the brain." (2009) *Nature*; **459**:1005-9.

Botting R. "Antipyretic Therapy." (2004) Frontiers in Bioscience; 9:956-966.

Boyd WC, Waszczenko-Zacharczenko E, Goldwasser SM. "List of plants tested for hemagglutinating activity." (1961)*Transfusion*;**1**:374-82.

Bourin, M. C., C. Delescluse, G. Furstenberger, F. Marks, J. Schweizer, A. J. Klein-Szanto, and M. Prunieras. "Effect of phorbol esters on guinea pig skin in vivo." (1982) *Carcinogenesis*; 3:671–676.

Brockhausen I, Yang JM, Burchell J, Whitehouse C and Taylor-Papadimitriou J. "Mechanisms underlying aberrant glycosylation of MUCI mucin in breast cancer cells." (1995) *Eur J. Biochem*; **233**:607-617. **Brockhausen** I. "Mucin-type O-glycans in human colon and breast cancer: glycodynamics and functions." (2006) *EMBO Rep.*;**7**(6): 599–604.

Bruckner K, Perez L, Clausen H, Cohen S. "Glycosyltransferase activity of Fringe modulates Notch-Delta interactions." (2000) *Nature*. **406**:411–415.

Brueggemeier RW, Quinn AL, Parrett ML, Joarder FS, Harris RE, Robertson FM "Correlation of aromatase and cyclooxygenase gene expression in human breast cancer specimens." (1999) *Cancer Lett* ;**140**:27-35

Burchell JM, Poulsom R, Hanby A, Whitehouse C, Cooper L, Clausen H, Miles D and Taylor-Papadimitriou J. "An α 2,3 sialyltransferase (ST3Gal I) is elevated in primary breast carcinomas." (1999) *Glycobiology*; **9** (12):1307-1311.

Burchell JM, Mungul A. and Taylor-Papadimitriou J. "O-linked glycosylation in the mammary gland: changes that occur during malignancy." (2001)*Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia*; **6**(3):355-364.

Burchell JM,Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Boshell M, Gendler S and Duhig T. "A short sequence, within the amino acid tandem repeat of a cancer-associated mucin, contains immunodominant epitopes." (1989) *Int. J. Cancer*, **44**: 691–696.

Burchell JM, Taylor-Papadimitriou J. "Effect of Carbohydrate Side Chains on the Reactivity of Antibodies with Core-Protein Epitopes of the Muc1 Gene product." (1993) *Epithelial cell biology*; **2**:155-162.

Bustin SA. "Absolute quantification of mRNA using real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction assays." (2000) *J Mol Endocrinol*; **25**(2):169-93.

Bustin SA, Benes V, Garson JA, Hellemans J, Huggett J, Kubista M, Mueller R, Nolan T, Pfaffl MW, Shipley GL, Vandesompele J, Wittwer CT. "The MIQE guidelines: minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments." (2009) *Clin Chem.* **55**(4):611-22.

Caivano M, Cohen P. "Role of Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Cascades in Mediating Lipopolysaccharide-Stimulated Induction of Cyclooxygenase-2 and IL-1{beta} in RAW264 Macrophages." (2000) *J Immunol* **;164**:3018-3025. Calder PC. "Polyunsaturated fatty acids and inflammation." (2006) *Prostaglandins, Leuko-trienes and Essential Fatty Acids*;**75**,197–202.

Cannon CP, Curtis SP, FitzGerald GA, et al. MEDAL Steering Committee. "Cardiovascular outcomes with etoricoxib and diclofenac in patients with osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis in the Multinational Etoricoxib and Diclofenac Arthritis Longterm (MEDAL) programme: a randomised comparison." (2006) *Lancet*;**368**:1771-81.

Carlezon WA, Duman RS, Nestler EJ. "The many faces of CREB."(2005)*Trends in Neurosciences*; **28** (8): 436–45.

Carlos T, Kovach N, Schwartz B, Rosa M, Newman W et al. "Human monocytes bind to two cytokin-induced adhesive ligands on culture human endothelial cells:endothelial-leukocyte adhesion molecule-I and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1." (1991) *Blood*; 77:2266-71.

Castagna M, Takai Y, Kaibuchi K, Sano K, Kikkawa U, Nishizuka Y. "Direct activation of calcium-activated, phospholipid-dependent protein kinase by tumor-promoting phorbol esters." (1982) *J Biol Chem*; 257(13):7847-51.

Cazet A, Julien S, Bobowski M, Burchell J, Delannoy P. "Tumour-associated carbohydrate antigens in breast cancer." (2010) *Breast Cancer Res*; **12**:204.

Chang SH, Liu CH, Conway R, Han DK, Nithipatikom K, Trifan O C, Lane TF, Hla T "Role of prostaglandin E2-dependent angiogenic switch in cyclo-oxygenase-2-induced breast cancer progression." (2004) *PNAS* **101**(2): 591-6.

Chang HC, Weng CF. "Cyclooxygenase-2 level and culture conditions influence NS398-induced apoptosis and caspase activation in lung cancer cells." (2001) Oncol Rep; 8(6):1321- 5.

Chen JY, Tang YA, Huang SM, Juan HF, Wu LW, Sun YC, Wang SC, Wu KW, Balraj G, Chang TT, Li WS, Cheng HC, Wang YC. "A novel sialyltransferase inhibitor suppresses FAK/paxillin signaling and cancer angiogenesis and metastasis pathways." (2011) *Cancer Res*; **71**(2):473-83.

Chen JJ, Huang WC, Chen CC Transcriptional Regulation of Cyclooxygenase-2 in Response to Proteasome Inhibitors Involves Reactive Oxygen Species-mediated Signaling Pathway and Recruitment of CCAAT/Enhancer-binding Protein {delta} and CREB-binding Protein. (2005) *Mol Biol Cell*; **16**:5579-5591.

Cheng Y, Austin SC, Rocca B, et al. "Role of prostacyclin in the cardiovascular response to thromboxane A2." (2002) *Science*; **296**:539–541.

Chiba A, Matsumura K, Yamada H, Inazu T, Shimizu T, Kusunoki S, Kanazawa I, Kobata A, Endo T. "Structures of sialylated O-linked oligosaccharides of bovine peripheral nerve alpha-dystroglycan. The role of a novel O-mannosyl-type oligosaccharide in the binding of alpha-dystroglycan with laminin." (1997) *J Biol Chem*. 272:2156–2162.

Chin K, DeVries S, Fridlyand J, Spellman PT, Roydasgupta R, Kuo WL, Lapuk A, Neve RM, Qian Z, Ryder T, Chen F, Feiler H, Tokuyasu T, Kingsley C, Dairkee S, Meng Z, Chew K, Pinkel D, Jain A, Ljung BM, Esserman L, Albertson DG, Waldman FM, Gray JW. "Genomic and transcriptional aberrations linked to breast cancer pathophysiologies." Cancer Cell.(2006);**10**(6):529-41.

Chio CC, Chang YH, Hsu YW, Chi KH, Lin WW. "PKA-dependent activation of PKC, p38 MAPK and IKK in macrophage: implication in the induction of inducible nitric oxide synthase and interleukin-6 by dibutyryl cAMP." (2004) *Cell Signal*.;16 (5):565-75.

Chiu WT, Shen SC, Chow JM, Lin CW, Shia LT, Chen YC. "Contribution of reactive oxygen species to migration/invasion of human glioblastoma cells U87 via ERK-dependent COX-2/PGE(2) activation." (2010) *Neurobiol Dis.*;**37**(1):118-29.

Chou TY, Hart GW, Dang CV. "c-Myc is glycosylated at threonine 58, a known phosphory-lation site and a mutational hot spot in lymphomas." (1995) *J Biol Chem*; 270:18961–5.

Chun KS and Surh YJ "Signal transduction pathways regulating cyclooxygenase-2 expression: Potential molecular targets for chemoprevention." (2004) *Biochem. Pharmacol.*;68: 1089–1100.

Cichon MA, Degnim AC, Visscher DW, Radisky DC. "Microenvironmental influences that drive progression from benign breast disease to invasive breast cancer." (2010) J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia;15(4):389-97.

Clausen H, Bennett EP. "A family of UDP-GalNAc: polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyl-transferases control the initiation of mucin-type O-linked glycosylation." (1996) *Glycobiology;* **6**, 635-46.

Coombes RC, Kilburn LS, Snowdon CF, Paridaens R, Coleman RE, Jones SE, Jassem J, Van de Velde CJH, Delozier T, Alvarez I, Del Mastro L, Ortmann O, Diedrich K, Coates AS, Bajetta E, Holmberg SB, Dodwell D, Mickiewicz E, Andersen J, Lønning PE, Cocconi G, Forbes J, Castiglione M, Stuart N, Stewart A, Fallowfield LJ, Bertelli G, Hall E, Bogle RG, Carpentieri M, Colajori E, Subar M, Ireland E, Bliss JM, on behalf of the Intergroup Exemestane Study. "Survival and safety of exemestane versus tamoxifen after 2-3 years' tamoxifen treatment (Intergroup Exemestane Study): a randomised controlled trial."(2007) *Lancet*; **369**: 559-570.

Costa C, Soares R, Reis-Filho JS, Leitao D, Amendoeira I, Schmitt FC. "Cyclooxygenase 2 expression is associated with angiogenesis and lymph node metastasis in human breast cancer." (2002) J. Clin. Pathol. **55**: 429-434.

Couldrey, C & Green, J E. "Metastases: the glycan connection." (2000) Breast Cancer Res, **2** (5): 321-323.

Coussens LM, Werb Z. "Inflammation and cancer." (2002) Nature; 420, 860-867.

Crocker, P.R., Paulson, J.C. & Varki, A. Siglecs and their roles in the immune system.(2007) *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*; **7**: 255–266.

Crofford LJ, Tan B, McCarth CJ, and HIaT. "Involvement of nuclear factor kappa B in the regulation of cyclooxygenase-2 expression by interleukin-1 in rheumatoid synoviocytes." T (1997) *Arthritis Rheum* ;**40**: 226-236.

Curtis C, Shah SP, Chin SF, Turashvili G, Rueda OM et al. "The genomic and transcriptomic architecture of 2,000 breast tumours reveals novel subgroups." (2012) *Nature*; **486**, 346–352.

Cuzick J, Otto F, Baron JA, Brown PH, Burn J, Greenwald P, Jankowski J, La Vecchia C, Meyskens F, Senn HJ, Thun M. "Aspirin and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for cancer prevention: an international consensus statement." (2009) *Lancet Oncol*; **10**: 501–07.

Dalziel M, Whitehouse C, McFarlane I, Brockhausen I, Gschmeissner S, Schwientek T, Clausen H, Burchell JM, Taylor-Papadimitriou J. "The relative activities of the C2GnT1 and ST3Gal-I glycosyltransferases determine O-glycan structure and expression of a tumor-associated epitope on MUC1." (2001) *J Biol Chem*; 276(14): 11007-15.

Danial NN and Korsmeyer SJ. "Cell Death: Critical Control Points." (2004) *Cell*, 116; 205–219.

Datta AK, Paulson JC. "The sialyltransferase "sialylmotif" participates in binding the donor substrate CMP-NeuAc." (1995).*J Biol Chem* 270, 1497-500.

Davies G, Salter J, Hills M, Martin LA, Sacks N, Dowsett M. "Correlation between Cyclooxygenase-2 Expression and Angiogenesis in Human Breast Cancer." (2003) *Clin. Cancer Res.*; **9:**2651-2656

De Groot PW, Ram AF, Klis FM. "Features and functions of covalently linked proteins in fungal cell walls." (2005) *Fungal Genet Biol* **42**:657–675.

Denis MC, Mahmood U, Benoist C, Mathis D, Weissleder R. "Imaging inflammation of the pancreatic islets in type 1 diabetes." (2004) *Proc. Nat'l Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* ;**101:** 12634–12639.

Díaz-Cruz ES, Shapiro CL, Brueggemeier RW. "Cyclooxygenase inhibitors suppress aromatase expression and activity in breast cancer cells." (2005) *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*; **90**:2563-2570.

Diaz-Munoz MD, Osma-Garcia I, Fresno M and Iniguez MA. "Involvement of PGE2 and the cAMP signalling pathway in the up-regulation of COX-2 and mPGES-1 expression in LPS-activated macrophages." (2012) Biochem. J. 443, 451–461

Dihlmann S, Klein S, Doeberitz Mv MK. "Reduction of beta-catenin/T-cell transcription factor signaling by aspirin and indomethacin is caused by an increased stabilization of phosphorylated beta-catenin." (2003) *Mol Cancer Ther.*; **2**(6):509-16.

Dwek RA, Lellouch AC, Wormald MR. "Glycobiology: the function of sugar in the IgG molecule." (1995) *J Anat.*; **187**:279–92.

Duncan AR & **Winter** G "The binding site for C1q on IgG" (1998) *Nature*; **332**:738–740.

Eberhart CE, Coffey RJ, Radhika A, Giardiello FM, Ferrenbach S, DuBois RN "Upregulation of cyclooxygenase 2 gene expression in human colorectal adenomas and adenocarcinomas." (1994) *Gastroenterology*;**107**:1183-1188 Eltze E, Wülfing C, Von Struensee D, Piechota H, Buerger H, Hertle L. "Cox-2 and Her2/neu co-expression in invasive bladder cancer." (2005) *Int. J. Oncol*;26: 1525-31.

Ernst PB, Gold BD. "The disease spectrum of Helicobacter pylori: the immunopathogenesis of gastroduodenal ulcer and gastric cancer." (2000) *Annu Rev Microbiol.*;**54**:615–640.

FDA approved drug products-Vioxx. FDA, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (2008).

Falkenberg VR, Alvarez K, Roman C, Fregien N. "Multiple transcription initiation and alternative splicing in the 5' untranslated region of the core 2 beta1-6 N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase I gene." (2003) *Glycobiology*; **13**(6): 411-8.

Fernandes B, Sagman U, Auger M, et al. "Beta 1-6 branched oligosaccharides as a marker of tumor progression in human breast and colon neoplasia." (1991) *Cancer Res.*; **51**:718.

Figdor CG, van Kooyk Y & Adema GJ. "C-type lectin receptors on dendritic cells and Langerhans cells." (2002) *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*; **2**: 77–84.

Finne J, Krusius T, Margolis RK, Margolis RU. "Novel mannitol-containing oligosaccharides obtained by mild alkaline borohydride treatment of a chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan from brain." (1979) *J Biol Chem*. 254:10295–10300.

Fitzgerald GA. "Coxibs and cardiovascular disease." (2004) *N Engl J Med.* ;351(17):1709-11.

Fitzpatrick FA, Soberman R. Regulated formation of eicosanoids. J Clin Invest 2001;107:1347-1351

Fitzpatrick FA, Aguirre R, Pike JE, et al. "The stability of 13,14-dihydro-15 keto-PGE2." (1980) *Prostaglandins* ;**19**: 917-931.

Forsyth A A"British poisonous plants." (1968) *In Bulletin-Ministry of Agriculture, Fishries and Food, London;* **161**, 73–75.

Foster MM, Brown JR, Wang LC & Esko JD "A disaccharide precursor of sialyl Lewis X inhibits metastatic potential of tumor cells." (2003) *Cancer Res.* **63**: 2775–2781.

Freyschuss B, Sahlin L, Masironi B, Eriksson H. "The hormonal regulation of the oestrogen receptor in rat liver: an interplay involving growth hormone, thyroid hormones and glucocorticoids." (1994) *J Endocrinol.*; **142**: 285-298.

Fries S, Grosser T. "The cardiovascular pharmacology of COX-2 inhibition." (2005) *Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program*:445-51.

Fujino H, & Regan JW. "EP(4) prostanoid receptor coupling to a pertussis toxinsensitive inhibitory G protein." (2006) *Molecular Pharmacology*; **69**(1), 5–10.

Fukushi Y, Nudelman E, Levery SB, Hakomori S, Rauvala H. "Novel fucolipids accumulating in human adenocarcinoma. III. A hybridoma antibody (FH6) defining a human cancer-associated difucoganglioside (VI3NeuAcV3III3Fuc2nLc6)." (1984) J. Biol. Chem. 259, 10511–10517.

Fukushima K, Hirota M, Terasaki PI, Wakisaka A,Togashi H, Chia D, Suyama N, Fukushi Y, Nudelman E., Hakomori S. "Characterization of sialosylated Lewisx as a new tumor-associated antigen." (1984) *Cancer Res;* 44, 5279–5285.

Furukawa K, Takamiya K, Okada M, Inoue J, Fukumoto S, and Furukawa K. "Novel functions of complex carbohydrates elucidated by the mutant mice of glycosyl-transferase genes." (2001) *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*; 1525, 1-12.

Gambaryan AS, Tuzikov AB, Pazynina GV, Webster RG, Matrosovich MN, Bovin NV. "H5N1 chicken influenza viruses display a high binding affinity for Neu5Acalpha2-3Galbeta1-4(6-HSO3)GlcNAc-containing receptors."(2004) *Virology*; **326**(2):310-6.

Gao Y, Chachadi VB, Cheng PW, Brockhausen I. "Glycosylation potential of human prostate cancer cell lines." (2012) *Glycoconj J.*; **29**(7):525-37.

Garcia-Rodriguez LA, Cea-Soriano L, Tacconelli S, Patrignani P. "COXIBs: pharmacology, toxicity and efficacy in cancer clinical trials." (2012) *Recent Results Cancer Res*; **191**:67-93.

Geremia RA, Harduin-Lepers A & Delannoy P. "Identification of two novel conserved amino acid residues in eukaryotic sialyltransferases: implications for their mechanism of action." (1997) *Glycobiology*; **7**, v-vii.

Gillespie W, Kelm S, Paulson JC. "Cloning and expression of the Gal beta 1, 3GalNAc alpha 2,3-sialyltransferase." (1992) *J Biol Chem*;**267**(29):21004-10.

Giordanengo V, Bannwarth S, Laffont C, Van Miegem V, Harduin-Lepers A, Delannoy P, Lefebvre JC. "Cloning and expression of cDNA for a human Gal(beta1-3)GalNAc alpha2,3-sialyltransferase from the CEM T-cell line." (1997) *Eur J Biochem.*;**247**(2):558-66.

Girling A, Bartkova J, Burchell J *et al.* "A core protein epitope of the polymorphic epithelial mucin detected by the monoclonal antibody SM3 is selectively exposed in a range of primary carcinomas." (1989) *Int. J. Cancer*, 43:1072-1076.

Girrbach V, Zeller T, Priesmeier M, and Strahl-Bolsinger S. "Structure-function analysis of the dolichyl phosphate-mannose: protein O-mannosyltransferase ScPmt1p." (2000) *J. Biol. Chem.*, 25, 19288–19296.

Glück S, Ross JS, Royce M, McKenna EF Jr, Perou CM, Avisar E, Wu L. "TP53 genomics predict higher clinical and pathologic tumor response in operable early-stage breast cancer treated with docetaxel-capecitabine ± trastuzumab." (2012) Breast Cancer Res Treat.; **132**(3): 781-91.

Granovsky M, Fata J, Pawling J, Muller WJ, Khokha R, Dennis JW. "Suppression of tumor growth and metastasis in Mgat5-deficient mice." (2000) *Nature Med*; **6**(3):306-12.

Grosser T, Fries S, FitzGerald GA. "Biological basis for the cardiovascular consequences of COX-2 inhibition: Therapeutic challenges and opportunities." (2006) *J Clin Invest*;**116**:4-15.

Gu Y, Mi W, Ge Y, Liu H, Fan Q, Han C, Yang J, Han F, Lu X, Yu W.Gu Y, Wenyi Mi, Yuqing Ge, Haiyan Liu, Qiong Fan, Cuifang Han, Jing Yang, Feng Han, Xinzhi Lu, and Wengong Yu. "GlcNAcylation plays an essential role in breast cancer metastasis." (2010) *Cancer Res*;**70** (15):6344-51.

Hagen FK, Van Wuyckhuyse B, Tabak LA. "Purification, cloning, and expression of a bovine UDP-GalNAc: polypeptide N-acetyl-galactosaminyltransferase." (1993) *J Biol Chem*; **268**, 18960-5.

Hakomori S. "Glycosylation defining cancer malignancy: new wine in an old bottle." (2002) *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*; **99**(16): 10231-10233

Half E, Tang XM, Gwyn K, Sahin A, Wathen K, Sinicrope FA. "Cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human breast cancers and adjacent ductal carcinoma in situ." (2002) *Cancer Res.*; **62**(6):1676-81.

Hamberg M and Samuelsson B. "Detection and isolation of an endoperoxide intermediate in prostaglandin biosynthesis." (1973) *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*; **70**: 899-903.

Hamberg M, Svensson J, and Samuelsson B. "Prostaglandin Endoperoxides. A New Concept Concerning the Mode of Action and Release of Prostaglandins"^{*} (1974) *PNAS*;**71**(10): 3824-3828

Han JA, Kim JI, Ongusaha PP, Hwang DH, Ballou LR, Mahale A, Aaronson SA, Lee SW. "P53-mediated induction of Cox-2 counteracts p53- or genotoxic stress-induced apoptosis." (2002) *EMBO J*.; **21**(21): 5635-44.

Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. "Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation." (2011) *Cell*; **144**(5):646-74.

Hang HC, Bertozzi CR. "The chemistry and biology of mucin-type O-linked glycosylation." (2005) *Bioorg Med Chem*; **13**:5021-5034.

Hanisch FG. "O-glycosylation of the mucin type." (2001) J Biol Chem. 382(2):143-9.

Harduin-Lepers A, Vallejo-Ruiz V, Krzewinski-Recchi MA, Samyn-Petit B, Julien, S. & Delannoy P. "The human sialyltransferase family." (2001) *Biochimie* **83**: 727-37.

Harduin-Lepers A, Mollicone R, Delannoy P, Oriol R. "The animal sialyltransferases and sialyltransferase-related genes: a phylogenetic approach." (2005) Glycobiology **15**: 805-817.

Harizi H, Grosset C, Gualde N. "Prostaglandin E2 modulates dendritic cell function via EP2 and EP4 receptor subtypes." (2003) *J Leukoc Biol*.;**73**(6):756-63

Harris RJ and **Spellman** MW. "O-linked fucose and other post-translational modifications unique to EGF modules." (1993) *Glycobiology*, **3**, 219–224.

Harris RE, Namboodiri K, Farrar WB. "Nonsteroidal antiinflamatory drugs and breast cancer." (1996) *Epidemiology*; **7**(2):203–205.

Haselbeck A, **Tanner** W. "O-glycosylation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae is initiated at the endoplasmic reticulum." (1983) *FEBS Lett;* **158**:335–338.

Hashimoto K, Tokimatsu T, Kawano S, Yoshizawa AC, Okuda S, Goto S, Kanehisa M. "Comprehensive analysis of glycosyltransferases in eukaryotic genomes for structural and functional characterization of glycans." (2009) *Carbohydr Res*; **344**(7):881-7.

Hatano K, Miyamoto Y, Nonomura N, Kaneda Y. "Expression of gangliosides, GD1a, and sialyl paragloboside is regulated by NF- κ B-dependent transcriptional control of α 2,3-sialyltransferase I, II, and VI in human castration-resistant prostate cancer cells." (2011) *Int J Cancer.*;**129**(8):1838-47.

Hebert RL, Jacobson HR & Breyer MD. "PGE2 inhibits AVP-induced water flow in cortical collecting ducts by protein kinase C activation." (1990) American Journal of Physiology, 259, F318–F325.

Heintzman ND, Stuart RK, Hon G, Fu Y, Ching CW, Hawkins RD, Barrera LO, Van Calcar S, Qu C, Ching KA, Wang W, Weng Z, Green RD, Crawford GE, Ren B. "Distinct and predictive chromatin signatures of transcriptional promoters and enhancers in the human genome." (2007) *Nat Genet*; **39**:311-8.

Hennet T, Hagen FK, Tabak LA, Marth JD. "T-cell-specific deletion of a polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyl-transferase gene by site-directed recombination." (1995) *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **92**, 12070-4.

Herschman HR, Reddy ST, and Xie W. "Function and regulation of prostaglandin synthase-2." (1997) *Adv Exp Med Biol*; **407:** 61-66

Hida T, Yatabe Y, Achiwa H, Muramatsu H, Kozaki K, Nakamura S, Ogawa M, Mitsudomi T, Sugiura T, Takahashi T. "Increased expression of cyclooxygenase 2 occurs frequently in human lung cancers, specifically in adenocarcinomas." (1998)*Cancer Res*; 58:3761-3764

Hidalgo A, Peired AJ, Wild MK, Vestweber D & Frenette PS. "Complete identification of E-selectin ligands on neutrophils reveals distinct functions of PSGL-1, ESL-1, and CD44." (2007) *Immunity*;26:477–489.

Higai K, Ishihara S, Matsumoto K. "NFkappaB-p65 dependent transcriptional regulation of glycosyltransferases in human colon adenocarcinoma HT-29 by stimulation with tumor necrosis factor alpha." (2006) *Biol Pharm Bull.* **12**:2372-7.

HIa T, Neilson K. "Human cyclooxygenase-2 cDNA." (1992) Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A ;89(16):7384-8.

Hofsteenge J, Huwiler KG, Macek B, Hess D, Lawler J, Mosher DF, Peter-Katalinic, J. "C-Mannosylation and O-Fucosylation of the Thrombospondin Type 1 Module." (2001) *J. Biol. Chem*; **276**, 6485–6498

Hogenesch JB, Ching KA, Batalov S, Su AI, Walker JR, Zhou Y, Kay SA, Schultz PG Cooke MP. "A comparison of the celera and ensembl predicted gene sets reveals little overlap in novel genes." (2001) Cell, **106**, 413–415.

Holt GD, **Hart** GW. "The subcellular distribution of terminal N-acetylglucosamine moieties: localization of a novel protein-saccharide linkage, O-linked GlcNAc." (1986) *J Biol Chem*; **261**:8049 – 8057.

Honda A, Sekiguchi Y and Mori Y. "Prostaglandin E2 stimulates cyclic AMP-mediated hyaluronan synthesis in rabit pericardial mesothelial cells." (1993) *Biochem J*; **292**,497-502.

Howe LR, Chang SH, Tolle KC, Dillon R, Young LJ, Cardiff RD, Newman RA, Yang P, Thaler HT, Muller WJ. "HER2/neu-induced mammary tumorigenesis and angiogenesis are reduced in cyclooxygenase-2 knockout mice." (2005) *Cancer Res*; **65**:10113-10119.

Hu P, Shimoji S, Hart GW. "Site-specific interplay between O-GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation in cellular regulation." (2010) *FEBS Lett*; **584**(12):2526-38

Huang WC, Chen JJ, Inoue H, Chen CC. "c-Src-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of IKKbeta is involved in tumor necrosis factor-a-induced intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression." (2003) *J Biol Chem*; **278**(11):9944-52

Hubbard WC, Alley MC, Mclemore TL And Boyd MR. "Profiles of prostaglandin biosynthesis in sixteen established cell lines derived from human lung, colon, prostate and ovarian tumours." (1988) Cancer Res.; **48**:4770-4775.

Ichikawa A, Sugimoto Y, Tanaka S. "Molecular biology of histidine decarboxylase and prostaglandin receptors." (2010) *Proceedings of the Japan Academy. Series B, Physical and Biological Sciences*; **86**(8), 848–866.

lijima J, Zhao Y, Isaji T, Kameyama A, Nakaya S, Wang X, Ihara H, Cheng X, Nakagawa T, Miyoshi E, et al. "Cell–cell interaction-dependent regulation of N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase III and the bisected N-glycans in GE11 epithelial cells. Involvement of E-cadherin-mediated cell adhesion." (2006) *J. Biol. Chem.* **281**, 13038–13046.

Imai J, Ghazizadeh M, Naito Z, Asano G. "Immunohistochemical expression of T, Tn and sialyI-Tn antigens and clinical outcome in human breast carcinoma." (2001) *Anticancer Res*; **21**(2B):1327-34.

lobst ST and Drickamer K. "Binding of sugar ligands to Ca(2+)-dependent animal lectins. II. Generation of high-affinity galactose binding by site-directed mutagenesis." (1994) *J. Biol. Chem.*, **269**, 22, 15512-15519.

Israel DD & Regan JW. "EP(3) prostanoid receptor isoforms utilize distinct mechanisms to regulate ERK 1/2 activation." (2009) *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*; **1791**(4), 238–245.

Issad T, Masson E, Pagesy P. "O-GlcNAc modification, insulin signaling and diabetic complications." (2010) *Diabetes Metab*; **36**:423-35.

Iwai T, Inaba N, Naundorf A, et al. "Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel UDP-GlcNAc:GalNAc-peptide β 1,3-N-acetylgluco- saminyltransferase (β 3Gn-T6), an enzyme synthesizing the core 3 structure of O-glycans." (2002) J Biol Chem; 277:12802–9.

Izumi Y, Taniuchi Y, Tsuji T, Smith CW, Nakamori S, Fidler IJ, Irimura T. "Characterization of human colon carcinoma variant cells selected for sialyl Lex carbohydrate antigen: liver colonization and adhesion to vascular endothelial cells." (1995) *Exp Cell Res*; **216**, 215-21.

Kakiuchi Y, Tsuji S, Tsujii M, Murata H, Kawai N, Yasumaru M, Kimura A, Komori M, Irie T, Miyoshi E, Sasaki Y, Hayashi N, Kawano S, Hori M. "Cyclooxygenase-2 activity altered the cell-surface carbohydrate antigens on colon cancer cells and enhanced liver metastasis." (2002) *Cancer Res.*;**62**(5):1567-72.

Kaliński P, Schuitemaker JH, Hilkens CM, Kapsenberg ML. "Prostaglandin E2 induces the final maturation of IL-12-deficient CD1a+CD83+ dendritic cells: the levels of IL-12 are determined during the final dendritic cell maturation and are resistant to further modulation." (1998) *J Immunol.;***161**(6):2804-9.

Kalluri R, **Zeisberg** M. "Fibroblasts in cancer." (2006) Nature Reviews Cancer; **6**:392-401.

Kaltschmidt B, Linker RA, Deng J, Kaltschmidt C. "Cyclooxygenase-2 is a neuronal target gene of NF-kappaB." (2002) *BMC Mol Biol*.; 3:16.

Kaneko Y, Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. "Anti-inflammatory activity of immunoglobulin G resulting from Fc sialylation." (2006) *Science*; 313(5787):670-3.

Kannagi R. "Regulatory roles of carbohydrate ligands for selectins in the homing of lymphocytes." (2002) *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.*; 12: 599–608.

Kannagi R, Izawa M, Koike T, Miyazaki K, Kimura N. "Carbohydrate-mediated cell adhesion in cancer metastasis and angiogenesis." (2004) *Cancer Sci*; **95**:377–84.

Kansas GS. "Selectins and their ligands: current concepts and controversies." (1996) *Blood;* **88**:3259–3287.

Kao C, Sandau MM, Daniels MA and Jameson SC. "The Sialyltransferase ST3Gal-I Is Not Required for Regulation of CD8-Class I MHC Binding during T Cell Develop-ment" (2006) *The J of Immunology*; **176**(12):7421-7430

Katsuyama M, Sugimoto Y, Morimoto K, Hasumoto K, Fukumoto M, Negishi, Ichikawa M. "Distinct cellular localization of the messenger ribonucleic acid for prostaglandin E receptor subtypes in the mouse uterus during pseudopregnancy." (1997) *Endocrinology*;**138**:344 –350.

Katsuyama M, Ikegami R, Karahashi H, Amano F, Sugimoto Y, Ichikawa A. "Characterization of the LPS-in- duced expression of EP2 and EP4 prostaglandin E receptors in macrophage-like cell line." (1998) *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*; **251**:727–731.

Khor SP, McCarthy K, Dupont M, Murray K and Timony G. "Pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, allometry, and dose selection of rPSGL-Ig for phase I trial." (2000) *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*; **293**:618–624.

Kiljański J, Ambroziak M, Pachucki J, Jazdzewski K, Wiechno W, Stachlewska E, Górnicka B, Bogdańska M, Nauman J, Bartoszewicz Z. "Thyroid sialyltransferase mRNA level and activity are increased in Graves' disease." (2005)*Thyroid*; **15**(7):645-52.

Kinzel V, Richards J, Goerttler K, Loehrke H, Furstenberger G, and Marks F. "Interaction of phorbol derivatives with replicating cells." (1984) *IARC Sci. Publ.* ;56:253–264.

Kinarsky L, Suryanarayanan G, Prakash O, Paulsen H, Clausen H, Hanisch FG, Hollingsworth MA, Sherman S. "Conformational studies on the MUC1 tandem repeat glycopeptides: implication for the enzymatic O-glycosylation of the mucin protein core." (2003) *Glycobiology*; **12**:929-39.

Kis B, Snipes JA, Busija DW. "Acetaminophen and the cyclooxygenase-3 puzzle: sorting out facts, fictions, and uncertainties." (2005) *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*.;**315**(1):1-7.

Kitagawa H & Paulson JC. "Differential expression of five sialyltransferase genes in human tissues." (1994a) *J Biol Chem*.;**269**(27):17872-8.

Kitagawa H & Paulson JC. "Genomic Organization and Chromosomal Mapping of the Gal β 1,3GalNAc/Gal β 1,4GlcNAc α 2,3-Sialyltransferase." (1994b) *J.Biol.Chem.* 269, 17872-17878.

Klenz E. and G. Uhlenbruck. "Cleavage of N-glycolylneuraminic acid (P-sialic acid) from porcine submaxillary mucin by the receptor-destroying enzyme." (1957) *Hoppe Seylers Z Physiol Chem*; **307**(2-6):266-271.

Klenke FM, Gebhard MM, Ewerbeck V, Abdollahi A, Huber PE, Sckell A. "The selective COX-2 inhibitor Celecoxib suppresses angiogenesis and growth of secondary bone tumors: an intravital microscopy study in mice." (2006) *BMC Cancer*, **12**;6-9.

Kobayashi S and Taiima T. "Current Insights in the Mechanisms of Carcinogenesis, Progress, and Metastasis of Breast Cancer." (1998) *Breast Cancer*, **5**:340-343.

Koga H, Sakisaka S, Ohishi M, et al. "Expression of cyclooxygenease-2 in human heaptocellular carcinoma: relevance to tumor dedifferentiation." (1999) *Hepatology*, **29**, 688-96.

Kolter T, Proia RL, Sandhoff K. "Combinatorial ganglioside biosynthesis." (2002) *J Biol Chem*; 277(29):25859-62.

Kono M, Ohyama Y, Lee YC, Hamamoto T, Kojima N, Tsuji S. "Mouse betagalactoside alpha 2,3-sialyltransferases: comparison of in vitro substrate specificities and tissue specific expression." (1997) Glycobiology;**7**(4):469-79.

Krogh TN, Bachmann E, Teisner B, Skjodt K, Hojrup P. "Glycosylation analysis and protein structure determination of murine fetal antigen 1 (mFA1)--the circulating gene product of the delta-like protein (dlk), preadipocyte factor 1 (Pref-1) and stromal-cell-derived protein 1 (SCP-1) cDNAs." (1997) *Eur. J. Biochem.* **244**, 334–342.

Krueger KE, Srivastava S. "Posttranslational protein modifications: current implications for cancer detection, prevention, and therapeutics." (2006) *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **5**, 1799–1810

Kudo T, Ikehara Y, Togayachi A, Morozumi K, Watanabe M, Nakamura M, Nishihara S, Narimatsu H. "Up-regulation of a set of glycosyltransferase genes in human colorectal cancer." (1998) *Lab Invest*, **78**:797-811.

Kuper H, Adami HO, Trichopoulos D. "Infections as a major preventable cause of human cancer." (2000) *J Intern Med*; **248**:171–183.

Kurumbail RG, Stevens AM, Gierse JK, McDonald JJ, Stegeman RA, Pak JY, Gildehaus D, Miyashiro JM, Penning TD, Seibert K, Isakson PC, Stallings WC. "Structural basis for selective inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 by anti-inflammatory agents." (1996) *Nature*; **26**; 384(6610): 644-648.

Jeanneau C, Chazalet V, Augé C, Soumpasis DM, Harduin-Lepers A, Delannoy P, Imberty A, Breton C. "Structure-function analysis of the human sialyltransferase ST3Gal I: role of N-glycosylation and a novel conserved sialylmotif." (2004) *J Biol Chem*; **279**(14):13461-8.

Ju T & Cummings RD. "A unique molecular chaperone Cosmc required for activity of the mammalian core 1 beta 3-galactosyltransferase." (2002) *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*; **99**, 16613-8.

Julenius K, Molgaard A, Gupta R, Brunak S. "Prediction, conservation analysis, and structural characterization of mammalian mucin-type O-glycosylation sites." (2005) *Glycobiology*,**15**:153-164.

Julien S. and DelannoyP. "Sialyl-Tn antigen in cancer: from diagnosis to therapy." (2003) Res. Develop Cancer; **5**: 185-199.

Julien S, Grimshaw MJ, Sutton-Smith M, Coleman J, Morris HR, Dell A, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Burchell JM. "Sialyl-Lewis(x) on P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 is regulated during differentiation and maturation of dendritic cells: a mechanism involving the glycosyl-transferases C2GnT1 and ST3Gal I." (2007) J Immunol.;**179**(9):5701-10.

Julien S, Ivetic A, Grigoriadis A, QiZe D, Burford B, Sproviero D, Picco G, Gillett C, Papp SL, Schaffer L, Tutt A, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Pinder SE, Burchell JM. "Selectin ligand sialyl-Lewis x antigen drives metastasis of hormone-dependent breast cancers." (2011) *Cancer Res*;**71**(24):7683-93.

Julien S, Videira PA and Delannoy P. "Sialyl-Tn in Cancer: (How) Did We Miss the Target?" (2012) *Biomolecules*, 2(4), 435-466.

Lagana A, Goetz, JG, Cheung P, Raz A, Dennis JW, Nabi IR "Galectin binding to Mgat5-modified N-glycans regulates fibronectin matrix remodeling in tumor cells." (2006) *Mol. Cell Biol.* **26**, 3181–3193.

Larkins TL, Nowell M, Singh S, Sanford GL. "Inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 decreases breast cancer cell motility, invasion and matrix metalloproteinase expression." (2006) *BMC Cancer*; **6**:181-192

Larsen RL, Holmskov U and Højrup P. "Structural characterization of human and bovine lung surfactant protein." (1999) *D. Biochem J.* ;**343**(Pt 3): 645–652.

Lee SH, Soyoola E, Chanmugam P, Hart S, Sun W, Zhong H, Liou S, Simmons D, Hwang D. "Selective expression of mitogen-inducible cyclooxygenase in macrophages stimulated with lipopolysaccharide." (1992) J Biol Chem; **267**:25934-25938. Lee YC, Kurosawa N, Hamamoto T, Nakaoka T, Tsuji S. "Molecular cloning and expression of Gal beta 1,3GalNAc alpha 2,3-sialyltransferase from mouse brain." (1993) *Eur J Biochem*; **216**(2):377-85.

Lee LV et al. "A potent and highly selective inhibitor of human α1,3-fucosyltransferase via click chemistry." (2003) *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*; **125**: 9588–9589.

Lee TV, Takeuchi H, Jafar-Nejad H. "Regulation of notch signaling via O-glucosylation insights from Drosophila studies." (2010) *Methods Enzymol.* **480**:375-98.

Lefebvre JC, Giordanengo V, Doglio A, Cagnon L, Breittmayer JP, Peyron JF, Lesimple J. "Altered sialylation of CD45 in HIV-1-infected T lymphocytes." (1994) *Virology* ;**199**, 265–274.

Leffler H, Carlsson S, Hedlund M, Qian Y & Poirier F. "Introduction to galectins." (2004) *Glycoconj. J.*; **19**: 433–440.

Legler DF, Krause P, Scandella E, Singer E, Groettrup M. "Prostaglandin E2 is generally required for human dendritic cell migration and exerts its effect via EP2 and EP4 receptors." (2006) *J Immunol*; **176**(2):966-73.

Leonardi J, Fernandez-Valdivia R, Li YD, Simcox AA, Jafar-Nejad H. "Multiple O-glucosylation sites on Notch function as a buffer against temperature-dependent loss of signaling." (2011) *Development*; **138**(16):3569-78.

Ley K, Kansas GS. "Selectins in T-cell recruitment to non-lymphoid tissues and sites of inflammation." (2004) *Nat Rev Immunol*;4:325–35.

Ley KD, Bullard C, Arbones ML, Bosse R, VestWeber D, Tedder TF, Beaudet AL. "Sequential contribution of L- and P-selectin to leukocyte rolling in vivo." (1995) *J. Exp. Med*; 181: 669 – 675.

Li B, Kaetzel MA, Dedman JR. "Signaling pathways regulating murine cardiac CREB phosphorylation." (2006) *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*; **350**(1):179-84.

Liu CH, Chang SH, Narko K, Trifan OC, Wu MT, Smith E, Haudenschild C, Lane TF, Hla T "Overexpression of cyclooxygenase-2 is sufficient to induce tumorigenesis in transgenic mice." (2001) *J Biol Chem*; **276**(21):18563-9.

Liu CH, Chang SH, Narko K, Trifan OC, Wu MT, Smith E, Haudenschild C, Lane TF, Hla T. "Overexpression of cyclooxygenase-2 is sufficient to induce tumorigenesis in transgenicr mice." (2001) *J Biol Chem*; 276 (21):18563-9.

Liu F, Iqbal K, Grundke-Iqbal I, Hart GW, Gong CX. "O-GlcNAcylation regulates phosphorylation of tau: a mechanism involved in Alzheimer's disease." (2004) *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*; **101**(29):10804-9.

Liu XH, Rose DP. "Differential expression and regulation of cyclooxygenase-1 and -2 in two human breast cancer cell lines." (1996) *Cancer Res.*;56(22):5125-7.

Liu FT & Rabinovich GA. "Galectins as modulators of tumour progression." (2005) *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **5**: 29–41.

Lloyd KO, Burchell J, Kudryashov V, Yin BWT, Taylor-Papadimitriou J. "Comparison of O-linked carbohydrate chains in MUC-1 mucin from normal breast epithelial cell lines and breast carcinoma cell lines." (1996) *J Biol Chem*; **271**: 33325–33334.

Lo NW, Shaper JH, Pevsner J, Shaper NL. "The expanding beta 4-galactosyltransferase gene family: messages from the databanks." (1998) *Glycobiology*, **8**, 517-526.

Lodish H, Berk A, Zipursky SL, et al. "Receptor Tyrosine Kinases and Ras." (2000) *Molecular Cell Biology. 4th edition, New York*: section 20.4; WH. Freeman

Loris R. "Principles of structures of animal and plant lectins." (2002) *Biochim Biophys Acta*;**1572**(2-3):198-208.

Lowe JB, Stoolman LM, Nair RP, Larsen RD, Berhend TL, Marks RM. "ELAM-1-dependent cell adhesion to vascular endothelium determined by a transfected human fucosyltransferase cDNA." (1990) *Cell*; **63**(3):475-84.

Lowe JB. "Glycosyltransferases and glycan structures contributing to the adhesive activities of L-, E- and P-selectin counter-receptors." (2002) *Biochem Soc Symp*; **69**: 33-45.

Lu L, Stanley P. "Roles of O-fucose glycans in notch signaling revealed by mutant mice." (2006) *Methods Enzymol.*;**417**:127-36.

Luft T, Jefford M, Luetjens P, et al. "Functionally distinct dendritic cell (DC) populations induced by physiologic stimuli: prostaglandin E(2) regulates the migratory capacity of specific DC subsets." (2002) *Blood*;100:1362–72.

Lyng MB, Laenkholm AV, Pallisgaard N, Ditzel HJ. "Identification of genes for normalization of real-time RT-PCR data in breast carcinomas." (2008) *BMC Cancer*, **8**:20.

Ma X, Kundu N, Rifat S, Walzer T, Fulton AM. "Prostaglandin E Receptor EP4 Antagonism Inhibits Breast Cancer Metastasis." (2006) *Cancer Res*; **66** (6): 2923-7.

Maccioni H, Daniotti DL, Martina JA. "Organization of ganglioside synthesis in the Golgi apparatus" (1999) *Biochim Biophys Acta*;1437(2):101-18.

Maeda H, Akaike T. "Nitric oxide and oxygen radicals in infection, inflammation, and cancer." (1998) *Biochemistry* ;63:854–865.

Malkowski MG, Ginell SL, Smith WL, and Garavito RM. "The productive conformation of arachidonic acid bound to prostaglandin synthase." (2000) *Science*;289: 1933-1937.

Manya H, Chiba A, Yoshida A, Wang X, Chiba Y, Jigami Y, Margolis RU, Endo T. "Demonstration of mammalian protein O-mannosyltransferase activity: Coexpression of POMT1 and POMT2 required for enzymatic activity." (2004) *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*; 101: 500–505.

Marth JD. "Complexity in O-linked oligosaccharide biosynthesis engendered by multiple polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltrans- ferases." (1996) *Glycobiology*;6: 701-705.

Martin PT. "Congenital muscular dystrophies involving the O-mannose pathway." (2007) *Curr Mol Med*.;7(4): 417-25.

Marnett LJ and Kalgutkar A. "Design of selective inhibitors of cyclooxygenase-2 as nonulcerogenic anti-inflammatory agents." (1998) *Curr Opin Chem Biol*; **2**:482-490.

Matsuura N, Narita T, Hiraiwa N, Hiraiwa M, Murai H, Iwase T, Funahashi H, Imai T, Takagi H, Kannagi R. "Gene expression of fucosyl- and sialyl-transferases which synthesize sialyl Lewis^x, the carbohydrate ligands for E-selectin, in human breast cancer." (1998) *Int. J. Oncol;* **12** :1157–1164.

Mayr B, Montminy M. "Transcriptional regulation by the phosphorylation-dependent factor CREB." (2001) *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*; 2: 599–609.

Mcever RP. "Role of PSGL-1 binding to selectins in leukocyte recruiment." (1997) J. *Clin. Invest.;*100: 485 – 491.

Merrill AH. "De novo sphingolipid biosynthesis: A necessary, but dangerous pathway." (2002) *J Biol Chem*, 277: 25843-25846.

Merrill AH and Sandhoff K. "Sphingolipids: metabolism and cell signalling." (2002) *Biochemistry of Lipids, Lipoproteins and Membranes* (4th Edition): 373-407.

Metz B, Kersten GFA, Peter Hoogerhout et al. "Identification of formaldehyde-induced modifications in proteins: reactions with model peptides" (2004) *J. Biol. Chem*; 297:6235-6243.

Michaelsson E, Malmstrom V, Reis S, Engstrom A, Burkhardt H. and Holmdahl R. "T cell recognition of carbohydrates on type II collagen." (1994) *J. Exp. Med* ; **180**: 745–749.

Mimura Y, Church S et al. "The influence of glycosylation on the thermal stability and

effector function expression of human IgG1-Fc: properties of a series of truncated glycoforms." (2000) *Mol Immunol*; **37**:697-706.

Minamida, S., Aoki, K., Natsuka, S., Omichi, K., Fukase, K., Kusumoto, S., and Hase, S. "Detection of UDP-D-xylose: α-D-xyloside α1, 3xylosyltransferase activity in human hepatoma cell line HepG2." (1996) *J. Biochem.;***120**: 1002-1006.

Minghetti L. "Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) in Inflammatory and Degenerative Brain Diseases." (2004) J of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology; **63**(9): 901–910.

Minn AJ, Gupta GP, Siegel PM, Bos PD, Shu W, et al. "Genes that mediate breast cancer metastasis to lung." (2005) *Nature*; **436**: 518–524.

Moloney D, Panin VM, Johnston SH, Chen J, Shao L, Wilson R, Wang Y, Stanley P, Irvine KD, Haltiwanger RS & Vogt TF. "Fringe is a glycosyltransferase that modifies Notch." (2000) *Nature*;**406**: 369-375.

Moody AM, North SJ, Reinhold B, Van Dyken SJ, Rogers ME, Panico M, Dell A, Morris HR, Marth JD, Reinherz EL. "Sialic acid capping of CD8beta core 1-O-glycans controls thymocyte-major histocompatibility complex class I interaction." (2003) *J Biol Chem*; **278**: 7240–7246.

Morita I, Schindler M, Regier MK, Otto JC, Hori T, DeWitt DL, and Smith WL. "Different intracellular locations for prostaglandin endoperoxide H synthase-1 and -2." (1995) *J Biol Chem* ;**270**:10902-10908.

Mukherjee D, Nissen SE, Topol EJ. "Risk of cardiovascular events associated with selective COX-2 inhibitors." (2001) *JAMA*; **286**(8): 954-9.

Muller S and Hanisch FG. "Recombinant MUC1 Probe Authentically Reflects Cellspecific *O*- Glycosylation Profiles of Endogenous Breast Cancer Mucin, High density and prevalent core 2-based glycosylation." (2002) *J Biol Chem*; **277**, 29: 26103–26112.

Mungul A, Cooper L, Brockhausen I, Ryder K, Mandel U, Clausen H, Rughetti A, Miles, D. Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Burchell, JM. "The extracellular domain consists mainly of tandem repeats of 20 amino acids, each repeat having five potential sites for O-linked glycosylation glycans enhance the growth rate of mammary carcinoma cells in MUC1 transgenic mice." (2004) *Int. J. Oncol*; **25**: 937-948.

Munro JM, Lo SK, Corless C, Robertson MJ, Lee NC, Barnhill RL, Weinberg DS, Bevilacqua MP. "Expression of sialyl-Lewis X, an E-selectin ligand, in inflammation, immune processes, and lymphoid tissues." (1992) *Am J Pathol.* ;**141**(6):1397-408.

Nakagoe T, Sawai T, Tsuji T, Jibiki M, Ohbatake M, Nanashima, Yasutake AH, Ayabe H, and Arisawa K. "Prognostic Value of Serum Sialyl Lewis (a), Sialyl Lewis(x) and Sialyl Tn Antigens in Blood from the Tumor Drainage Vein of Colonrectal Cancer Patients." (2000) *Tumour Biol.* ;**22**:115-122.

Nakamura Y, Kozuka M, Naniwa K, Takabayashi S, Torikai K, Hayashi R, Sato T, Ohigashi H, Osawa T. "Arachidonic acid cascade inhibitors modulate phorbol esterinduced oxidative stress in female ICR mouse skin: differential roles of 5-lipoxygenase and cyclooxygenase-2 in leukocyte infiltration and activation." (2003) *Free Radic Biol Med.*; **35**(9):997-1007. **Nakao** S, Ogata Y, Shimizu E, Yamazaki M, Furuyama S, Sugiya H. "Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α)-induced prostaglandin E2 release is mediated by the activation of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) transcription via NFkB in human gingival fibroblasts."(2002) *Mol Cell Biochem.*; **238**:11-18.

Narita T, Funahashi H, Satoh Y, Watanabe T, Sakamoto J & Takagi H. "Association of expression of blood group-related carbohydrate antigens with prognosis in breast cancer." (1993) *Cancer* **71**:3044-53.

Narumiya S, Sugimoto Y, Ushikubi F. "Prostanoid Receptors: Structures, Properties, and Functions." (1999) *Physiol Rev* **;79**:1193–1226.

Newton AC. "Protein kinase C: structural and spatial regulation by phosphorylation, cofactors, and macromolecular interactions." (2001) *Chem Rev*;**101**(8): 2353-64.

Nickerson NK, Mohammad KS, Gilmore JL, Crismore E, Bruzzaniti A, Guise TA, Foley J. "Decreased autocrine EGFR signaling in metastatic breast cancer cells inhibits tumor growth in bone and mammary fat pad." (2012) *PLoS One*;**7**(1):e30255.

Niederberger E, Tegeder I, Vetter G, Schmidtko A, Schmidt H, Euchenhofer C, Bräutigam L, Grösch S, Geisslinger G. "Celecoxib loses its anti-inflammatory efficacy at high doses through activation of NF- κ B." (2001) *FASEB J*;**15**(9):1622-4.

Nieminen J, Kuno A, Hirabayashi J & Sato S. "Visualization of Galectin-3 oligomerization on the surface of neutrophils and endothelial cells using fluorescence resonance energy transfer." (2007) *J. Biol. Chem.;* **282**: 1374–1383.

Nishigaki N, Negishi M, Ichikawa A. "Two Gs-coupled prostaglandin E receptor subtypes, EP2 and EP4, differ in desensitization and sensitivity to the metabolic inactivation of the agonist." (1996) *Mol Pharmacol*;**50**(4):1031-7.

Nishimura H, Takao T, Hase S, Shimonishi Y, Iwanaga S. "Human factor IX has a tetrasaccharide O-glycosidically linked to serine 61 through the fucose residue." (1992) *J. Biol. Chem*; **267**:17520–17525.

Nishimura H, Kawabata S, Kisiel W, Hase S, Ikenaka T, Takao T, Shimonishi Y, and Iwanaga S. "Identification of a disaccharide (XyI-Glc) and a trisaccharide (XyI2-Glc) O-glycosidically linked to a serine residue in the first epidermal growth factor-like domain of human factors VII and IX and protein Z and bovine protein Z" (1989) *J. Biol. Chem*, 264: 20320-325.

Novogrodsky A, Lotan R, et al. "Peanut agglutinin, a new mitogen that binds to galactosyl sites exposed after neuraminidase treatment." (1975) *J Immunol*;**115**(5): 1243-1248.

Ogata S, Koganty R, Reddish M, Longenecker BM, Chen A, Perez C, Itzkowitz SH."Different modes of sialyI-Tn expression during malignant transformation of human colonic mucosa." (1998) *Glycoconj J.;***15** (1): 29-35.

Ohtsubo K and Marth JD. "Glycosylation in Cellular Mechanisms of Health and Disease." (2006) *Cell* **126**(5): 855-67.

Okajima T, Fukumoto S, Miyazaki H, Ishida H, Kiso M, Furukawa K, Urano T, Furukawa K. "Molecular cloning of a novel alpha2,3-sialyltransferase (ST3Gal VI) that

sialylates type II lactosamine structures on glycoproteins and glycolipids." (1999) *J Biol Chem*; **274**(17):11479-86.

Okajima T, Irvine KD. "Regulation of notch signaling by O-linked fucose." (2002) *Cell*; **111**: 893–904.

Omichi K, Aoki K, Minamida S, and Hase S. "Presence of UDP-D-xylose: β -D-glucoside α -1, 3-D-xylosyltransferase involved in the biosynthesis of the Xyl α 1-3Glc β -Ser structure of glycoproteins in the human hepatoma cell line HepG2." (1997) *Eur. J. Biochem.* **245**:143–146.

Ono M and Hakomori S. "Glycosylation defining cancer cell motility and invasiveness." (2004) *Glycoconj J* ;**20**(1): 71-78.

Pai R, Szabo IL, Soreghan BA, Atay S, Kawanaka H,Tarnawski AS. "PGE2 stimulates VEGF expression in endothelial cells via ERK2/JNK1 signaling pathways." (2001) *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **;286**: 923–928.

Pan MR, Hou MF, Chang HC, and Hung WC. "Cyclooxygenase-2 Up-regulates CCR7 via EP2/EP4 Receptor Signaling Pathways to Enhance Lymphatic Invasion of Breast Cancer Cells." (2008) *J Biol Chem*; 283(17): 11155–11163.

Park SY, Kim YH, Kim YH, Lee SJ. "Aromatic-turmerone attenuates invasion and expression of MMP-9 and COX-2 through inhibition of NF-κB activation in TPA-induced breast cancer cells." (2012) *J Cell Biochem.;***113**(12):3653-62.

Partridge EA, Le RC, Di Guglielmo GM, Pawling J, Cheung P, Granovsky M, Nabi IR, Wrana JL, Dennis JW "Regulation of cytokine receptors by Golgi N-glycan processing and endocytosis." (2004) *Science* **306**, 120–124.

Paterson HM, Murphy TJ, Purcell EJ, Shelley O, Kriynovich SJ, Lien E, Mannick JA, Lederer JA. "Injury primes the innate immune system for enhanced Toll-like receptor reactivity." (2003) *J Immunol*. ;171:1473-1483.

Paulson, JC & Colley, KJ. "Glycosyltransferases. Structure, localization, and control of cell type-specific glycosylation." (1989) *J Biol Chem* **264**, 17615-8.

Picco G., Julien S, Brockhausen I, Beatson R, Antonopoulos A, Haslam S, Mandel U, Dell A, Pinder S, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Burchell J."Over-expression of ST3Gal-I promotes mammary tumorigenesis." (2010) Glycobiology; **20**(10):1241-1250.

Picot D, Loll P, and Garavito M "The X-ray crystal structure of the membrane protein prostaglanind H2 synthase-1." (1994)_*Nature* ;**367**: 243-249.

Pinto R, Carvalho AS, Conze T, Magalhães A, Picco G, Burchell JM, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Reis CA, Almeida R, Mandel U, Clausen H, Söderberg O, David L. "Identification of new cancer biomarkers based on aberrant mucin glycoforms by in situ proximity ligation." (2012) *J Cell Mol Med*; **16**(7): 1474-84.

Potapenko IO, Haakensen VD, Lüders T, Helland A, Bukholm I, Sørlie T, Kristensen VN, Lingjaerde OC, Børresen-Dale "AL.Glycan gene expression signatures in normal and malignant breast tissue; possible role in diagnosis and progression." (2010) *Mol Oncol;* **2**:98-118.

Priatel, JJ, Chui D, Hiraoka N, Simmons CJ, Richardson KB, Page DM, Fukuda M, Varki NM, Marth JD. "The ST3Gal-I sialyltransferase controls CD8+ T lymphocyte homeostasis by modulating O-glycan biosynthesis." (2000) *Immunity*; **12**: 273-283.

Prosperi JR, Robertson FM. "Cyclooxygenase-2 directly regulates gene expression of P450 Cyp19 aromatase promoter regions pII, pI.3 and pI.7 and estradiol production in human breast tumor cells." (2006) *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat.*; **81**(1-2):55-70.

Protocol – version 34, 28.09.2009- for a phase iii multicentre double blind randomi-sed trial of celecoxib versus placebo in primary breast cancer patients.

Pubmed Health Breast cancer, 2011, <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/</u>PMH0001911/

Purohit A, Newman SP, Reed MJ. "The role of cytokines in regulating estrogen synthesis: implications for the etiology of breast cancer." (2002a) *Breast Cancer Res* ;**4**:65-69.

Purohit A, Reed MJ. "Regulation of estrogen synthesis in postmenopausal women." (2002b) *Steroids*; **67**:979-983

Puissant C, Bayat-Sarmadi M, Devinoy E, Houdebine LM. "Variation of transferrin mRNA concentration in the rabbit mammary gland during the pregnancy–lactation–weaning cycle and in cultured mammary cells. A comparison with the other major milk protein mRNAs." (1994) *European Journal of Endocrinology*; **130**: 522–529.

Rabausch K, Bretschneider E, Sarbia M, Meyer-Kirchrath J, Censarek P, Pape R, Fischer JW, Schrör K, Weber AA. "Regulation of thrombomodulin expression in human vascular smooth muscle cells by COX-2-derived prostaglandins." (2005) *Circ Res;* **96**:e1–6.

Rabbani SA, Mazar AP, Bernier SM, Haq M, Bolivar I, Henkin J, and Goltzman D. "Structural requirements for the growth factor activity of the amino-terminal domain of urokinase." (1992) *J. Biol. Chem*: **267**,14151-14156.

Rang HP, Dale MM. "Pharmacology" 2003, Churchill Livingstone.

Ranger GS, Thomas V, Jewell A, Mokbel K. "Elevated cyclooxygenase-2 expression correlates with distant metastases in breast cancer." (2004) Anticancer Res ; **24** (4):2349-51.

Rao P & **Knaus** EE. "Evolution of Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs (NSAIDs): Cyclooxygenase (COX) Inhibition and Beyond" (2008) *J Pharm Pharm Sci*;**11**(2): 81s-110s.

Recchi MA, Hebbar M, Hornez L, Harduin-Lepers A, Peyrat JP, et al. "Multiplex reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction assessment of sialyltransferase expression in human breast cancer." (1998) *Cancer Res* ;**58**: 4066–4070.

Richards JA, Brueggemeier RW. "Prostaglandin E2 regulates aromatase activity and expres-sion in human adipose stromal cells via two distinct receptor subtypes." (2003) *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*; **88**:2010-2816

Richardson K, Jamieson JC. "Release of sialyltransferases from rat liver Golgi membranes by a cathepsin D-like proteinase: comparison of the release of Gal beta 1-

4GlcNAc alpha 2-6 sialyltransferase, Gal beta 1-3(4) GlcNAc alpha 2-3 sialyltransferase and lactosylceramide alpha 2-3 sialyltransferase (SAT-1)." (1995) *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol.*; 110(2):445–50.

Rillahan CD, Antonopoulos A, Lefort CT, Sonon R, Azadi P, Ley K, Dell A, Haslam SM, Paulson JC. "Global metabolic inhibitors of sialyl- and fucosyltransferases remodel the glycome." (2012) *Nat Chem Biol.*; **8**(7): 661-8.

Ristimaki A, Honkanen N, Jänkälä H, Sipponen P, Härkönen M. "Expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in human gastric carcinoma." (1997) *Cancer Res*; 57:1276-1280

Ristimaki A, Sivula A, Lundin J. "Prognostic significance of elevated cyclooxygenase-2 expression in breast cancer." (2002) *Cancer Res*; 62: 632-635.

Rosen SD. "Endothelial ligands for L-selectin: from lymphocyte recirculation to allograft rejection." (1999) *Am. J. Pathol.* ;155: 1013–1020.

Rous P, Kidd J. Conditional neoplasms and subthreshold neoplastic states: a study of the tar tumors of rabbits. (1941) *J Exp Med*;73:365–389.

Rughetti A, Pellicciotta I, Biffoni M, Bäckström M, Link T, Bennet EP, Clausen H, Noll T, Hansson GC, Burchell JM, Frati L, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Nuti M. "Recombinant tumor-associated MUC1 glycoprotein impairs the differentiation and function of dendritic cells." (2005) *J of immunology*, **174**, 7764-7772.

Sackstein R. "The bone marrow is akin to skin: HCELL and the biology of hematopoietic stem cell homing." (2004) *J Investig Dermatol Symp Proc;* 9:215–23.

Sakamoto KM, Frank DA "CREB in the pathophysiology of cancer: implications for targeting transcription factors for cancer therapy." (2009) *Clin. Cancer Res.*;15: 2583–2587.

Saito H, Nishikawa A, Gu J, Ihara Y, Soejima H, Wada Y, Sekiya C, Niikawa N, Taniguchi N."cDNA cloning and chromosomal mapping of human N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase V+." (1994) *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 198: 318-327.

Sasaki T, Yamada H, Matsumura K, Shimizu T, Kobata A, Endo T. "Detection of Omannosyl glycans in rabbit skeletal muscle alpha-dystroglycan." (1998) *Biochim Biophys Acta.* 1425:599–606

Satoh JI, Tai T, Kim SU. "Differential expression of gangliosides and galactolipids in fetal human oligodendrocytes and astrocytes in culture." (1996) *Dev. Brain Res*, 31, 172–181.

Saunders MA, Sansores-Garcia L, Gilroy DW, Wu KK. "Selective suppression of CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta binding and cyclooxygenase-2 promoter activity by sodium salicylate in quiescent human fibroblasts." (2001) *J Biol Chem*.;276: 18897–18904.

Schegg B, Hulsmeier AJ, Rutschmann C, Maag C, Hennet T. "Core glycosylation of collagen is initiated by two beta(1-O)galactosyltransferases." (2009) *Mol Cell Biol.*; 29:943–952.

Schmitz AA, Govek EE, Bottner B, Van Aelst L. "Rho GTPases: signaling, migration, and invasion." (2000) *Exp Cell Res*; 261: 1–12.

Schneider C, Boeglin WE, Prusakiewicz JJ, Rowlinson SW, Marnett LJ, Samel N, and Brash AR. "Control of prostaglandin stereochemistry at the 15-carbon by cyclooxygenase-1 and -2. A critical role for serine 530 and valine 349." (2002) *J Biol Chem*; 277: 478-485

Schneider F, Kemmner W, Haensch W, Franke G, Gretschel S, Karsten U, Schlag PM. "Overexpression of sialyltransferase CMP-sialic acid:Galbeta1,3GalNAc-R alpha6-Sialyltransferase is related to poor patient survival in human colorectal carcinomas." (2001) Cancer Res;61(11):4605-11.

Schreinemachers DM, **Everson** RB. "Aspirin use and lung, colon, and breast cancer incidence in a prospective study." (1994) *Epidemiology*; **5**:138-146.

Schrey MP and **Patel** KV. "Prostaglandin E2 production and metabolism in human breast cancer cells and breast fibroblasts. Regulation by inflammatory mediators." (1995) *Br J Cancer*, **72**(6): 1412–1419.

Schroer K, Zhu Y, Saunders MA, Deng WG, Xu XM, Meyer-Kirchrath J, Wu KK "Obligatory role of cyclic adenosine monophosphate response element in cyclooxygenase-2 promoter induction and feedback regulation by inflammatory mediators." (2002) *Circulation*; 105: 2760–2765.

Schwientek T, Yeh JC., Levery SB., Keck B., Merkx G., van Kessel AG., Fukuda M. & Clausen H. "Control of O-glycan branch formation. Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel thymus-associated core2beta1,6-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase." (2000) *J Biol Chem*; **275**, 11106-13.

Segatori VI, Vazquez AM, Gomez DE, Gabri MR, Alonso DF." Preclinical evaluation of racotumomab, an anti-idiotype monoclonal antibody to N-glycolyl-containing gangliosides, with or without chemotherapy in a mouse model of non-small cell lung cancer."(2012) *Front Oncol.;* **2**:160.

Seternes OM, Johansen B, Moens U. "A dominant role for the Raf-MEK pathway in forskolin,12-O-tetradecanoyl-phorbol acetate, and platelet-derived growth factor-induced CREB (cAMP-responsive element-binding protein) activation, uncoupled from serine 133 phosphorylation in NIH 3T3 cells." (1999)*Mol Endocrinol*;**13**(7):1071-83.

Sevigny MB, Li CF, Alas M, Hughes-Fulford M."Glycosylation regulates turnover of cyclo-oxygenase-2." (2006) *FEBS Lett.*; **580**(28-29):6533-6.

Sewell R, Bäckström M, Dalziel M, Gschmeissner S, Karlsson H, Noll T, Gätgens J, Clausen H, Hansson GC, Burchell J, Taylor-Papadimitriou J. "The ST6GalNAc-I sialyltransferase localizes throughout the Golgi and is responsible for the synthesis of the tumor-associated sialyl-Tn O-glycan in human breast cancer." (2006) *J Biol Chem*; **281**, 3586-3594.

Shafi R, Iyer SP, Ellies LG, O'Donnell N, Marek KW, Chui D, Hart GW, Marth JD. "The O-GlcNAc transferase gene resides on the X chromosome and is essential for embryonic stem cell viability and mouse ontogeny." (2000) *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*; 97: 5735-5739.

Shao L, Luo Y, Moloney DJ, Haltiwanger R. "O-glycosylation of EGF repeats: Identification and initial characterization of a UDP-glucose: Protein O-glucosyltransferase." (2002) *Glycobiology* 12:763–770.

Sharma CB, Babczinski P, Lehle L, and Tanner W. "The role of dolicholmonophosphate in glycoprotein biosynthesis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae."(1974) *Eur. J. Biochem.* **46**, 35-41.

Sharon N, **Lis** H. "History of lectins: from hemagglutinins to biological recognition molecules." (2004) *Glycobiology*;14 (11):53R-62R.

Sharpe CR, Collet JP, McNutt M, Belzile E, Boivin JF, Hanley JA. "Nested case-control study of the effects of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs on breast cancer risk and stage." (2000) *BJC*; **83:** 112–120.

Shirota K, Kato Y, Irimura T, Konda H & Sugiyama Y. "Anti-metastatic effect of the sialyl lewis-X analog GSC-150 on the human colon carcinoma derived cell line KM12-HX in the mouse." (2001) *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* **24:** 316–319.

Sibson NR et al. "MRI detection of early endothelial activation in brain inflammation." (2004) *Mag. Reson. Med.:* **51:** 248–252.

Simmons DL, Levy DB, Yannoni Y, et al. "Identification of a phorbol ester-repressible v-src-inducible gene." (1989) *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*;**86**:1178–82.

Simmons DL, Botting RM and Hla T. "Cyclooxygenase Isozymes: The Biology of Prostaglandin Synthesis and Inhibition" (2004) *Pharmacological Reviews*; **56**(3) 387-437.

Singh B, Berry JA, Shoher A, Ramakrishnan V, Lucci A. "COX-2 overexpression increases motility and invasion of breast cancer cells." (2005) *Int J of Oncology*, 26(5):1393–1399.

Singh B, Berry JA, Shoher A, Ayers GD, Wei C, Lucci A. "COX-2 involvement in breast cancer metastasis to bone." (2007) *Oncogene*, 26(26): 3789–3796.

Sirois J and Richards JS. "Transcriptional regulation of the rat prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase 2 gene in granulosa cells. Evidence for the role of a cisacting C/EBP beta promoter element." (1993) *J Biol Chem*; **268**: 21931-21938.

Soejima M, Koda Y. "Molecular mechanisms of Lewis antigen expression." (2005) *Leg. Med.* **7**, 266–269.

Son SW, Song KH, Kwon HY, Kim KS, Kim CH, Oh KB, Choo YK, Lee YC. "Transcriptional activation of pig Gal β 1,3GalNAc α 2,3-sialyltransferase (pST3Gal I) gene by TGF- β 1 in porcine kidney PK-15 cells." (2011) *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*; **414**(1):159-64.

Sorlie T, Perou CM et al. "Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications." (2001) *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA;* **98**(19): 10869-10874.

Sorlie T, Tibshirani R, Parker J, Hastie T, Marron JS, Nobel A, Deng S, Johnsen H, Pesich R, Geisler S, Demeter J, Perou CM, Lønning PE, Brown PO, Børresen-Dale AL,

Botstein D. "Repeated observation of breast tumor subtypes in independent gene expression data sets." (2003) *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*;**100**(14):8418-23.

Sozzani P, Arisio R, Porpiglia M, Benedetto C. "Is Sialyl Lewis x antigen expression a prognostic factor in patients with breast cancer?" (2008) Int J Surg Pathol; **16**:365–74.

Spanakis E. "Problems related to the interpretation of autoradiographic data on gene expression using common constitutive transcripts as controls." (1993) *Nucleic Acids Research*; **21**:3809–3819.

Spinella F, Rosanò L, Di Castro V, Natali P and Bagnato A. "Endothelin-1-induced Prostaglandin E2-EP2, EP4 Signaling Regulates Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Production and Ovarian Carcinoma Cell Invasion." (2004) *J of Biol Chem*; **279**: 46700-46705

Stanley P. "Regulation of Notch Signaling by Glycosylation." (2007) *Curr Opin Struct Biol.* **17**(5): 530–535.

Stasinopoulos I, O'Brien DR, Wildes F, Glunde K, Bhujwalla ZM. "Silencing of cyclooxygenase-2 inhibits metastasis and delays tumor onset of poorly differentiated metastatic breast cancer cells." (2007) *Molecular Cancer Research*, 5 (5): 435–442.

Starr TK, Jameson SC, Hogquist KA. "Positive and negative selection of T cells." (2003) *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 21:139-176.

Steenackers A, Vanbeselaere J, Cazet A, Bobowski M, Rombouts Y, Colomb F, Le Bourhis X, Guérardel Y, Delannoy P. "Accumulation of unusual gangliosides G(Q3) and G(P3) in breast cancer cells expressing the G(D3) synthase." (2012)Molecules.;**17**(8):9559-72.

Steinbach G, Lynch PM, Phillips RK, Wallace MH, Hawk E, Gordon GB, et al. "The effect of celecoxib, a cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, in familial adenomatous polyposis." (2000) *N Engl J Med*;342:1946–52.

Stone EL, Ismail MN, Lee SH, Luu Y, Ramirez K, Haslam SM, Ho SB, Dell A, Fukuda M, Marth JD. "Glycosyltransferase function in core 2-type protein O glycosylation." (2009) *Mol Cell Biol*; **29**(13):3770-82.

Strahl-Bolsinger S, Gentzsch M, Tanner W. "Protein O-mannosylation." (1999) *Biochim Biophys Acta*; 1426(2):297-307.

Sturgill ER, Aoki K, Lopez PH, Colacurcio D, Vajn K, Lorenzini I, Majić S, Yang WH, Heffer M, Tiemeyer M, Marth JD, Schnaar RL. "Biosynthesis of the major brain gangliosides GD1a and GT1b." (2012) *Glycobiology*; **22**(10):1289-301.

Su JL, Shih JY, Yen ML, Jeng YM, Chang CC, Hsieh CY, Wei LH, Yang PC, Kuo ML. "Cyclooxygenase-2 induces EP1- and HER-2/Neu-dependent vascular endothelial growth factor-C up-regulation: a novel mechanism of lymphangiogenesis in lung adenocarcinoma." (2004) *Cancer Res*; 64(2):554-64.

Subbaramaiah K, Norton L, Gerald W, Dannenberg AJ. "Cyclooxygenase-2 is Overexpressed in HER-2/neu-positive breast cancer. Evidence for involvement of AP-1 and PEA3." (2002) *J Biol Chem* ;**277**:18649-18657.

Subbaramaiah K, Hudis C, Chang SH, Hla T, Dannenberg AJ. "EP2 and EP4 receptors regulate aromatase expression in human adipocytes and breast cancer cells. Evidence of a BRCA1 and p300 exchange."(2008) *J Biol Chem*.;**283**(6):3433-44.

Taniguchi A, Yoshikawa I, Matsumoto K. "Genomic structure and transcriptional regulation of human Gal β 1, 3GalNAc α 2,3-sialyltransferase (hST3Gal I) gene." (2001) *Glycobiology*; **11**(3): 241-247.

Takashima S, Tachida Y, Nakagawa T, Hamamoto T, Tsuji S. "Quantitative analysis of expression of mouse sialyltransferase gene by competitive PCR." (1999) *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*; 260: 23-27.

Takkouche B, Regueira-Méndez C, Etminan M. "Breast Cancer and Use of Nonsteroidal Anti- inflammatory Drugs: A Meta-analysis." (2008) *J Natl Cancer Inst* ;**100**: 1439–1447.

Tarp MA , Clausen H. "Mucin-type O-glycosylation and its potential use in drug and vaccine development." (2008) *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*;**1780**(3):546-63

Taylor G. "Sialidases: structures, biological significance and therapeutic potential." (1996) *Curr Opin Struct Biol*; **6** (6):830-7.

Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Burchell J, Miles DW. and Dalziel M. "MUC1 and cancer." (1999) *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Basis of Disease* ;**1455**, (2-3), 301-313

Ten Hagen KG, Fritz TA and Tabak LA. "All in the family: the UDP-GalNAc:polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferases." (2003) *Glycobiology*;**13**, 1 1R-16R.

Timoshenko AV, Xu G, Chakrabarti S, Lala PK, Chakraborty C. "Role of prostaglandin E₂ receptors in migration of murine and human breast cancer cells." (2003) *Experimental Cell Res.*, **289**: 265-274.

Tran DT, Lim JM, Liu M, Stalnaker SH, Wells L, Ten Hagen KG, Live D. "Glycosylation of α -dystroglycan: O-mannosylation influences the subsequent addition of GalNAc by UDP-GalNAc polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferases." (2012) *J Biol Chem.*; **287**(25):20967-74.

Tsuchiya N, Endo T, Matsuta K, Yoshinoya S, Aikawa T, Kosuge E, Takeuchi F, Miyamoto T, Kobata A. "Effects of galactose depletion from oligosaccharide chains on immunological activities of human IgG." (1989) *J Rheumatol.*;**16**(3):285-90.

Tucker ON, Dannenberg AJ, Yang EK, Zhang F, Teng L, Daly JM, Soslow RA, Masferrer JL, Woerner BM, Koki AT, Fahey TJ. "Cyclooxygenase-2 expression is upregulated in human pancreatic cancer." (1999) *Cancer Res.*;**59**(5):987-90.

Ujita M, McAuliffe J, Schwientek T, Almeida R, Hindsgaul O, Clausen H, and Minoru F. "Synthesis of Poly-N-acetyllactosamine in Core 2 Branched O-Glycans: The requirement of novel-1,4-Galactosyltransferase IV and -1,3-Nacetylglucosaminyltransferase." (1998) J Biol Chem, **273**, 52, 34843-34849.

Ujita M, McAuliffe J, Suzuki M, Hindsgaul O, Clausen H, Fukuda M N, and Fukuda M. "Regulation of I-Branched Poly-N-Acetyllactosamine Synthesis concerted actions by iextension enzyme, i-branching enzyme, and 1,4-galactosyltransferase I." (1999) *J Biol Chem*, **274**, 14, 9296-9304.

Vane JR. "Inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis as a mechanism of action for aspirin-like drugs." (1971) *Nat. New Biol*; **231**:232–235.

Vane J. "Towards a better aspirin." (1994) *Nature* ;**367**, 215 – 216. Vane JR, Bakhle YS, Botting RM. "Cyclooxygenase 1 and 2"(1998) Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol; 38: 97-120.

Varki A. "Sialic acids as ligands in recognition phenomena." (1997) *The FASEB Journal*; **11**:248-255.

Varki A, Cummings RD, Esko JD, Freeze HH, Stanley P, Bertozzi CR, Hart GW, Etzler ME. *"Essentials of Glycobiology."* (2009) second ed. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, New York.

Varki A, Cummings RD, Esko JD, Freeze HH, Stanley P, Marth JD, Bertozzi CR, Hart GW and Etzler ME." Symbol nomenclature for glycan representation" Proteomics 2009, 9, 5398–5399

Venter JC, Adams MD, Myers EW, Li PW, Mural RJ, Sutton GG, Smith HO, Yandell M, Evans CA, Holt RA, et al. "The sequence of the human genome." (2001) Science 291:1304-1351.

Videira PA, Correia M, Malagolini N, Crespo HJ, Ligeiro D, Calais FM, Trindade H, Dall'Olio F. "ST3Gal.I sialyltransferase relevance in bladder cancer tissues and cell lines." (2009) *BMC Cancer*; 9:357.

Von Itzstein M, Wu WY, Kok GB, Pegg MS, Dyason JC, Jin B, Van Phan T, Smythe ML, White HF, Oliver SW, Colman PM, Varghese JN, Ryan DM, Woods JM, Bethell RC, Hotham VJ, Cameron JM, Penn CR. "Rational design of potent sialidase-based inhibitors of influenza virus replication." (1993) *Nature*; **363**:418–423.

Wallace JL. "Prostaglandins, NSAIDs, and gastric mucosal protection: why doesn't the stomach digest itself?" (2008) *Physiol Rev* ;88(4):1547-65.

Wandall HH, Hassan H, Mirgorodskaya E, Kristensen AK, Roepstorff P, Bennett EP, Nielsen PA, Hollingsworth MA, Burchell J, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Clausen H. "Substrate specificities of three members of the human UDP-N-acetyl-alpha-D-galactosamine:Polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase family, GalNAc-T1, -T2, and -T3."(1997) *J Biol Chem*; **272**(38):23503-14.

Wang D, Dubois RN. "Prostaglandins and cancer." (2006) Gut.; 55(1):115.

Wang J. "Altered Glycosylation in Cancer: Sialic Acids and Sialyltransferases." (2005) *Cancer Mol.* **1**(2): 73-81.

Wang Y, Ju T, Ding X, Xia B, Wang W, Xia L, He M, Cummings RD. "Cosmc is an essential chaperone for correct protein O-glycosylation." (2010) *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*;**107**(20):9228-33.

Wang Y, Lee GF, Kelley RF and Spellman MW. "Identification of a GDP-L-fucose:polypeptide fucosyltransferase and enzymatic addition of O-linked fucose to EGF domains." (1996) *Glycobiology;* **6** (8): 837-842.

Wang PH, Lee WL, Juang CM, Yang YH, Lo WH, Lai CR, Hsieh SL, Yuan CC: "Altered mRNA expressions of sialyltransferases in ovarian cancers." (2005) *Gynecol Oncol*; **99**:631-639.

Wang HQ, Smart RC. "Overexpression of protein kinase C-alpha in the epidermis of transgenic mice results in striking alterations in phorbol ester-induced inflammation and COX-2, MIP-2 and TNF-alpha expression but not tumor promotion." (1999) *J Cell Sci.*;**112**:3497-506.

Weis WI, Taylor ME & Drickamer K. "The C-type lectin superfamily in the immune system." (1998) *Immunol. Rev.*; **163**: 19–34.

Wells L, Vosseller K, Hart GW. "Glycosylation of nucleocytoplasmic proteins: signal transduction and O-GlcNAc." (2001) *Science*; **291**: 2376 –2378.

Wen-Sheng W, Jun-Ming H. "Activation of protein kinase C alpha is required for TPAtriggered ERK (MAPK) signaling and growth inhibition of human hepatoma cell HepG2." (2005) *J Biomed Sci.*; **12**(2):289-96.

White WB, West CR, Borer JS, Gorelick PB, Lavange L, Pan SX, Weiner E, Verburg KM. "Risk of Cardiovascular. Events in Patients Receiving Celecoxib: A Meta-analysis of Randomised Clinical Trials." (2007) *American Journal of Cancer*, **99**(1):91-8.

Whitehouse C, Burchell J, Gschmeissner S, Brockhausen I, Lloyd KO, Taylor-Papadimitriou J. "A transfected sialyltransferase that is elevated in breast cancer and localizes to the medial/trans-Golgi apparatus inhibits the development of core-2-based O-glycans." (1997) *J Cell Biol*:**137**(6):1229-41.

Wolf I, O'Kelly J, Rubinek T, Tong M, Nguyen A, Lin B T, Tai HH, Karlan BY and Koeffler PM. "15-Hydroxyprostaglandin Dehydrogenase is a Tumor Suppressor of Human Breast Cancer." (2006) *Cancer Res.*; **66**: 7818-7823.

Wong ML, Medrano JF. "Real-time PCR for mRNA quantitation." (2005) *Biotechniques*; **39**(1): 75-85.

Xie W, Chipman JG, Robertson DL, Erikson RL, and Simmons DL. "Expression of a mitogen-responsive gene encoding prostaglandin synthase is regulated by mRNA splicing." (1991) *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*; **88**: 2692-2696.

Xie W and Herscheman HR. "v-src induce prostaglandin synthase 2 gene expression by activation of the c-Jun N-terminal kinase and the c-Jun transcription factor." (1995) *J Biol.Chem*; **270**, 27622-27628.

Xin X, Majumder M, Girish GV, Mohindra V, Maruyama T, Lala PK. "Targeting COX-2 and EP4 to control tumor growth, angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis and metastasis to the lungs and lymph nodes in a breast cancer model." (2012) *Lab Invest.*; **92**(8):1115-28.

Yamakawa TA. "Reflection on the early history of glycosphingolipids."(1996) *Glycoconjugates journal.* **13** (2):123-126.

Yang RY, Rabinovich GA and Liu FT. "Galectins: structure, function and therapeutic potential." (2008) *Expert Rev. Mol. Med.* **10**, e17.
Yang WH, Kim JE, Nam HW, et al. "Modification of p53 with O-linked N-acetylglucosamine regulates p53 activity and stability." (2006) *Nature Cell Biol*; 8:1074–83.

Yao D, Huang Y, Huang X, Wang W, Yan Q, Wei L, Xin W, Gerson S, Stanley P, Lowe JB, Zhou L. "Protein O-fucosyltransferase 1 (Pofut1) regulates lymphoid and myeloid homeostasis through modulation of Notch receptor ligand interactions." (2011) Blood;**117**(21):5652-62.

Yasmeen D, Ellerson JR, Dorrington KJ, Painter RH. "The structure and function of immunoglobulin domains. IV. The distribution of some effector functions among the Cgamma2 and Cgamma3 homology regions of human immunoglobulin G1." (1976) *J Immunol.;* **116**(2):518-26.

Yoshida A, Kobayashi K, Manya H, Taniguchi K, Kano H, Mizuno M, Inazu T, Mitsuhashi H, Takahashi S, Takeuchi. "Muscular dystrophy and neuronal migration disorder caused by mutations in a glycosyltransferase, POMGnT1." (2001) *Dev. Cell* **1**: 717–724.

Yoshimura M, Nishikawa A, Ihara Y, et al. "High expression of UDP-N-acetylglucosamine: beta-D mannoside beta-1,4-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase III (GnT-III) in chronic myelogenous leukemia in blast crisis." (1995) *Int. J. Cancer;* 60:443.

Yu RK, Tsai YT, Ariga T, Yanagisawa M. "Structures, biosynthesis, and functions of gangliosides--an overview." (2011) *J Oleo Sci.*; **60**(10):537-44.

Zandi PP, Zöllner S, Avramopoulos D, Willour VL, Chen Y, Qin ZS, Burmeister M, Miao K, Gopalakrishnan S, McEachin R, Potash JB, Depaulo JR Jr, McInnis MG. "Family-based SNP association study on 8q24 in bipolar disorder." *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet*.(2008);147B(5):612-8.

Zelensky AN & Gready JE. "The C-type lectin-like domain superfamily." (2005) *FEBS J*.; 272: 6179–6217.

Zeng FV, Gabius HJ. "Sialic acid-binding proteins: characterization, biological function and application." (1992) *Z. Naturforsch*; **47**, 641-653.

Zerkowski MP, Camp RL, Burtness BA, Rimm DL, Chung GG. "Quantitative analysis of breast cancer tissue microarrays shows high COX-2 expression is associated with poor outcome." (2007) *Cancer Invest*; **25**:19-26.

Zimmermann KC, Sarbia M, Weber AA, Borchard F, Gabbert HE, Schrör K. "Cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human esophageal carcinoma." (1999) *Cancer Res*; **59**:198-204

List of publications

Beatson R, **Sproviero D**, Maher J, Wilkie S, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Burchell JM. **"Transforming growth factor-\beta1 is constitutively secreted by Chinese hamster ovary cells and is functional in human cells."**(2011) Biotechnol Bioeng.;**108**(11):2759-64. b)Julien S, Ivetic A, Grigoriadis A, Qize D, **Sproviero D**, Picco G, Gillett C, Tutt A, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Pinder S and Burchell J.M. "**Sialyl-Lewis x antigen expression is associated with poor prognosis and bone metastasis in patients with hormone-dependent breast cancer, while other selectin ligands may be involved in metastasis of hormone-independent breast cancer." (2011)Cancer Res.;71(24):7683-93.**

c) **Sproviero D.**, Julien S., Burford B., Taylor-Papadimitirou J and Burchell J. Cyclooxygenase-2 induces the expression of the alpha 2,3 sialyltransferase-3 (ST3Gal-I) in breast cancer (in press- JBC).